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Performance
Report

Health Secretary Jeremy Hunt (centre right) visits our CAMHS Service in
Guildford to learn about our new service model supporting young
people earlier in their illness
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Foreword from the Chairman and
Chief Executive
The past year has been one of continued significant progress with the delivery of our
clinical strategy. We were delighted to be awarded the contract to provide children and
families community health care services across Surrey with our partners Central Surrey
Health and First Community Health and Care. This will be a sea-change in the provision of
services for children, young people and families by bringing together physical and mental
health care for the first time in Surrey.
Our partnership working through our Mindsight Surrey CAMHS Service for children and
young people has developed into a strong, well respected service for young people, who
are now able to get help and support through earlier interventions and wellbeing services.
We have also been working closely with our colleagues across the three Sustainability and
Transformation Partnerships, which cover the areas we serve, to make mental health an
integral part of service delivery for the future.
During the year, our learning disabilities services have strengthened and grown with the
launch of our Hampshire-wide Autism and ADHD service and a new Intensive Support
service to support people with a learning disability in Surrey in their own homes, reducing
hospital admissions. Our residential care homes have improved the quality of their
services. This improvement has resulted in ‘Good’ ratings from the Care Quality
Commission for those four homes inspected in the year, improving from their previous
ratings of ‘Requires Improvement’.
We received the final report from our February 2016 Trust-wide health care inspection
with over 82% of our health services receiving ‘Good’ ratings across all domains and all
services receiving a ‘Good’ rating for the caring domain. Our staff engagement has
continued to strengthen in the year with 65% of staff responding to the NHS staff survey
and more staff than average reporting that they feel motivated and able to contribute
towards improvements at work.
Significant work has been undertaken with our partners in Surrey Police this year to reduce
the number of people being held in custody when they become mentally unwell and to
help emergency services support people appropriately. This work is integral to our new
single point of access service for people in mental health crisis, which is currently being
field-tested in Elmbridge and is set to be rolled out Trust-wide in February 2018, to provide
more comprehensive and responsive support to people when they need it most.
We are very proud that all our partnerships have made such a significant contribution to
transforming services and managing the system well. Our partnerships drive the delivery
of our strategy and have a commissioned value of c£200m.
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Continued investment in our built environment has led us to open new hubs for our
community-based services this year in Redhill and Frimley. Modern and high quality
consulting rooms, reception areas and staff offices have created positive surroundings for
people using our services, their families and our staff. Our programme continues with new
premises for Runnymede and Spelthorne planned for the year ahead. We have relocated
our assessment and treatment service for people with a learning disability to refurbished
premises in Epsom and continue to develop our plans for our second mental health
hospital for people in north west, mid and east Surrey.
This year has also seen a number of changes in our senior leadership team with Richard
Greenhalgh, our chairman for six years, coming to the end of his term and the
appointment of our new chairman, Ian McPherson. We have restructured our director
portfolio and created a new role of Chief Operating Officer and have also said farewell to
four of our Governors who have been with us for nine years, since we became a
Foundation Trust. We would like to extend our sincere thanks to Richard and our
Governors for their significant contributions to our development during the time they have
spent with us. Looking ahead, we will be welcoming our new Council of Governors on 1
May 2017 following elections to 22 of our 25 public and staff Governor seats during the
spring.
Thank you to our many partners and all our staff, volunteers, people who use services and
carers for your major contribution to our achievements throughout this year. It is your
dedication and commitment that enables us to connect well with people and their
communities and we look forward to continuing our work together.

Ian McPherson
Chairman

Fiona Edwards
Chief Executive

Ian and Fiona with Raja Mukherjee (centre), Employee of the Year,
at our CARE Awards 2016
8

Introducing Surrey and Borders
This section gives an overview of Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, its
purpose, the key risks to the achievement of its objectives and how it has performed during
the year.
We are ambitious providers of mental health, drug and alcohol and learning disability
services for people of all ages.
We provide a broad range of community services, integrated health and social care, early
intervention and detection programmes, as well as highly specialised therapy and
treatment. Our high quality care focuses on enabling people to live well with their
conditions and to work towards recovery.
We have 2,404 people working with us, which equates to 2,173 whole time equivalent
staff, plus 177 social care staff who work within our integrated teams. Many of these are
highly-skilled professionals who work with a variety of partners in the private, public and
voluntary sectors to ensure we deliver high quality care to our local population of 1.3
million. We seek to involve and engage people who use our services and their families in
our community and we have around 6,500 public members of our Foundation Trust.
In April 2005 we were established as a health and social care partnership trust and, in May
2008, we became an NHS Foundation Trust; the first mental health and learning disability
trust in the South East Coast NHS region to gain this status.
Our overall income for the 2016/17 financial year was £164 million.

Our Strategy
Our core purpose is: “To
work with people and lead
communities in improving
their mental and physical
health and wellbeing for a
better life; through
delivering excellent and
responsive prevention,
diagnosis, early
intervention, treatment
and care.”
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The ultimate benefit we aim to deliver is to improve the health and well-being of people
who use our services and carers to help them achieve a better life. Our approach is to
develop a plan for each person using our services that connects mind and body, family and
friends, community and the environment.
Our services will offer:
 Earlier intervention and prevention and health promotion
 Mind and body approach
 Targeted expertise
 Training and equipping others
 Consultancy and advice, as well as treatment
 Ready access to experts when needed

Our Services in Detail
We provide a wide range of health and social care, and treatment, through our
community, hospital, rehabilitation and residential services offering:
 Early detection, assessment and diagnostic services
 Urgent and unplanned hospital and home treatment services
 Personal support and treatment programmes for health and social care
 Specialist advice and liaison services
 Integrated care pathway and system support
 Registered residential care homes
These are provided to the following communities:
Services

Surrey

Hampshire

Children and young
people’s learning
disabilities



Adult learning disabilities

Croydon

Barnet

Brighton &
Hove













*















Children and young
people’s mental health



*^







Working age adult mental
health



*









Older people’s mental
health



*









Forensic mental health





*













Adult autism and ADHD
Improving access to
psychological therapies

Eating disorders
Drug and alcohol

* North East Hampshire only
^ Early Intervention in Psychosis Service only
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Hounslow

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The Board carefully monitors our activities and ensures the following risks are mitigated to
successfully deliver our plans - failure to:
 Achieve our focus on quality, risk and safety during scale of change
 Work in partnership with health and social care partners, including commissioners,
to integrate to make the best use of collective resources available to us
 Engage stakeholders and our staff in our transformational change programme and
to secure continued improvement in staff management and experience
 Engage our communities and harness their energies to help achieve our overall
purpose
 Achieve and evidence ongoing compliance with registration and licence
requirements
 Manage our finances effectively in the economic climate and failure to deliver
increases in productivity and efficiency
 Develop new markets for existing and new products

Summary of Performance
This has been a year of strong performance for our organisation with improvements in the
quality of our services and our environments, as well as a strong financial performance.
Operationally we have improved our performance against our key performance indicators
compared with 2015/16, achieving 11 ‘Good’ and 3 ‘Outstanding’ results. We continue to
focus on the areas that require more work, including helping people to feel completely
involved in their care planning. Sadly, we have seen an increase in unexpected deaths
during the year, which is in line with national trends. We are working closely with partners,
to consider how we can try to reduce the number of people taking their own lives, and
investigating our care and treatment of those individuals, to see where lessons can be
learnt and shared.
We celebrated the first four of our services to achieve ‘Accredited’ status for our CARE
Excellence Accreditation programme, which is our new quality assurance process that
assures us of the ongoing quality of each service.
Our positive progress has continued with our Care Quality Commission ratings for
residential care homes and, although we were disappointed with our Trust-wide rating of
‘Requires Improvement’ following our February 2016 inspection, we are pleased that over
82% of our ratings across all domains were rated as ‘Good’. Inspectors concluded that all of
the compliance actions from our pilot inspection in 2014 had been fully completed, which
demonstrates significant achievements for each of our teams and the whole organisation.
We ended the year with a surplus of £15.614m, which is £11.913m better than our plan.
This is largely due to Sustainability and Transformation Funding of £5.217m, the disposal of
surplus assets and the revaluation of our property portfolio.
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Going Concern Basis
After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the NHS
Foundation Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the accounts. Analysis of our financial performance can be found on page 13 and
the full accounts on page 146.

Analysis of our Performance
Performance Review
At Surrey and Borders we measure our
performance through our key performance
indicators and quality standards, which are
set by the Trust Board annually. These
include our clinical priorities for improving
services and focus on those areas of
performance where we know we must
succeed to deliver our strategy and realise
our potential for the people we serve. We
monitor progress against each of our key
performance indicators and quality
standards at our Council of Governors,
Executive Board and Trust Board meetings.
Additionally, each of our four operational divisions report to our Executive Board monthly
on their progress against each element of our quality house. This activity is underpinned by
our Quality Improvement Plan that describes our focus and direction of travel for the next
three years.
Key Performance Indicators
We set 23 key performance indicators for 2016/17 and each indicator has targets set
ranking across outcomes of outstanding, good, requires improvement and inadequate. Our
performance has improved from last year with 11 indicators attaining a rating of ‘Good’
and three ‘Outstanding’.
Highlights of our performance include:
 87% of family carers reported they were satisfied with the services they received
when asked as part of our Your Views Matter survey Rating: outstanding
 99% of people using our Mind Matters, talking therapies services, started treatment
with us within six weeks of their referral Rating: outstanding
 80% of people in the final quarter of the year were satisfied with the services they
received when asked as part of our Your Views Matter survey Rating: good
 94% of staff are up to date with their statutory training and 91% with their
mandatory training Rating: good
12

 65% of our staff completed the NHS staff survey, which was below our aspiration
level but was the highest response rate for mental health trusts Rating: good
Care Quality Commission Inspections
The Care Quality Commission has continued to re-inspect our social care residential homes
and at the end of March 2017, 73% of our residential care homes were rated as ‘Good’
overall. This is a positive achievement by our staff teams, improving the experiences for
people who live in our homes and their families.
In November 2016 the Care Quality Commission undertook an unannounced inspection of
our inpatient services for adults at our new Farnham Road Hospital. They returned in
February 2017 and confirmed that the improvements they wanted to see were evident and
no ‘Requires Improvement’ notices were issued in their report.
A planned core inspection of our community and inpatient drug and alcohol services was
undertaken in February 2017. A number of issues were raised by the inspection team
during the week that were addressed during the inspection period. These included a
review of our individuals’ care plans (to ensure they were nursing focused and linked to
risk assessments) and protecting people's privacy and dignity with regard to mixed sex
accommodation in our inpatient service; ensuring equipment is PAT tested in the
community; and reviewing the inpatient service’s detoxification policy, to replicate the
high standard found in the community detoxification policy. We await their report.
Full details of our performance during the reporting year can be found in the Quality
Report on page 79.

Financial Review
The Trust met its £3.701m planned comprehensive surplus, including a target £0.100m
operational surplus, with a reported a surplus of £15.614m at the end of the financial year,
£11.913m better than plan. This meant achievement of our £1.060m control total,
including eligibility for £0.960m of Sustainability and Transformation Funding (STF). In
exceeding our control total, we have also been made eligible for an additional £3.507m
incentive STF and £0.750m bonus STF from the Department of Health. Hence, our
reported surplus exceeded plan as a result of:
 Sustainability and Transformation Funding awarded of £5.217m, of which £4.257m
was in addition to the planned £0.960m
 Disposal of surplus assets, which produced £0.682m greater net profit than planned
 Upward revaluation of our property portfolio that resulted in a reversal of
impairments suffered the previous year
When these exceptional items are excluded from the operating position, in line with NHS
accounting practice, we achieved a surplus of £0.186m, compared to the planned £0.100m
surplus. In order to deliver this surplus, we successfully implemented cost improvement
savings totalling £3.367m during the year.
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We completed the year with a £13.056m cash (or cash equivalent) balance, better than
plan and on a par with the £13.194m cash balance at end 2015/16. Our total assets
employed increased by £31.060m to £128.073m, as a result of our reported surplus and
upward revaluation of our assets, due to market conditions.
The Surrey and Borders Partnership strategy is to participate in partnerships wherever
possible. This means that the role of the Trust is wider than can be recognised in the
annual financial statements. In 2016/17 Surrey and Borders Partnership Foundation Trust
participated in a number of partnership arrangements where the total value of the
partnerships was over £59m. Though, because we only recognise income directly related
to our service provision, this is recognised in our accounts as £24m.
One example of this is drug and alcohol services where, with our voluntary sector partner
Cranstoun, we operate contracts in Brighton and Hounslow with a total value of over £8m.
Another example is our safe haven services, which we also run in partnership with the
voluntary sector, with a total contract value of £1m.
In addition, we are running the Technology Integrated Health Management (TIHM) for
Dementia Internet of Things (IoT) NHS Testbed - a project that will see £5.2m spent over
the next two years between the Trust and a number of other academic and private sector
providers.
We expect this to continue over the coming years and, on 1 April 2017, we launched, in
partnership with Central Surrey Health and First Community Health and Care, a new
service for children, young people and families in Surrey. This partnership will provide
services valued at £84m per annum over the next three years.
NHS Improvement, the independent regulator, now assesses the ongoing financial viability
of Trusts and Foundation Trusts within a new Single Oversight Framework that came into
force on 1 October 2016. We have been placed in segment 2, where segment 1 indicates
maximum autonomy and segment 4 reflects providers that need the most support. Under
this framework we ended the year indicatively with the highest possible ‘Use of Resources’
rating of 1. Further details are provided on our performance against the Single Oversight
Framework on page 61.

Future Financial Plans
Our financial focus must be on long term financial sustainability rather than simply the
delivery of short term targets, giving the key priorities as:
 Generating sufficient income and expenditure and cash surpluses to support
ongoing operations, fund planned capital investment requirements and business
development opportunities and to ensure we maintain liquidity
 Generating a £0.1m target operating surplus in each of 2017/18 and 2018/19
 Achieving our agreed Control Totals of £2.521m for 2017/18 and £5.899m for
2018/19
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 Delivering Cost Improvement Programmes over the next one to five years that
support implementation of our strategy to move to earlier intervention in
partnership
 Delivering a long-term finance and use of resources rating of no less than 2 and
maintaining our performance in at least segment 2 under the new Single Oversight
Framework
 Capital planning over the next one to five years of £33m to invest in our key
priorities of progressing our community hubs, improving our existing inpatient
environments and further investment in technology. The strategic outline case is
being developed for additional capital expenditure required to deliver futureproofed inpatient facilities, following on from our successful new Farnham Road
Hospital development
 Improving our costing capability and our understanding of activity and staffing, to
support moving towards a shadow funding system based on activity versus
remaining with our current block contract
The key issues shaping our financial plan that we must manage carefully in 2017/18 and for
the next four years include:
 Decommissioning of our Crisis House beds to support recurrent funding of Safe
Havens
 Managing increased demand in line with increased referrals in Children and Young
People’s , Older People’s and in Working Age Adults services
 Developing our plans for investment as part of our 24/7 Assessment and Treatment
Review programme and in current facilities to improve quality, pending this
development
 Taking a full and active role in the developing Sustainability and Transformation
Plans for the three areas we cover: Surrey Heartlands, Frimley, and Sussex and East
Surrey. These will become the sole vehicle to access transformation funding going
forward
 Building on new ways of working implemented in 2016/17 to reduce demand for
our beds and on other parts of the system, eg in A&E - as part of our Crisis
Concordat, Transforming Care and Vanguard work, including our continued work
through the Crisis Concordat to introduce a new Single Point of Access and build on
our existing Psychiatric Liaison services, to achieve CORE24 standards
 Continued consolidation and quality improvement through our community hubs
 Further investment in technology to support mobile working, digital dictation, the
local digital roadmap (eg eDischarge, eReferral and ePrescription) and updating our
ICT infrastructure
 Embedding the new children’s services won as part of the partnership bid for the
Children and Family Health Surrey contract alongside our successfully running
CAMHS service
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 Achievement of national mental health targets to extend Early Intervention in
Psychosis services, IAPT services for psychological therapies and Early Onset
Dementia services
 A Trust-wide focus on workforce redesign and reward to deliver new ways of
working and reduce expenditure on temporary staffing

Trust Buildings and Environmental Matters
Our vision and values confirm the importance of high quality care environments for the
wellbeing of people who use services, carers and families, visitors and staff and this is
reflected in our property strategy. The delivery of our property strategy focuses on three
main areas:
 The provision of new community hubs
 Upgrading our inpatient facilities
 A programme of upgrades to environments across the estate
This year we have opened two new community hub buildings serving the districts of
Reigate & Banstead and Surrey Heath. Community teams have been relocated from older
buildings into the new buildings in Redhill and Frimley, enabling closer working
relationships to develop between teams, leading to ideas sharing and support. More hubs
are planned and we are currently considering options for the delivery of community
services from new premises in Runnymede and Spelthorne.
The community hubs programme has enabled us to vacate four buildings since April 2016
and the two new hubs will enable a further eight to be vacated, including a number of
buildings on the St Peter’s Hospital site in Chertsey. These moves will facilitate a major
land disposal, which will release capital for investment in our inpatient facilities, as well as
providing much needed housing land.

Consulting room and treatment room at Gatton Place in Redhill
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The table below shows the reduction expected in the overall number of buildings in the
next four years.
Year
March 2017

Number of buildings
in the portfolio
99

March 2018

94

March 2019

67

March 2020

53

This year we will continue to develop our business case for the re-provision of our mental
health inpatient beds. We are working closely with commissioners and NHS Improvement
to prepare our proposals to go to public consultation.
Recent environmental improvements included the refurbishment of two wards at the
Abraham Cowley Unit in Chertsey for our adult mental health inpatient services that
relocated from Epsom General Hospital in February 2017. The move has supported safety
improvements and enabled several operational advantages to be achieved from colocation.

Sustainability Report
We recognise the importance of managing the environmental impact of our operations
and we remain committed to:
 Further reducing our demand for energy and material resources and extracting
greater benefit from those resources
 Reducing the amount of work-related transport through the use of telephone and
video conferencing and replacing the staff company car scheme with a salary
sacrifice based scheme
 Sourcing our resources cleanly, renewably and sustainably
 Embedding sustainability within our business through our processes and procedures
for travel, procurement and our suppliers’ impact
Our Sustainable Development Management Plan outlines a number of sustainability
projects to help meet these aims over the period 2014 to 2019. Those projects that have
been the focus to date include:
 Extending our use of LED lighting to more premises
 Adjusting or updating our building energy (heating) management controls, replacing
old boilers with energy efficient replacements
 Conserving energy through the replacement of water tanks with plate heat
exchangers and point of use water heaters
 Reducing our older estate footprint and replacing this with new developments and
more efficient leased properties
 Reviewing our waste procurement to maximise recycling
17

 Introducing electric car charging points to our sites at Farnham Road Hospital and
Gatton Place
Actions against our Travel Strategy, developed in 2013/14, continue to progress with
investment in pay-as-you-go car schemes at Trust Headquarters and Farnham Road
Hospital for staff to use eco-friendly car travel for meetings during their working day,
without having to drive to work themselves. We are looking to extend these schemes to
our sites in Chertsey, Epsom and Redhill.
Summary of Performance
Waste Breakdown

Carbon Emissions - Energy use
from buildings

250

8000

200

6000

Landfill

4000

Weight (tonnes)

Carbon (tC02e)

10000

2000
0

Non burn disposal

150

High temp disposal
High temp recovery

100

WEEE
Compost

Gas

Oil

Coal

Electricity

50

Re-use
Recycling

0

Energy Usage from Buildings
We have spent a total of £1.3m on energy in 2016/17, which is a small increase in energy
spend from the previous year, reflecting higher utility prices. We have, however, continued
to reduce our usage of all energy resources over the past three years and have continued
to invest heavily in energy efficient boilers and controls.
Resource

Measurement

Gas

Use (kWh)
tCO2e
Use (kWh)
tCO2e
Use (kWh)
tCO2e
Use (kWh)
tCO2e
CO2e

Oil
Coal
Electricity
Total energy
Total energy spend
*Estimated usage

2016/17*
17600000
3700
37000
10
0
0
5555000
3400
6600
£1,300,000
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2015/16
19406000
4100
38000
12.135
0
0
6156000
3700
7400
£1,127,000

2014/15
18000000
4000
32000
10.2406209
0
0
6200000
3839.846
7500
£1,300,000

Waste
We have reduced our total carbon dioxide equivalent waste year on year for the past three
years. We have seen a large increase in the percentage of recycled or reused waste this
year and a decrease in landfill waste. We will be reviewing our greener waste disposal
system, originally implemented in 2013/14, to see where we can make improvements in
the year ahead.
Waste

Measurement

Recycling

(tonnes)
tCO2e
(tonnes)
tCO2e
(tonnes)
tCO2e
(tonnes)
tCO2e
(tonnes)
tCO2e
(tonnes)
tCO2e
(tonnes)
tCO2e
(tonnes)
tCO2e
(tonnes)
%
tCO2e

Re-use
Compost
WEEE
High temp recovery
High temp disposal
Non-burn disposal
Landfill
Total waste
Recycled or reused
Total Waste
*Estimated usage

2016/17*
200.00
4.25
0.00
0.00
15.00
0.08
2.80
0.06
0.00
0.00
18.00
3.96
0.00
0.00
750.00
185.00
900.00
20%
167.00

2015/16
141.20
2.12
0.00
0.00
12.00
0.07
3.50
0.06
0.00
0.00
18.00
3.96
0.00
0.00
811.40
197.41
945.00
15%
184.99

2014/15
195.00
4.10
0.00
0.00
12.00
0.07
3.00
0.06
0.00
0.00
20.00
4.40
1.00
0.020
760.00
185.76
991.00
20%
194.41

Water Consumption
We have further decreased our usage during the reporting year following the introduction
of a number of measures, in addition to the reduction in our estate footprint. These
include continuing to fit water saving devices to our toilets and showers, ensuring new
white goods procured are water efficient and replacing older pipework within our hospital
sites in Guildford and Chertsey.
Water
Mains
Water and sewage spend
*Estimated usage

Measurement
3

m
tCO2e

2016/17*
75000
68
£180,000

2015/16
80000
74
£176,000

2014/15
82000
75
£161,000

Carbon Footprint
The majority of our carbon emissions are due to energy consumption across our 140
services.
The Environmental Strategy Group meets regularly to monitor the progress and actions
against our Sustainable Development Management Plan. Periodical updates are also
provided to the Trust Board to ensure Directors are apprised of progress.
19

The information provided in the
tables above uses the Estates Return
Information Collection data, as
specified by the Department of
Health, as its data source. However,
we are aware that this does not
reflect our entire carbon footprint.
Therefore, the following information
uses a scaled model based on work
performed by the Sustainable
Development Unit in 2009/10. More
information is available on the
Sustainable Development Unit
website www.sduhealth.org.uk by
searching for NHS carbon footprint.

Proportions of Carbon Footprint

10%
15%
15%

Energy

65%

Travel

Procurement

Commissioning

Future Priorities and Targets
In the next 12 months we have set an ambitious target to reduce our carbon footprint by
17% and will continue to reduce our total waste. Additional future priorities include:
 Increasing staff awareness and engagement in energy and travel savings
 Improving our utilisation of space and reducing further our building footprint
 Introducing electric vehicle charging points
 Installing more smart meters
 Extending our use of mobile working across our clinical teams
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Accountability
Report

Mind Matters Surrey, our psychological therapies service, was one of four services to
receive Accreditation status in our new quality assurance programme in March 2017
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Directors’ Report
Board of Directors
The Directors for the reporting period were:
Non Executive Directors
 Richard Greenhalgh, Chairman^
 Ian McPherson, Chairman*
 Jon Bye
 Andy Field
 Leslie Morphy
 Mark Perry
 Laurence Vine-Chatterton
^ Richard Greenhalgh’s term of office concluded on 28 February 2017
* Ian McPherson commenced on 1 March 2017
Executive Directors
 Fiona Edwards, Chief Executive
 Rachel Hennessy, Co-Medical Director^
 Justin Wilson, Co-Medical Director; Medical Director^
 Helen Rostill, Director of Innovation and Development (Director of Therapies)
 Graham Wareham, Chief Finance Officer
 Jo Young, Director of Quality and Deputy Chief Executive (Nurse Director)
^ Rachel Hennessy retired on 3 November 2016 and Justin Wilson took up the post of
Medical Director on 4 November 2016
Register of Interests
We maintain a Register of Interests for Directors that is open to the public through the
Director of Governance and Planning, Julie Gaze, on 01372 216293 or
julie.gaze@sabp.nhs.uk.

Service Quality Governance
At Surrey and Borders we have robust arrangements in place to govern service quality, to
ensure the safety of people using our services, their carers and our staff. Our system of
internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level, with the Trust Board
taking overall responsibility for strategic risks, whilst the Executive Board manages high
level risks and ensures efficient and effective mitigation measures and controls are in
place for all risks.
22

Weekly Safety Huddle meetings for Executive Board members to receive progress
updates against high level risks and to raise awareness of new risks were introduced in
2015 and have continued throughout 2016/17. Since Autumn 2016, this approach has
been extended through Datix Huddles across our working age adult inpatient wards,
following a successful trial as part of our quality improvement programmes.
In March 2015, PwC completed an external review of our governance arrangements. PwC
returned to us in December 2015 to review our progress against their March
recommendations and improved our rating to Green (9) and Amber-Green (1). During
2016/17 we have completed our implementation of their further suggestions for
continuously improving our arrangements, including: introducing Clinical Ethical Issues
groups across all our clinical services divisions; continuing our focus on achieving 95% of
staff having up-to-date mandatory training across all services; and delivering
improvements in our social care services for people with learning disabilities. Following a
strategic review, eight out of 11 social care homes have been re-inspected by the CQC
and have achieved ‘Good’ ratings (as at 31 March 2017).
Further details on our quality governance arrangements can be found in the Annual
Governance Statement on page 64.

Quality Improvements
Our Quality Improvement Plan is led by our Director of Quality and Deputy Chief Executive,
Jo Young. It provides a road map to enable divisions, services, teams and individuals to
develop their own Quality House to set out their local quality improvement plans that
contribute to achieving our high level priorities. We use wide-ranging methods of
gathering evidence and data as part of our assurance processes, including national surveys,
such as the mental health community survey, as well as our local feedback questionnaires
for individual services - Your Views Matter, monitoring of complaints for themes and
trends and our internal auditing processes. Learning is shared through our Service
Improvement Programme forums, where teams share their experiences and
developments, and we also share learning from our serious incidents within divisions and
at specific learning sessions for clinical staff.
Care Quality Commission
We have now delivered 98% of the actions for our healthcare services following the CQC’s
inspection of our services in February 2016, during which 82% of our healthcare services
were rated as ‘Good’.
We have delivered 100% of the actions for our social care services, which have also been
visited by CQC inspectors over this year. Four of our homes have been re-inspected and
three of these - Redstone, Derby and Oakwood - have all been rated as ‘Good’, which is an
improvement from their previous rating of ‘Requires Improvement’. The fourth home,
Ashmount, was re-inspected on 30 March and has now moved from an ‘Inadequate’ rating
to ‘Requires Improvement’ overall with a ‘Good’ in the effective domain.

23

Service Developments
Throughout the year we have continued to deliver the changes outlined in our strategic
and service plans to improve the experiences of people who use services, their carers and
staff. Notable amongst these have been:
 Launched our extended and remodelled services for children and young people in
Surrey (called Mindsight Surrey CAMHS) on 1 April 2016. These are being delivered
in partnership with statutory, voluntary and private providers
 Contract award for the provision of Surrey-wide children and families community
services in partnership with Central Surrey Health and First Community Health and
Care, our first physical healthcare service, which commenced on 1 April 2017
 Relocation of our Assessment and Treatment Service for people with a learning
disability to Deacon Unit in Epsom and the launch of our Intensive Support Team
working with people to help them to live more independently in the community
 Go live of our innovative two-year test bed project funded by the Department of
Health. Our Internet of Things project, in partnership with Surrey University, the
Alzheimer’s Society and seven innovation companies, aims to help people with
dementia to remain in their own homes for longer with the aid of electronic devices
 Relocation of our adult mental health inpatient wards for people in mid Surrey from
Epsom to the Abraham Cowley Unit in Chertsey in February 2017. This followed a
review of the environment, where we concluded the surroundings were not in line
with our values of creating respectful places and treating people well
 Selected to provide ADHD and autism services for adults across Hampshire,
extending our existing ADHD service in Portsmouth, in partnership with Autism
Hampshire. The new service launched on 2 January 2017
 Awarded our second gold star from the Carers Trust’s Triangle of Care programme
for community services. The programme encourages services to better support
carers and engage with them in planning people’s care and treatment
 Launched our CARE 2 Quit campaign to become a smoke free Trust by 2 October
2017. People who use services, carers and staff have been involved in developing
our strategy and plans for our community and inpatient services to go smoke free
 Modern new consulting and office spaces provided for our community teams in
Redhill and Frimley, as part of our community hubs programme to provide more
respectful and therapeutic surroundings
 Announced our intention to sell part of the land we jointly own with St Peter’s
Hospital on their site in Chertsey, to provide funds for our future hospital and
community environments
 Surrey Recovery College launched with a range of courses run by staff and people
with lived experience of mental ill-health to help people improve and maintain
mental well-being, complementing our College already established for North East
Hampshire
 Continued our involvement in the North East Hampshire and Farnham Vanguard
programme, supported with funding from the Department of Health, to progress
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new ways of working at an accelerated pace. This includes the development of
Integrated Care Organisations, involving all health and social care partners working
together to support vulnerable people in the community better
 Close involvement in developing the three Sustainability and Transformation Plans
(STPs) covering the areas we serve, to ensure mental health is an integral part of the
plans
 Received notice that our Crisis House will be decommissioned in June 2017 to
support funding of Safe Haven services now established across Surrey

One of the new individual bedrooms at the Deacon Unit

Health and Safety
Over the past year the Health, Safety and Welfare Committee has continued to focus on
improving the reliability of our assurance systems to ensure we achieve full compliance
with the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974. There has been improved compliance in our
assurance in the management of asbestos, safety alerts, legionnaires risks, local exhaust
ventilation, medical device management and the embedding of the revised workplace risk
assessment process. The work to reduce the number of false fire alarms at our Farnham
Road Hospital site and general embedding of evacuation procedures has also been an area
of focus that has gone well this year.
We have assured the Board on our improved overall compliance with the Act but we also
identified a number of areas requiring improvement. The areas where we are currently
working to embed further improvements relate to the management of our lighting; display
screen equipment assessments; effective stress management process in accordance with
our Stress Free Policy; and ongoing learning from self-harming incidents and the mitigation
of risks through our ligature management processes.
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Key priorities for the year ahead include working to support our Community Hubs process
by ensuring all clinical environments remain safe and therapeutic. We will continue to
work with Surrey Police on reducing the prevalence of people absconding from our
inpatient facilities and enhance our approach to reducing the prevalence of unauthorised
illicit substances brought onto our hospital sites.

Patient Information
This year we have renewed our information packs for people referred to our Community
Mental Health Recovery Services, which have been revised with the support of people
using the service and carers.
We have also undertaken a comprehensive review of our information in light of the
introduction of the Accessible Information Standard for people with disabilities and
sensory impairments. We now have easy read and large print versions of all our standard
information leaflets available to download from our website, along with easy read pages of
the website itself. Resources are also available to staff to ensure they provide appropriate
support to people with additional needs.
In the year ahead we plan to publish our recovery packs to help people with their recovery
journey, following adjustments to the packs after a pilot project to test their value with
people using the services. We are also developing our online information for young carers
to ensure they have access to helpful resources in the way that they want to receive them.

Compliments, Complaints and PALS Contacts
During 2016/17, the Complaints and PALS team recorded a total of 463 compliments and
investigated 85 complaints. In 2015/16 the team recorded 417 compliments and
investigated 96 complaints. We made contact with every complainant to ensure all issues
of concern were identified and incorporated into an agreed complaints plan prior to
commencing our investigation process. We also ensured that the complainant’s
preferences regarding communication were agreed and documented. A full response
detailing the outcome of the investigation and, where appropriate, changes made to
service provision is provided to every complainant.
As at 6 April 2017, 53 of the 85 investigations had been completed. Of these 53 completed
complaints, 36 (68%) were either fully or partially upheld. To compare with last year, we
reported that 77 complaint investigations were completed and 44 (57%) had been fully or
partially upheld. ‘Upheld’ is the term used to record where one or more aspects of a
complaint required an apology from us.
Additionally, we received a significant increase in the PALS contacts made during the year
with 357 PALS queries in 2016/17 compared with 244 in 2015/16.
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We recognise that it is often possible to learn from complaints and improve our services,
even when a complaint has not been upheld. Changes to processes and procedures have
been made during the year across all service areas as a direct result of concerns raised
from a complainant. Examples include:
 Older People’s Mental Health Division to consider developing a leaflet that can be
given to families and carers to inform them of available services and the process of
discharge
 Community Mental Health Recovery Service reminder to staff to ensure GP referral
letters are checked for any detail regarding communication needs
 Home Treatment Team to reinforce the importance of relevant progress note
writing and discuss this in staff meetings
 To improve our written communication in our CAMHS services, with specific
reference to ensuring reports are written accurately and double checked before
sending to families
 To ensure all of our staff are familiar with our access to health records procedure
 To remind care coordinators in our Older People’s services that it is their
responsibility to inform people under their care of any changes to their care plan
 For new Trust staff, and regular temporary staff, to have access to SystmOne as
soon as possible to ensure regular documentation
During 2016/17, the Parliamentary Health Service Ombudsman confirmed it would be
investigating three complaints in respect of our services. During this period we received
the outcome of 12 complaints investigated by the Ombudsman; three were partially
upheld and nine were not upheld.
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Community Engagement and Involvement
At Surrey and Borders our values include involving people in our work and our involvement
groups are embedded in our governance arrangements. These include our Forum of Carers
and people who Use Services (FoCUS), our Child and adolescent mental health Youth
Advisors programme (CYA), our Carers Action Group, Recovery Colleges and Foundation
Trust membership.
We particularly ensure we involve people in our service changes and developments. In the
past year this has included work on our mental health hospitals redevelopment
programme, with three co-design workshops in May 2016. Sixty five stakeholders talked to
us about their requirements for a really good new mental health hospital, which helped to
inform our critical success factors and benefits criteria for our second hospital. We have
also involved people in the design and modelling for our multi-agency Single Point of
Access service for people in mental health crisis, which is due to launch in February 2018.
Planning has involved a range of workshops, presentations and surveys throughout the
year with people using our services and carers, including a week long session in August
2016 to plan the service model.
We are proud to have received our second gold star in 2016 as part of the Triangle of Care
programme, which aims to better support carers and engage them in the planning of
people’s care and treatment. Our progress against the Triangle of Care is managed by our
Carers Action Group, which was also involved in reviewing the self assessments from each
team and giving feedback from local carers about our performance.
During the year we have reached out to our local communities with a focus on engaging
with protected characteristics’ groups that we have not recently linked with. This has
included: working with Outline, the local charity supporting lesbian, gay, bisexual and
transgender people; attending freshers fayres at universities; and talking to people at
youth events run by the Black and Minority Ethnic Forum.
Looking ahead, we will be continuing to involve people in the development of our new
hospital facilities for people in north west, mid and east Surrey and the design of our Single
Point of Access service for people in a mental health crisis.

Disclosures
As far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
Trust’s auditor is unaware. They have taken all of the steps that they ought to have taken
as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the Trust’s auditor is aware of that information.
During 2016/17 we met the requirements of the NHS Act 2006 that state our income from
the provision of goods and services for the purposes of the health service in England is
greater than our income from the provision of goods and services for any other purposes.
We have a few sources of other income as detailed in Note 4 of the accounts. This income
is reinvested in our health services.
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We have complied with the cost allocation and charging guidance issued by HM Treasury.

Better Payment Practice Code
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to pay all undisputed invoices by the
due date or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is the later.
Performance for the year was improved at 79.9% by volume for NHS invoices paid within
target, compared to 75.5% in 2015/16, although the performance in respect of payment of
non NHS invoices was not as good at 85.1% by volume, compared to 93.6% in 2015/16.

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the period
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Total NHS invoices paid in the period
Total NHS invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS invoices paid within target

Number
18,896
16,083
85.11%
667
533
79.91%

£000
57,525
50,347
87.52%
10,755
8,801
81.83%

Directors’ Opinion
The operating and financial information presented in this Annual Report covers the year
from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017. The Directors of the Trust are responsible for ensuring
that the annual report and accounts have been prepared following a direction issued by
NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, under the
National Health Service Act 2006. They consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a
whole, to be fair, balanced and understandable and provide the information necessary for
people who use services, regulators and other key stakeholders to assess the NHS
Foundation Trust’s performance, business model and strategy.
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Remuneration Report
Annual Statement on Remuneration
An annual review of Director salaries was undertaken as usual in July 2016. This was
managed by an external company, Total Rewards Solutions (TRS), commissioned for a
further year on behalf of the Remuneration Committee and at a total cost of £4,050. The
company was selected in accordance with our Standing Financial Instructions following
comparative quotes. It was tasked with reviewing salaries against both the labour market
and our health sector, in order to ensure we remained competitive when recruiting new
Directors and had the ability to retain our experienced Directors. The Committee was
satisfied by the independent advice it received from the company, in the form of a
comprehensive report that provided the data used to conduct the comparison, and the
weighting given to the national data for each job description.
There were some increases to remuneration for the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief
Executive and the Director of Innovation and Business Development, none of whom had
received any increase since 2014. TRS also reviewed our matrix pay structure, agreed last
year, to ensure new recruitment conforms with the weighting of roles and equal pay
assigned to roles of similar complexity and responsibility.
In November 2016, we moved from having two Co-Medical Directors to just one Medical
Director. This change was the conclusion of a planned approach to ensure the safe delivery
of services at a time of senior staff retirements.

Senior Managers’ Remuneration Policy
Our Remuneration Committee agrees the policy framework within which decisions on
Directors’ remuneration are made. Our appraisal policy includes a set of principles which
are applicable to the remuneration of Senior Managers and Directors.
Executive Director Remuneration
Remuneration
component
Salary

Application

Comment

Strategic objective

All Directors

Subject to annual review and external
benchmarking

To attract and retain
outstanding leaders

Appraisal process and capability process
can influence uplift
Remuneration is directly linked to
performance. The appraisal process has a
minimum performance threshold for
entitlement to a pay uplift and the
appraiser has to confirm whether an
uplift would be appropriate, given
performance, if the Remuneration
Committee agrees an uplift is applicable
for Directors’ pay
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Remuneration
component
Incremental
threshold

Application

Comment

Strategic objective

Co-Medical
Director only

In line with the consultant contract, our
Co-Medical Directors receive a total
package of remuneration, which is in line
with the consultant pay scale but also
reflects Clinical Excellence Awards,
geographical allowance and a
responsibility payment for undertaking
the Co-Medical Director role
13.5-14.5% employer contribution
(depending on salary) made for those
Directors in the NHS Pension Scheme
Expenses need to be claimed within three
months of travel and receipts provided
for parking or other work-related
expenses

To attract and retain
outstanding leaders

Pension
contribution

All Directors

Travel
expenses

All Directors

Other

All Directors

Loss of office
payment

All Directors

There are no other allowances payable in
line with Directors’ salaries apart from an
allowance to one Director who performs
the Deputy Chief Executive role
If redundancy is appropriate, the
Remuneration Committee uses principles
informed by Agenda for Change to apply
to our Directors, with the cap of £160K
maximum payment

To attract and retain
outstanding leaders
To ensure the appropriate
use of public money and
effective allocation of
resources throughout the
year
To be open, honest and
accountable in our
appropriate use of public
money
To ensure we have the
right capacity and
capability to realise our
strategy from Board to
ward

As part of our formal appraisal process, all Directors are required to deliver to a set of
agreed objectives, which support service delivery of our quality improvement plan and our
strategic aims. An uplift to salary may not be paid to any Director, if they have not
achieved a rating above two for performance against their objectives, their leadership
responsibilities or their professional duties and behaviours in the execution of their role.
This is assessed and provides a score, as part of their appraisal, in accordance with our
appraisal policy. Similarly, if they are being formally performance managed, they are not
entitled to receive a salary uplift.
One Director receives an additional payment to recognise the additional duty they
undertake as Deputy Chief Executive; no other bonuses etc. are paid apart from her annual
salary. Two Directors received payments in respect of their clinical responsibilities and
Clinical Excellence Awards.
All Board Directors are required to confirm their compliance with the Fit and Proper Person
Test requirements for Directors.
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Non Executive Director Remuneration
Remuneration
component
Fee £13,000 pa

Application

Comment

Strategic objective

All Non Executive
Directors

Subject to review as required by the
Nominations Committee

To attract and retain
outstanding leaders

Chairman fee set
at £40,000 pa
Chair of Audit
Committee fee
set at £15,000 pa
Travel expenses

Other

Annual appraisal process, over three
year term for Non Executives
including the Chairman, agreed by
the Nominations Committee
All Non Executive
Directors

All Non Executive
Directors

Expenses from home to place visited
need to be claimed within three
months of travel and receipts
provided for parking or other workrelated expenses
No other payments are made to our
Non Executive Directors

To ensure the appropriate
use of public money and
effective allocation of
resources throughout the
year
To be open, honest and
accountable in our
appropriate use of public
money

Policy on Payments for Loss of Office
Our Executive Directors have three months’ notice written into their contracts of
employment. This would not be payable should a Director be summarily dismissed. The
Chief Executive’s notice period is six months. If she were to be dismissed on the grounds of
capability, notice would be paid. Similarly, if there were to be a conflict of interest or a
failure to meet the Fit and Proper Person Regulation, then our contract is clear that a
Director would be required to resign with no payment due by our Trust in these respects.
Consideration of Employment Conditions
The Directors’ salary review is undertaken once the national pay awards are announced so
that there is an awareness of the fairness of any awards compared to the workforce as a
whole. We also consider our Directors’ salaries, including the Chief Executive’s, relative to
that of the median of our workforce. Directors’ terms and conditions are informed by
Agenda for Change terms and conditions, apart from some key elements, as stipulated in
the contracts of employment. As stated above, our principle is always to benchmark
ourselves in relation to other NHS employers and public and voluntary sector employers to
ensure we remain competitive in the labour market.
We do not have a separate remuneration policy and, therefore, have not consulted with
our employees in this respect. Our Remuneration Committee agrees the policy framework
within which decisions on Directors’ remuneration are made. Our appraisal policy includes
a set of principles that are applicable to the remuneration of Senior Managers and
Directors. This Policy was consulted upon with our staff.
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Annual Report on Remuneration
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee
The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Trust’s remuneration policy and, within the terms
of the agreed policy, determining the total individual remuneration package of the
Executive Directors.
During the year, the Committee was chaired by Mark Perry, Non Executive Director, and
the membership comprised all of the Non Executive Directors. Further details of the
membership and attendance of the Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee is
included on page 56 of this Annual Report.
The Chief Executive attends all meetings of the Committee but is not present for
discussions about her own remuneration.
The Committee reviews:
 The remuneration and terms of service of the Chief Executive, those Board Directors
who report directly to the Chief Executive and the Assistant Chief Executive
 The performance of those Board Directors who report directly to the Chief
Executive and the Assistant Chief Executive through reports submitted by the Chief
Executive. The Chair will similarly report on the performance of the Chief Executive
 Pay data from similar organisations, in order to ensure that appropriate
arrangements have been made for the salaries of the Directors
 Appropriate contractual arrangements for such staff, including the proper
calculation and scrutiny of termination payments, taking account of such national
guidance as appropriate
The Committee meets annually, as a minimum, but may meet on other occasions as may
be required from time to time. The Chief Executive holds annual appraisal meetings with
each Executive Director to assess progress against objectives.
Senior Managers’ contracts which fall within this remit are all substantive and permanent.
The Medical Director is on the national consultant contract and receives an additional
payment for management responsibilities in recognition of the role of Medical Director.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and
benefits-in-kind, as well as severance payments. It does not include employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
Nominations Committee
The Non Executive Directors’ remuneration is agreed and approved by the Council of
Governors based on recommendations put before them by the Trust Board, following
discussion at the Nominations Committee.
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Fair Pay Multiple
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of
the highest-paid Director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid Director in Surrey and Borders Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust in the financial year 2016/17 was £215k – £220k (2015/16: £165k £170k). This was 8.27 times (2015/16: 6.46) at the mid point than the median actual
remuneration of the workforce, including high cost living allowance, which was £26.3k
(2015/16, £25.9). The 2015/16 figures have been updated to reflect a more accurate
methodology of calculation, used in 2016/17.
Two individuals were paid more than £142,500 (the threshold used in the Civil Service by
the Chief Secretary to the Treasury, equating to the Prime Minister’s ministerial and
parliamentary salary). Analysis from TRS indicates that these salaries are broadly
consistent with the market, below some of the salaries recently advertised by very similar
Trusts and commensurate with the level of remuneration needed for retention. They are,
therefore, deemed reasonable.
Payments for Loss of Office
There were no payments for loss of office in year.
Expenses of the Governors and Directors
The Trust had a total 31 Governors in office during 2016/17 (31 in 2015/16). Of these, eight
received expenses in 2016/17, totalling £2,589 between them (11 in 2015/16: aggregate
total £1,757).
The Trust has six Non Executive Directors in office (six in 2015/16). Of these, four received
expenses in 2016/17 totalling £1,586 between them (two in 2015/16: aggregate total
£542).
The Trust employed six individuals across five Executive Director roles (six in 2015/16) until
3 November 2016, when one of the Co-Medical Directors retired from the role, reducing
the number to five. All six received expenses in 2016/17 totalling £6,224 between them
(five in 2015/16: aggregate total £5,612).
KPMG, our external auditors, audited the table of salaries and allowances of senior
managers on page 36 and the table of pension benefits of senior managers on page 38 as
part of their audit of the 2016/17 financial statements.
Signed

Fiona Edwards
Chief Executive
25 May 2017
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable
from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to
secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member
leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a
senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension
scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a
result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own
cost. The CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the
Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
On 16 March 2016, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a change in the
Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience (SCAPE) discount rate from
3.0% to 2.8%. There was insufficient time to incorporate this rate change in the calculation
of CETV figures in the 2015/16 Annual Report but the revised rate has been used in the
calculation of CETV figures in this report.
Real Increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee
(including the value of benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and
uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.
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1. Senior Manager Remuneration
Name and title

2016/17
Richard Greenhalgh
Ian McPherson
Mark Perry
Jonathan Bye
Leslie Morphy
Andrew Field
Laurence VineChatterton
Fiona Edwards
Jo Young

Rachel Hennessy
Justin Wilson

Graham Wareham
Helen Rostill

Salary
(in bands of
£5,000)

Chairman (to 28 Feb 2017)
Chairman (from 1 Mar 2017)
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director
Chief Executive
Deputy Chief Executive
(Director of Quality and
Nursing)
Co Medical Director
(to 3 Nov 2016)
Co Medical Director
(to 3 Nov 2016)
Medical Director
(from 4 Nov 2016)
Chief Finance Officer
Director of Innovation &
Development

£000
35 - 40
0-5
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15

Other
remuneration
(in bands of
£5,000)
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0-5

Taxable
benefits
(rounded to
nearest £100)
£00
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Pension related
benefits
(in bands of
£2,500)
£000

Total
remuneration
(in bands of
£5,000)
£000
35 - 40
0-5
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15
15 - 20

165 - 170
110 - 115

0
5 - 10

0
0

0
25.0 - 27.5

165 - 170
145 - 150

60 - 65

20 - 25

0

2.5 - 5.0

85 - 90

190 - 195

20 - 25

0

(12.5) - (10.0)

205 - 210

125 - 130
110 - 115

0
0

0
0

27.5 - 30.0
90.0 - 92.5

155 - 160
200 - 205

Richard Greenhalgh stepped down at the end of his term of office as Chairman from 28 February 2017 and Ian McPherson took up his term as
Chairman on 1 March 2017
Other remuneration shown for Laurence Vine-Chatterton is for work as a Mental Health Act Manager
Rachel Hennessy retired from her role as Co Medical Director on 3 November 2016
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Name and title

2015/16
Richard Greenhalgh
Della Fallon
Mark Perry
Jonathan Bye
Leslie Morphy
Andrew Field
Laurence VineChatterton
Fiona Edwards
Jo Young

Rachel Hennessy
Justin Wilson
Graham Wareham
Helen Rostill

Salary
(in bands of
£5,000)

Chairman
Non Executive Director
(to 31 May 2015)
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director
(from 1 April 2015)
Non Executive Director
(from 1 April 2015)
Non Executive Director
(from 1 June 2015)
Non Executive Director
Chief Executive
Deputy Chief Executive
(Director of Quality and
Nursing)
Co-Medical Director
Co-Medical Director
(from 2 Nov 2015)
Chief Finance Officer
Director of Innovation &
Development

£000
35 - 40
0-5

Other
remuneration
(in bands of
£5,000)
£000
0
0

Taxable
benefits
(rounded to
nearest £100)
£00
0
0

Pension related
benefits
(in bands of
£2,500)
£000

Total
remuneration
(in bands of
£5,000)
£000
35 - 40
0-5

10 - 15
10 - 15

0
0

0
0

10 - 15
10 - 15

10 - 15

0

0

10 - 15

10 - 15

0

0

10 - 15

10 - 15

0-5

0

15 - 20

155 - 160
105 - 110

0
5 - 10

0
0

25.0 - 27.5
22.5 - 25.0

185 - 190
140 - 145

100 - 105
50 - 55

60 - 65
5 - 10

0
0

27.5 - 30.0
85.0 - 87.5

190 - 195
140 - 145

125 - 130
95 - 100

0
0

0
0

32.5 - 35.0
47.5 - 50.0

160 - 165
145 - 150

Della Fallon stepped down at the end of her term of office as a Non Executive Director from 31 May 2015
Other remuneration shown for Laurence Vine-Chatterton is for work as a Mental Health Act Manager
The pension related benefits and total remuneration for executive directors has been restated to reflect the requirement to deduct employee
pension contributions
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2. Senior Manager Pensions Disclosure
Name and title

Fiona Edwards
Jo Young
Rachel
Hennessy
Justin Wilson
Graham
Wareham
Helen Rostill

Lump sum at
age 60
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2017 (bands
of £5,000)
£000
120 - 125
180 - 185

Cash
equivalent
transfer
value at
31 March
2017

Cash
equivalent
transfer
value at
31 March
2016

Real
increase in
cash
equivalent
transfer
value

Employer’s
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000
0
5.0 - 7.5

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2017
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
40 - 45
60 - 65

£000
0
1,197

£000
804
1,126

£000
0
71

£000
n/a
n/a

0 - 2.5

0 - 2.5

75 - 80

230 - 235

0

1,509

0

n/a

Co-Medical Director
Chief Finance Officer

(2.5) - 0
0 - 2.5

0
0

25 - 30
5.0 - 10.0

5 - 10
0

316
46

294
23

22
23

n/a
n/a

Director of
Innovation &
Development

2.5 - 5.0

12.5 - 15.0

30 - 35

90 - 95

600

498

102

n/a

Chief Executive
Director of Quality
(Nurse Director)
Co-Medical Director

Real increase
in pension at
age 60 (bands
of £2,500)

Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
pension age
60 (bands of
£2,500)

£000
0
0 - 2.5

Fiona Edwards opted out of the NHS pension scheme from 01 April 2016
Justin Wilson opted out of the NHS pension scheme from 01 July 2016
Rachel Hennessy retired from the scheme on 03 November 2016
Signed

Fiona Edwards
Chief Executive
25 May 2017
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Staff Report
Our Workforce
We seek to create an environment in which our staff can develop in satisfying jobs and
rewarding careers. We strive to fully consult and involve our staff in the improvement and
development of our services.
2,404 people work with us substantively at Surrey and Borders Partnership to provide our
services, which equates to 2,173 whole time equivalent (WTE) staff, plus those 177 staff
employed by county councils working as part of our integrated teams. The breakdown of
directly-employed staff groups by professional group is provided below. The number of social
care staff has reduced since 2015/16 because Hampshire County Council has changed the way
they work with us and their staff are no longer operating within integrated teams.
Staff group by
WTE (average
No of staff)

Medical and
dental
Administration
and estates
Healthcare
assistants and
other support
staff
Nursing,
midwifery and
health visiting
staff
Scientific,
therapeutic and
technical staff
Bank staff
Other staff
Total average
number of staff
Of which,
employed on
capital projects

Total

Permanent

Other

Total

Permanent

Other

2016/17

Total
cost
£000
2016/17

2015/16

2015/16

2015/16

Total
cost
£000
2015/16

2016/17

2016/17

149

144

5

18,244

159

148

11

17,253

553

508

45

24,204

584

524

60

25,677

524

491

33

13,607

509

491

18

13,383

651

537

114

29,969

661

556

105

30,347

493

493

0

19,168

466

465

1

20,367

217

0

217

6,000

190

0

190

6,376

2,587

2,173

414

111,192

2,569

2,184

385

113,403

26

12

14

2,576

34

13

21

3,369

The 2015/16 WTE numbers have been updated to reflect an improved methodology used in
2016/17 in categorising and counting staff.
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Breakdown of directly employed Surrey and Borders Partnership male and female staff by
whole time equivalent:
Category

Female

Executive Director

Male

Grand
total

Female

Male

Grand
total

3.5

2.0

5.5

63.6%

36.4%

100%

173.4

87.1

260.5

66.5%

33.5%

100%

Employees

1414.5

492.7

1907.2

74.2%

25.8%

100%

Grand Total

1591.4

581.8

2173.2

73.2%

26.8%

100%

Senior Manager

The retiring Co-Medical Director, being female, has resulted in a change in the percentage
of male and female Executive Directors from 28.6% and 71.4% in 2015/16 respectively to
36.4% and 63.6% in 2016/17. In the Senior Manager and remaining Employees categories,
the percentage of female staff has increased by one percentage point over 2015/16.
Our sickness absence rates were 3.22% in March 2017 and 3.53% rolling average over 12
months against a target of 3.80%.
Average sick days per whole time equivalent member of staff (WTE) were as follows:
Average WTE
2016

Adjusted WTE
days lost to
Cabinet Office
definitions

Average sick
days per WTE

WTE days
available

WTE days
recorded
sickness
absence

2,195

17,361

7.9

801,348

28,164

The Government Financial Reporting Manual 2016/17 (FReM) requires the Trust to
disclose the above sickness absence information, which is collected by the Department of
Health centrally. The sickness absence figures are reported on a calendar year basis, rather
than for the financial year, which accounts for the difference in average WTE numbers
from that reported on the financial year basis in the above tables.

Staff Policies and Actions Applied During the Year
We are accredited for our practice in relation to people with a disability. Our recruitment
and employment checks policy advises our managers on prioritising for interview any
applicant who declares they have a disability and we will adjust our interview venue,
process and support according to the information we receive from our applicant. We
warmly welcome a diverse workforce and seek to ensure all employment opportunities are
fairly recruited to and that nobody with a disability is hampered from doing their best at an
interview because of our processes.
Through a close working relationship with our Staff Disability Network we hope to resolve
any work issues that a newly disabled person is experiencing. We use the Occupational
Health Service and any specialist support that is required, such as Access to Work, to
enable us to retain our employees if they become disabled.
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We place a strong emphasis on all our employees maintaining their compliance with
statutory and mandatory training, as well as induction and continuous professional
development. Where a disabled employee requires adjustments, such as doing a course by
e-mail rather than in person, or where a venue may not be appropriate for a wheelchair
user, we make the necessary arrangements to meet the needs of our employees. We can
offer paper-based training if an individual has difficulty with a computer and we will enable
a disabled person to have team or additional individual support, in order to fully
understand the topic and keep themselves updated. We are confident we can reduce all
barriers and, in most cases, completely meet the needs of our disabled employees.
We place an equally strong emphasis on our staff complying with our Standards of
Business Conduct and with our Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy, both of which
are available on our website.
Our organisational change policy requires us, as managers, to ensure we actively engage
and consult with our employees on all matters that affect their work environment or terms
and conditions of employment. We hold monthly Joint Consultative Committees, where all
consultation documents are shared in advance of any consultation occurring, for
discussion and debate. We invite our Staff Governors to these meetings so they can feed-in
the views of the workforce who do not belong to a Union.
We share all our consultation documents personally with those directly affected and we
also put them on our staff intranet in order to reach the wider workforce for their
comment. We usually consult for 30 days but often longer if the implication of a change is
Trust-wide. We seek to keep any redundancies to a minimum and to redeploy all our
employees subject to change.
In addition to our formal consultative processes, we informally communicate on a weekly
basis using e-mail to circulate a staff e-bulletin. This provides a variety of information and
interest topics to keep our staff engaged with the work of our Trust and its progress.

Involvement
A wide range of events to involve staff in the work of the Trust has continued this year,
such as regular professional conferences, bi-monthly leadership forums and monthly
conversation groups with our Chief Executive.
The programme of Director walk-arounds to clinical teams provided opportunities for staff
to discuss topical issues with senior management in their own environments. These
initiatives allow us to hear personal accounts of the issues that the teams are facing,
understand the impact of Board decision making on our teams and help monitor the
environment.
Specific engagement to help our drug and alcohol staff prepare for our CQC inspection in
February 2017 was undertaken in the lead up to the inspections. This included face-to-face
sessions with our clinical staff in these teams and our medical leaders.
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Staff were also encouraged to discuss within their teams what they are proud of, what
needs improving and then to develop plans to address these issues locally.
We have involved staff with our key changes programmes and service developments in the
year. This has included representation on our working group for our new community hubs
in Redhill and Frimley, to help decide the locations of teams and inform the internal design
and operating model for each hub. Work to prepare for our forthcoming Single Point of
Access for crisis mental health service, due to launch in February 2018, has involved our
adult mental health staff to help define the service and determine the service name.
Our CARE Awards, to recognise the achievements of individual staff members, teams and
volunteers, received a record number of 164 nominations this year and the Awards
ceremony was extended to include the first four teams to achieve Accreditation to our
CARE Excellence Accreditation programme.

NHS Staff Survey
We made positive progress in relation to our staff survey results for 2016, for both our
response rate of 65% and our positioning against other mental health trusts. Our
responses to 22 issues were better than average and just one issue worse than average.
Our overall staff engagement score is 3.84 against a sector average score of 3.77.
We used the online process this year for 80% of our employees, with only 20% receiving a
paper copy. The electronic process was well received and there was a greater electronic
participation than in 2015 when this was first introduced.
Summary of Performance
2016/17
Trust
National
average
Response rate
Top five ranking scores
Percentage of staff able to
contribute towards
improvements at work
Support from Immediate Line
Managers
Our staff satisfaction with the
quality of their appraisal
% staff feeling pressure in the
last 3 months to attend work
when feeling unwell
Quality of non-mandatory
training, learning or development

2015/16
Trust
National
average

Trust improvement/
deterioration

65%

49%

59%

45%

Improvement

77

73

76

70

Improvement

3.97

3.88

3.95

3.85

Improvement

3.38

3.15

3.36

3.11

Improvement

50%

55%

51%

55%

Improvement

4.12

4.06

4.10

4.02

Improvement
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Trust

Bottom five ranking scores
Organisation and management
interest in, and action on, health
and well being
% of staff believing our Trust
provides equal opportunities for
career progression or promotion
% of staff/colleagues reporting
most recent experience of
violence
% staff appraised in the last 12
months
% of staff experiencing
discrimination at work in the last
12 months

2016/17
National
average

Trust

2015/16
National
average

Trust improvement/
deterioration

3.72

3.71

3.68

3.62

Improvement

86%

89%

90%

84%

4% Deterioration

93%

93%

88%

91%

5% Improvement

86%

89%

86%

87%

No change

12%

14%

12%

11%

No change

Engaging with Staff
Our Staff Survey results are very important to us and we have a dialogue with all our staff
about the Trust findings and expect each team to discuss the results for their group, aided
by a Trust presentation, which is tailored for local feedback. Teams discuss whether the
results accurately reflect how staff feel and the team agrees a focus for change in the
coming year. These action plans are monitored by Divisional Directors and reviewed by the
Executive Board. In addition, our Leadership Forum of senior managers reviews the
findings from a Trust perspective and agrees where we need to take action across our
whole organisation.
Future Priorities and Targets
In the coming year, our Trust-wide actions will focus on our lowest scores compared with
our sector, which will include an improvement in the number of employees reporting that
they believe our Trust and management have an interest in, and take action on, health and
wellbeing, as well as providing equal opportunities for career progression or promotion.
We particularly want to focus on increasing the number of staff that report having had an
appraisal and on decreasing those that report experience of violence or discrimination at
work. We want to target some actions with our staff networks, where particular minority
groups have highlighted concerns.
We have in place a health and wellbeing action plan, where we are specifically considering
how to encourage staff to be more active, for the prevention of musculoskeletal problems
and in support of mental health. In 2017/18 we will be reviewing our health and wellbeing
strategy and refreshing the action plan underpinning this.
We held two staff survey engagement meetings in April 2017 and plan to do more
engagement work with our staff, particularly on their experience in the workplace of
violence and aggression, discrimination at work and equal opportunities for career
progression.
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The Executive Board will monitor performance on a quarterly basis through Staff Survey
update reports. The first will be in June 2017.

Expenditure on Consultancy
We have spent £1.2m on consultancy in the last financial year (2015/16: £690k), reflecting
the pace of change on the Community Hubs programme and on our replacement reporting
tool DART.

Off-payroll Arrangements
As of 31 March 2017, the Trust has engaged with a small number of highly paid and/or
senior off-payroll staff for longer than six months. Details of these engagements are
provided below.
Highly paid off-payroll engagements are only entered into on an exceptional basis and are
subject to senior manager review.
1. Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day, and that
last for longer than six months
No of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017
Of which...
No that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting
No that have existed for between one and two years at time of reporting
No that have existed for between two and three years at time of reporting
No that have existed for between three and four years at time of reporting
No that have existed for four or more years at time of reporting

12
5
4
1
0
2

There has been a significant reduction in such engagements, down from 29 as of 31 March
2016, as the Trust has successfully recruited to posts substantively.
All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been subject to a
risk based assessment as to whether assurance needs to be sought that the individual is
paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought. All
contractors must comply with the IR35 process from April 2017.
2. New off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between
1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that last for longer than
six months
No of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration,
between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017
No of the above which include contractual clauses giving the Trust the
right to request assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance
obligations
No for whom assurance has been requested
Of which...
No for whom assurance has been received
No for whom assurance has not been received
No that have been terminated as a result of assurance not being received
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6
6

6
3
3
2

There were 73 fewer such engagements as of 31 March 2017 than at 31 March 2016,
reflecting a degree of success in recruiting substantive staff to certain posts and in applying
the stricter agency recruitment criteria.
Where appointments are through an approved agency provider, we have been explicit
with the agencies we use as to their duty to undertake checks of income tax and National
Insurance obligations.
3. Off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017
The Trust had no Board member off-payroll engagements during 2016/17. It had three
senior members of staff with significant financial responsibility:
 From 7 April 2015 to date in the role of Interim Director of Children’s and Young
People’s Services. This appointment has been responsible for mobilising and
bedding in the new CAMHS contract that commenced on 1 April 2016 and has been
retained to do the same for the new Children and Family Health Surrey contract that
commenced on 1 April 2017
 For the year in the role of Project Lead for scoping our second hospital
 From 20 January 2016 in the role of Interim Director of IT until 8 August 2016, when
the post was filled substantively
The total number of individuals on or off payroll deemed to have significant financial
responsibility, including the three detailed above, was 22 (18 in 2015/16).
Off-payroll engagements
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior
officials with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year
Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘Board members and/or senior
officials with significant financial responsibility’ during the financial year. This
figure should include both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements

3
22

Exit Packages
There were a total 23 exit packages during the year. A total of eight compulsory
redundancies were made totalling £202,558 (13 in 2015/16, with a total value of
£319,081). Some of these redundancies were as a result of our outsourcing of payroll and
hard facilities management services.
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Total Exit Packages
Exit package cost band

<£10,000
£10,001 - £25,000
£25,001 - £50,000
£50,001 - £100,000
£100,001 - £150,000
£150,001 - £200,000
Total number of exit packages by type
Total resource cost £000s

Number of
compulsory
redundancies
2016/17

Number of other
departures
agreed
2016/17

2
2
4
0
0
0
8
£203k

Total number of
exit packages by
cost band
2016/17

13
1
0
1
0
0
15
£146k

15
3
4
1
0
0
23
£349k

Included in the above were a total of 15 non-compulsory departures that attracted an exit
package during the year, with a total value of £146,360 as detailed below (19 in 2015/16,
with a total value of £135,931).
Exit Payments – Other Departures
Agreements
number

Total value of
agreements
£000

0
0
Voluntary redundancies including early
retirement contractual costs
0
0
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS)
contractual costs
0
0
Early retirements in the efficiency of the
service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
14
80
1
66
Exit payments following employment
tribunals or court orders
0
0
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT
approval*
15
146
Total
Of which:
0
0
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT
approval made to individuals where the
payment value was more than 12 months of
their annual salary
* Includes any non-contractual severance payment made following judicial mediation and amounts relating
to non-contractual payments in lieu of notice, of which there were none.

As single exit packages can be made up of several components, each of which will be
counted separately in the above table, the total number above will not necessarily match
the total numbers in the previous table, which represents the number of individuals. The
Remuneration Report on page 33 provides details of exit payments, if applicable to
individuals named in that Report.
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Equality & Human Rights Report
This year we implemented NHS Equality Delivery System 2 and produced six new equality
objectives specifically devised to tackle key equality and human rights challenges for our
staff, people who use our services and their carers over the next four years.
SABP Equality Objectives 2016-2020
 Staff report that they are free from discrimination and abuse in the workplace
 Improve the representation of staff with protected characteristics across the Trust
to proportionately reflect the workforce profile
 Develop strong partnerships with groups representing people with protected
characteristics at a local and national level, to inform service developments and
improve access to services for everyone
 People who use services and carers report they are involved with decisions about
their care
 Implement the Health Equality Framework across all health services to ensure the
health needs for people with learning disabilities are assessed and health outcomes
are improved
 Increase numbers of older people accessing Improving Access to Psychological
Therapies services, to reduce levels of mild/moderate depression and improve their
health outcomes
Linked to this work, we also consulted internal and external stakeholders on what our
annual equality objective targets should be; to enable us to successfully deliver upon our
objectives by 2020. These are now available on our website. We also produced an
organisational Equality Delivery Plan for 2017/18. This plan contains all of our equality
commitments, actions and deliverables across the six equality objectives for the
forthcoming year and progress against the plan will be monitored by the Nursing
Directorate Management Team.
We continue to support the NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard and have produced a
specific action plan to drive forward change during 2017/18 in those areas where we are
not performing to our required standards. This includes addressing the issue of more black
and minority ethnic staff experiencing discrimination at work than other staff.
Going forward we are committed to adopting the Workforce Disability Equality Standard
and rolling-out the Sexual Orientation Monitoring Standard once these become available.
We will be working alongside all of our staff networks as we promote and deliver upon the
above NHS equality standards and frameworks.
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Summary of Performance for Trust Members
2016/17
Age band
0 - 16
17 - 21
22+
Undisclosed
Grand Total
Ethnic origin
White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or Black British
Other
Undisclosed
Grand Total
Gender
Female
Male
Undisclosed
Grand Total
Disability
Physical disability
Learning disability
Mental health
Sensory
Sexual orientation
Heterosexual
Homosexual
Bisexual
Undisclosed
Grand Total

Number
168
983
4426
960
6537
Number
5409
131
505
145
74
273
6537
Number
4363
2056
118
6537
Number
125
50
68
33
Number
1426
34
49
5028
6537

2015/16
%
2.57
15.04
67.71
14.68
%
82.74
2
7.73
2.22
1.13
4.18
%
66.74
31.45
1.81
%
1.91
0.76
1.04
0.5
%
21.81
0.52
0.752
76.92

Number
74
870
4194
969
6107
Number
5129
113
432
120
64
249
6107
Number
4049
1972
86
6107
Number
123
45
62
32
Number
1235
25
33
4814
6107
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2014/15
%
1.21
14.23
68.75
15.8
%
84
1.84
7.06
1.96
1.04
4.15
%
66.24
32.26
1.48
%

Number
70
576
3956
946
5548
Number
4738
95
329
101
57
228
5548
Number
3585
1898
65
5548
Number

%
1.26
10.38
71.3
17.1

Number

%

%
85.4
1.71
5.93
1.82
1.03
4.11
%
64.6
34.2
1.17
%

2
0.7
1
0.5
%
20
0.41
0.54
79.05

Summary of Performance for Surrey and Borders Employed Staff
Age band
16 – 20
21 – 25
26 – 30
31 - 35
36 - 40
41 - 45
46 - 50
51 - 55
56 - 60
61 - 65
66 - 70
71 & above
Grand Total
Ethnic origin
White British
White Irish
White Any Other White Background
Mixed White & Black Caribbean
Mixed White & Black African
Mixed White & Asian
Mixed Any Other Mixed Background
Asian or Asian British Indian
Asian or Asian British Pakistani
Asian or Asian British Bangladeshi
Asian or Asian British Any Other Asian
Black or Black British Caribbean
Black or Black British African
Black or Black British Any Other Black
Chinese
Any Other Ethnic Group
Not Stated
Grand Total
Gender
Female
Male
Grand Total
Disabled
No
Yes
Not Declared
Unknown
Grand Total
Sexual orientation
Bisexual
Gay
Lesbian
Heterosexual
Not Declared
Unknown
Grand Total

Staff 2016/17
Number
%
7
0.3%
91
3.8%
293.5
12.2%
275
11.4%
241.5
10.0%
325.5
13.5%
353
14.7%
396
16.5%
257.5
10.7%
116.5
4.8%
40.5
1.7%
7
0.3%
2404
Number
%
1444.5
60.1%
57
2.4%
218
9.1%
6.5
0.3%
8.5
0.4%
27
1.1%
28.5
1.2%
73.5
3.1%
26.5
1.1%
4.5
0.2%
137
5.7%
42
1.7%
198.5
8.3%
18
0.7%
12
0.5%
82
3.4%
20
0.8%
2404
Number
%
1796.5
74.7%
607.5
25.3%
2404
Number
%
2104.5
87.5%
147.5
6.1%
148
6.2%
4
0.2%
2404
Number
%
15
0.6%
24.5
1.0%
16
0.7%
2044.5
85.0%
304
12.6%
0
0%
2404
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Staff 2015/16
Number
%
4
0.2
73
3.3
165
7.4
234
10.5
248
11.1
337
15.1
359
16.1
387
17.3
266
11.9
115
5.1
42
1.9
6
0.3
2236
Number
%
1323
59.2
47
2.1
202
9
5
0.2
9
0.4
27
1.2
24
1.1
70
3.1
26
1.2
5
0.2
135
6
36
1.6
202
9
18
0.8
11
0.5
81
3.6
15
0.7
2236
Number
%
1638
73.3
598
26.7
2236
Number
%
1968
88
121
5.4
143
6.4
4
0.2
2236
Number
%
10
0.4
21
0.9
16
0.7
1861
83.2
324
14.5
4
0.2
2236

Staff 2014/15
Number
%
6
0.3
63
2.9
138
6.3
196
8.9
251
11.4
333
15.1
372
16.9
398
18.1
263
11.9
143
6.5
36
1.6
3
0.1
2202
Number
%
1302
59.1
44
2
205
9.3
6
0.3
7
0.3
24
1.1
25
1.1
77
3.5
21
1
5
0.2
141
6.4
29
1.3
180
8.2
21
1
13
0.6
90
4.1
12
0.5
2202
Number
%
1583
71.9
619
28.1
2202
Number
%
1903
86.4
125
5.7
164
7.4
10
0.5
2202
Number
%
9
0.4
21
1
16
0.7
1786
81.1
367
16.7
3
0.1
2202

Code of Governance
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has applied the principles of the
NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance on a comply or explain basis. The NHS
Foundation Trust Code of Governance, most recently revised in July 2014, is based on the
principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code issued in 2012.

Board of Directors
Surrey and Borders Partnership currently has six Non Executive Directors (including the
Chairman) and six Executive Directors (including the Chief Executive) who are members of
the Trust Board. One additional Executive Director attends Board meetings. In 2016/17 the
Board reviewed its capacity and capability for the next phase in our organisational
development and agreed to refresh and reorganise the structure of our Executive Director
roles. This included the creation of a Chief Operating Officer, a new voting Board position,
from 1 April 2017. This post will be complemented by the appointment of an additional
Non Executive Director in spring 2017, in line with our constitution, so that Non Executives
remain in the majority on the Board.
The Board of Directors is responsible for the management of the Trust and for ensuring
corporate governance, performance and operational standards are upheld. Risks to the
delivery of our strategic objectives are monitored through a Board Assurance Framework
that identifies the controls, the gaps in the controls, where assurances can be found and
the gaps in assurances. Surrey and Borders Partnership complies with the provisions of the
NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance. The Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of its system of internal controls.
In the reporting year we have implemented the recommendations from PwC’s follow up
review to their independent Well Led Governance review completed in February 2016.
PwC does not have any other connection to the Trust.
The performance of the Executive Directors is managed through our appraisal and
supervision policy and is reported for discussion at the Remuneration and Terms of Service
Committee. The Council of Governors appoints a Nominations Committee which
undertakes the same function of performance evaluation for the Non Executive Directors.
The Board of Directors is held to account by the Council of Governors.
The Board of Directors consults on its future strategy and develops its annual plans with
the close involvement of its Council of Governors. Twice yearly, joint workshops with the
Board and Governors are held to reflect on progress against plans and to discuss priorities
for the coming year. The key role of the Council of Governors is to influence our strategic
direction, taking into account the needs and views of the members, stakeholders and
partners. Any disagreements between the Council of Governors and Board of Directors are
resolved by the Chairman in the first instance. If necessary, the Chairman will appoint a
joint special committee with a view to resolving any disagreements. If this is unsuccessful,
the Chairman may refer the issue back to the Board of Directors for a final decision.
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The membership of the Board of Directors will continue to be regularly reviewed by the
Board of Directors and members of the Nominations Committee, which includes Trust
Governors, to ensure that it is well balanced and covers the full range of expertise required
by a Foundation Trust. Through self-assessment, the Board believes that it currently has a
good mix of commercial and financial knowledge, management and clinical experience,
public sector expertise and community engagement. Terms of office for Non Executive
Directors may be ended by resolution of the Council of Governors, following a procedure
laid down in the Foundation Trust’s constitution.

Non Executive Directors
Ian McPherson, Chairman
Appointed in March 2017, initial term of office three years. A clinical
psychologist by professional background who has held senior clinical,
managerial and policy implementation roles in a career working across
many aspects of health and social care. Since finishing full-time
employment, Ian has been involved with a number of organisations in
the statutory and voluntary sectors. This includes Non Executive
Director at another mental health NHS Foundation Trust, where he was also Vice Chair,
and being a Trustee of the Centre for Mental Health, the Mental Health Providers Forum,
and of the International Initiative in Mental Health Leadership. Qualifications: MA in
Psychology, University of Glasgow; MSc in Clinical Psychology, University of Birmingham;
PhD in Psychology, University of Birmingham; Fellow of the British Psychological Society.
Awarded the OBE for services to mental health in 2012
Jon Bye, Non Executive Director
Appointed in April 2015, initial term of office three years. Currently
works for Sainsbury’s as Zone Manager Director for South of England,
having previously held the post of Central Retail Director and further
director roles in customer service, online and strategy. Prior to this, Jon
had a 10 year Career in Management Consultancy with Accenture and
Cap Gemini. Qualifications: BSc (Hons) Business Studies and Public
Policy Management
Andy Field, Non Executive Director
Appointed in June 2015, initial term of office three years. Member of
Audit, Quality and Remuneration and Terms of Service Committees.
Worked in the Ministry of Defence for 19 years, followed by a variety of
private sector roles, including Partner in Deloitte and Business Unit
Director in Fujitsu. Previously a Non Executive Director of the Centre for
Environment, Fisheries, and Aquaculture Science. Currently running an
advisory business, helping organisations overcome difficulties in organisational change,
digital transformation and technology programmes. Qualifications: BSc (Hons) Applied
Science; MSc Design of Information Systems; SPC Accredited Mediator (School of
Psychotherapy and Counselling, Regents College)
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Leslie Morphy, Non Executive Director
Appointed in April 2015, initial term of office three years. Leslie’s career is
in the not-for-profit sector, including in a social enterprise, charities and a
non departmental government body. Formerly, Chief Executive of
homeless charity Crisis UK and Director of The Prince’s Trust. Since leaving
Crisis UK in 2014, she has held non executive posts in organisations
involved in health, housing and education. Chair of Governors of Oxford
Brookes University; Non Executive Director for the Home Group Housing Association; Chair
of Pathway, a charity working to provide better healthcare for homeless people.
Qualifications: BSc in Economics, London School of Economics; MSc, Birkbeck University of
London. Awarded an OBE for services to homelessness in 2011
Mark Perry, Non Executive Director
Appointed in November 2011, renewed in November 2014, term of
office three years. Appointed Senior Independent Director in June 2015.
Chief Executive with Sentinel Housing Association, a locally run not-forprofit organisation supporting people in Hampshire. Previously Mark
was Group Commercial Director with Affinity Sutton, leading on
identifying opportunities for the group to broaden and expand its offer
into new markets as well as mergers and acquisitions. Previously Mark worked in the
commercial sector. Qualifications: MBA
Laurence Vine-Chatterton, Non Executive Director
Appointed in April 2011, renewed in April 2014, term of office three
years. Chairman of Audit Committee. Laurence’s previous professional
experience includes working for Price Waterhouse in London and
Canada. His commercial and managerial experience includes senior
financial positions with Adwest, Caradon and Federal Mogul in the UK, as
well as with Nokia in Germany. His last role was as Chief Executive of
Intermet Europe, based in Germany. Laurence is a Non Executive
Director of Sintercast AB, a public company in Sweden, and Trustee-Treasurer of the
Arboricultural Association, a national charity. Qualifications: BA in Geography, University
of Sussex. Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales

Executive Directors
Fiona Edwards, Chief Executive
Appointed to post in April 2005 and Chief Executive-designate since
November 2004. Fiona has led the Trust through a successful merger,
becoming a Foundation Trust and forging innovative partnerships to
deliver our clinical strategy. Her health service career began in 1994 at
West Berkshire Priority Care Services NHS Trust, where she was
Executive Director responsible for human resources and major change
programmes. Fiona’s private sector career spanned 10 years within the
manufacturing sector as a human resources professional. Chair of Cruse Bereavement
Care. Qualifications: MA in English, University of St Andrews. Post-graduate professional
qualifications in Personnel Management. INSEAD Advanced General Management
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Helen Rostill, Director of Innovation, Development and Therapies
Appointed to post in December 2014 after joining the Trust in October
2012 as Director of Innovation and Therapies. Helen is a consultant
clinical psychologist and began her career in learning disability services,
followed by roles in the National Schizophrenia Fellowship and a multiagency child, young people and family service. She was a senior lecturer
in clinical psychology at the University of Birmingham for 10 years.
Qualifications: BSc (First Class Hons) in Psychology, University of
Birmingham. Awarded Clinical Doctorate (Clin PsyD) in 1997, Postgraduate Diploma in
Strategic Management and Leadership
Graham Wareham, Chief Finance Officer
Appointed to post in February 2016. Previously Chief Finance Officer at
Leonard Cheshire Disability, where Graham worked closely with the Chief
Executive to develop future plans and manage day to day performance.
He started his career in 1995 with British Airways and then food retailer,
Safeway, working across a wide number of finance roles, including supply
chain, retail and change management, and has played a significant role in
implementing efficiency projects. Qualifications: BA in Economics, Leeds
University; MA in Transport Economics, Leeds University. Member of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants
Justin Wilson, Medical Director
Appointed to post in November 2016 following a year with the Trust as
Co-Medical Director. Previously Medical Director of Berkshire
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, a mental health and community
trust, for over six years. He has worked as a consultant psychiatrist in a
variety of NHS and independent settings, particularly within learning
disability services. Qualifications: MBBS 1996. MRCPsych 2000. Studied
medicine at Charing Cross and Westminster Medical School and trained
in psychiatry in Oxford and London
Jo Young, Director of Quality and Deputy Chief Executive (Nurse
Director)
Appointed to post in November 2011 and to the additional role of
Deputy Chief Executive in October 2014. Previously Director of
Operations for Surrey and Borders from 2007, following appointment as
Director of Learning Disability Services in April 2005. Jo’s NHS career
began in 1980 and she completed her training as a Registered Nurse for
People with Learning Disabilities in 1987. While Jo was working at
Loddon NHS Trust in North Hampshire, she completed her MSc and in 2011 completed the
King’s Fund Top Managers Programme. Qualifications: RN (LD), University of
Southampton; MSc Applied Psychology; BA (First Class Hons) Business Studies
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Governance Committees
Our Governance Committees provide assurance and focus to key work programmes for the
Board during the year. The Trust Board keeps its governance arrangements under constant
review to ensure they remain fit for purpose. A formal review is undertaken at least on an
annual basis.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is charged with monitoring the effectiveness of our activities,
controls and assurance processes of financial control and to bring to the Executive Board
any items of concern. This effectiveness can be described in five broad categories of:
integrated governance, performance, controls, value for money and probity.
The Audit Committee considered the valuation of our property and land and income
recognition as significant audit risks in terms of their impact on our financial statements.
Given the value of the Trust’s land and buildings, the Committee has endorsed work
carried out to confirm the accuracy of the estates database ahead of professional
valuation.
Our main source of income is the provision of healthcare services to the public under
contracts with NHS commissioners. Given the materiality in value of contracts with
commissioners, this was identified as an ongoing risk in 2016/17. The Trust participates in
the national Agreement of Balances exercise. The Agreement of Balances exercise
identifies mismatches between income and expenditure and receivable and payable
balances recognised by the Trust and its commissioners and all differences are investigated
by the finance team.
The Audit Committee considered the definition in IAS 1, which requires materiality to be
judged ‘in the surrounding circumstances’, and determined that, from the viewpoint of
both the Trust and the charitable fund, non-consolidation is not material. The Charitable
Funds statutory accounts will continue to be prepared to 31 March in accordance with the
UK Charities Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP), which is based on UK Financial
Reporting Standard (FRS)102.
The work of our internal auditors has moved during the year to a more risk based
approach and, as expected, this has increased the number of limited audit opinions but
there has been good progress in implementing internal audit recommendations and the
Head of Internal Audit has provided a reasonable assurance opinion in his annual report.
The Council of Governors appointed KPMG as our external auditors, following a rigorous
tender process, in 2013/14, for a three year term. KPMG have been successfully
reappointed, following a renewed tender process, for a further three years, with the
option of a one or two year extension. The annual fee will be £73,250.
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The external auditors have attended the Council’s Audit Panel during the year to discuss
their annual audit letter and provide assurance on the action taken in response to
recommendations.

Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee advises the Trust Board about appropriate appointment and
remuneration for the Non Executive Directors. In relation to the remuneration and terms
of appointment for the Chairman and Non Executive Directors, recommendations are
made to the Trust Board and then the Council of Governors to ensure they are in line with
our reward strategy. The Committee also receives reports on behalf of the Council of
Governors on the process and outcome of the appraisal for the Chairman and Non
Executive Directors.

Quality Committee
Our quarterly Quality Committee meetings provide a robust governance programme to
assure the Board and Council of Governors that the essential standards of quality and
safety are being delivered and that quality processes and learning are embedded
throughout our organisation. The Committee receives reports giving a detailed annual
review of specific functions and programmes, as well as providing triangulated reports
across services. Membership includes people who use services and carers.
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Attendance at Meetings
Name

Richard Greenhalgh*
Ian McPherson^
Jon Bye
Andy Field
Leslie Morphy
Mark Perry~
Laurence Vine-Chatterton
Fiona Edwards
Rachel Hennessy**
Helen Rostill
Graham Wareham
Justin Wilson
Jo Young

Board
9 meetings

Audit
Remuneration
Committee
Committee
4 meetings
3 meetings
Non Executive Directors
8 (Chair)
3
1 (Chair)
0
4
1
7
4
3
7
4
1
7
1
3 (Chair)
7
4 (Chair)
3
Executive Directors
9
5
9
8
8
8
Governors

Nominations
Committee
9 meetings

Quality
Committee
4 meetings

5 (Chair)
1 (Chair)
3
3
4 (Chair)
9 (4)

2
2

4
4

Sally Brady
8
4
Elaine Braithwaite –
9
Deputy Lead Governor
Sean Fernandez
5
Tracey Hayes
9
Don Illman – Lead
8
Governor
Pattie Lopez+
0
Karen Murray
6
* Term of office concluded 28 February 2017
^ Term of office commenced 1 March 2017
~Mark Perry, as Senior Independent Director, chaired Nominations Committee meetings in relation to our
chair recruitment
** Retired 3 November 2016
+
Resigned 23 June 2016
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Council of Governors
Our Council of Governors has 31 Governors, 25 of whom are elected. These are made up
from the following constituencies:

All Governors are elected for a three year period. They can hold office for up to nine years,
subject to being re-elected after each three year period. During 2016/17 one staff
Governor resigned (Health and Care Assistants) and one public Governor resigned from the
people who use other services constituency. In January 2017, we started work to promote
our Governor elections that related to 22 of the 25 public and staff seats. The election
period concluded in April 2017 with contested elections in all constituencies except for
three. All seats have been filled and the new Council of Governors became operational
from 1 May 2017.
In the year we celebrated the outstanding contribution of four of our Governors who have
now stood for the maximum of three terms over a nine year period. Governors have been
represented in our key development programmes this year, including our 24/7 Hospital
Redevelopment, our Single Point of Access for Crisis Mental Health service and our
Community Hubs.
The Governors are able to canvass opinion of the Trust’s members and the public at our
regular members’ events and annual members’ meeting, our quarterly Council of
Governors meetings and through the wider networks that they are part of within their
local communities.
The Board of Directors attends all Council of Governor meetings and Annual Members’
Meetings to develop an understanding of the views of Governors and members. Periodic
surveys of members are also undertaken to seek their opinions on specific topics.
Register of Interests
We maintain a Register of Interests for Governors that is open to the public through the
Director of Governance and Planning, Julie Gaze, on 01372 216293 or
julie.gaze@sabp.nhs.uk.
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Composition of Council of Governors and Attendance at Council of
Governor Meetings for the Period 1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017
Class

Name

No of
council
meetings
eligible
Public Constituency – People who live in the communities we serve
East & Mid Surrey
Sally Brady
4
East & Mid Surrey
Jacqueline Clark
4
East & Mid Surrey
Charles Wood
4
NW & SW Surrey
Michael Bell
4
NW & SW Surrey
Lyn Day
4
NW & SW Surrey
June Richards
4
Hampshire & Rest of England
Terry Mead
4
Hampshire & Rest of England
Mike Nolan
4
Public Constituency – People who use services and carers
Learning Disability
David Muir
4
Learning Disability
Pauline Wicks
4
Other Services
Alex Farkouh
2
Other Services
Amy Hatton (resigned July 2016)
1
Other Services
Tracey Hayes
4
Other Services
Don Illman - Lead Governor
4
Other Services
Karen Murray
4
Other Services
Edmund O’Leary
4
Carers
Elaine Braithwaite - Deputy Lead Governor
4
Carers
Rosemary Moore
4
Carers
Ian Stronge
4
Staff Constituency
Medical and Dental
Sean Fernandez
4
Qualified Nursing
Phil Boulter
4
Health and Care Assistants
Pattie Lopez (resigned June 2016)
1
Therapies
Anna Preston
4
Approved Social Workers
Vanessa Henry-Steinfort
4
Admin, Managerial and Facilities Martin Clark
4
Appointed Governors
Surrey County Council
Denis Fuller
4
Margaret Hicks
4
Hampshire County Council
Roz Chadd
4
Borough Councils
Michael Smith (resigned May 2016)
0
Isuelt Roche (appointed July 2016)
3
Action for Carers
Hasu Ramji
4
Surrey Police
Jeff Harris (resigned May 2016)
0
Sam Meyer (appointed June 2016)
3
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No of
council
meetings
attended
4
3
3
4
3
1
2
4
4
4
2
0
4
4
2
2
4
3
4
3
4
0
3
3
3
1
3
0
0
2
4
0
2

Director Attendance at Council of Governor Meetings 2016/17
Name

No of
council
meetings
eligible

No of
council
meetings
attended

1
3
4
4
4
4
4

1
3
1
2
4
3
4

4
2
4
4
4
4

4
1
3
4
3
3

Non Executive Directors
Ian McPherson
Richard Greenhalgh
Jon Bye
Andy Field
Leslie Morphy
Mark Perry
Laurence Vine-Chatterton
Executive Directors
Fiona Edwards
Rachel Hennessy
Helen Rostill
Graham Wareham
Justin Wilson
Jo Young

Membership
We offer Foundation Trust membership as an opportunity for people to understand and
get involved with the work we do, particularly local people with an interest in mental
health and learning disability services across Surrey, Hampshire and neighbouring counties.
On 31 March 2017 the public membership total stood at 6,537. The membership is largely
representative of the communities we serve; further details are available on page 48 of
this report.
Constituency

Eligibility

Number of members

Public Constituency – People who live in the communities we serve
NW & SW Surrey

Resident of NW or SW Surrey

East & Mid Surrey

Resident of East or Mid Surrey

Hampshire & Rest of England

Resident of Hampshire or
residing in England

2648
1456
1500

Public Constituency – People who use services and carers
Learning Disability
Other Services
Carers

Someone who uses learning
disability services

209

Someone who uses other
Trust services

285

A carer or family member of
someone who uses services

439

There are six classes within the staff constituency and staff are aligned to one of these
classes dependent upon their role. All staff employed by the Trust continuously or on a
fixed-term contract of more than 12 months automatically become members unless they
choose to opt out. When a staff member leaves the Trust they are asked if they wish to
become a public member.
59

On 31 March 2017 the staff membership total stood at 2,581, including staff from Surrey
and Hampshire County Council working in our services.
We have revised the timescale for our membership recruitment target to achieve 7,000
public members by April 2018. To support the recruitment of new members, the Council of
Governors’ Membership Development Group will meet in May and November 2017.
Together, the group monitors the growth and retention of Trust membership by
developing ideas and assessing progress against the strategy. During 2016 we introduced a
guide for membership recruitment for Governors that gives an overview of Trust
membership information and can be used to support Governors in active recruitment of
new members.
Over the last 12 months, our membership has grown by 430 new members. Work to
recruit new members and retain existing ones continues to include strengthening our
relationships with local community organisations, involving partners in the recruitment of
new members and growing recruitment from under-represented groups. In 2016/17, we
attended three local freshers’ fayres and two career fayres for school-aged children,
resulting in an increase in our membership in the 14-21 years age bracket.
Our membership events continue to be successful and have benefitted from a significant
increase in attendance, with 517 people attending seven events in 2016/17. For the
coming year, we have developed a new programme of members’ events with topics
including Dementia Care Innovations, Support for Carers, Adult Mental Health Conditions
and Understanding Autism and ADHD (Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder).
Currently members who wish to communicate with either a Trust Governor or Director can
do so by contacting the Director of Governance and Planning in the first instance.
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NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight
Framework
NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework provides the framework for overseeing
providers and identifying potential support needs. The framework looks at five themes:
 Quality of care
 Finance and use of resources
 Operational performance
 Strategic change
 Leadership and improvement capability (well-led)
Based on information from these themes, providers are segmented from 1 to 4, where 4
reflects providers receiving the most support and 1 reflects providers with maximum
autonomy. A Foundation Trust will only be in segments 3 or 4 where it has been found to
be in breach or suspected breach of its licence.
The Single Oversight Framework applied from Quarter 3 of 2016/17. Prior to this,
Monitor’s Risk Assessment Framework (RAF) was in place. Information for the prior year
and first two quarters relating to the RAF has not been presented, as the basis of
accountability was different. This is in line with NHS Improvement’s guidance for annual
reports.

Segmentation
NHS Improvement has placed the Trust in segment 2 and it has not been found to have
been in breach or suspected breach of its licence.
This segmentation information is the Trust’s position as at 20 April 2017. Current
segmentation information for NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts is published on the NHS
Improvement website.

Finance and Use of Resources
The finance and use of resources theme is based on the scoring of five measures from 1 to
4, where 1 reflects the strongest performance. These scores are then weighted to give an
overall score. This is different from the scoring used for the financial sustainability risk
rating (FSRR) metric used prior to October 2016, where ‘4’ reflected the strongest
performance over just four measures.
Given that finance and use of resources is only one of the five themes feeding into the
Single Oversight Framework, the segmentation of the Trust disclosed above (2) might not
be the same as the overall finance score shown below.
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Area
Financial
sustainability
Financial
efficiency
Financial
controls

Metric

2016/17 Q3
score
1

Capital service
capacity
Liquidity
I&E margin
Distance from
financial plan
Agency spend

Overall scoring

2016/17 Q4
score
1

1
2

1
1

2

1

2
2

2
1

The Trust ended the year with an indicative finance and use of resources score of 1, which
is an excellent result.
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Statement of Accounting Officer’s
Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting
Officer of the NHS Foundation Trust. The relevant responsibilities of the Accounting
Officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public finances, for
which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts are set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by NHS Improvement.
NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor by the National Health
Service Act 2006, has given Accounts Directions that require Surrey and Borders
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of
accounts in the form and on the basis required by those Directions. The accounts are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure,
total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual and, in particular, to:
 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS Improvement, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis
 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis
 State whether applicable accounting standards, as set out in the NHS Foundation
Trust Annual Reporting Manual (and the Department of Health Group Accounting
Manual), have been followed and disclose and explain any material departures in
the financial statements
 Ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated
authorities and guidance
 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis
The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust
and to enable him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in
the above mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the NHS Foundation Trust and, hence, for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set
out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.
Signed

Fiona Edwards, Chief Executive
25 May 2017
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Annual Governance Statement
Scope of Responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am
personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also
responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation Trust is administered prudently and
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I acknowledge my
responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.
The Purpose of the System of Internal Control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than
to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can, therefore,
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of
internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks
to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of Surrey and Borders Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically. The system of internal control has been in place in Surrey and Borders
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of
approval of the annual report and accounts.
Capacity to Handle Risk
The Trust Board has overall responsibility for strategic risks. It defines risk tolerance levels,
approval of the process to manage the risks and the assessment and the monitoring of the
efficiency of the risks, to ensure the public interest is protected.
In July 2016, the Trust Board approved its risk appetite as follows:
“We believe that the management of risk is everyone’s responsibility. Good risk
management underpins the quality of our services for people. Our ambition is to be the
best. We want people who use our services and their families to feel and be safe in our care
due to our robust risk management arrangements. We want staff to be proud and feel safe
to work for us and feel confident and supported in their positive risk taking and
management of risk.
We know that not all risks can be avoided or eliminated. Where it is not possible we will
accept risks where all possible action to improve the controls has been undertaken and
further action is not cost effective or reasonable.
Subject to controls and assurances being in place we will tolerate risks which fall within our
risk appetite. Each risk category will have an agreed risk score trigger (calculated using the
5x5 matrix) as shown in the table below. Risks which exceed the trigger will be reviewed as
part of the high level risk register at the Safety Huddle. Others may be escalated if deemed
appropriate by the relevant Director.”
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Risk category
Risk of harm to people who use our services and their
carers/family
Risk of harm to our employees
Risk to the financial security of the organisation
Risk to the reputation and brand of the organisation

Risk score trigger
8
8
12
12

The Chief Executive (as Accountable Officer) chairs and leads the Executive Board, which
defines the Risk Management Strategy and supporting policies and has full control of the
risk management system. The Executive Board makes strategic decisions regarding
possible further implementation and development, manages high level risks and ensures
the existence of efficient and effective risk mitigation measures and controls.
The Quality Committee is chaired by a Non Executive Director and has delegated authority
from the Board to:
 Monitor and provide assurance on the quality of our services, ensuring compliance
with the regulatory bodies, for example NHS Improvement, the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) and NHS Resolution
 Ensure the risks to the delivery of quality services are identified, prioritised and
actions taken to mitigate them within the risk appetite of the Trust
 Receive assurance on the sharing of learning from serious incidents (SIs)
 Review the Quality Accounts prior to submission to the Board of Directors, focusing
on the governance and assurance processes being followed in their generation
 Agree the annual plan and review the work of the clinical audit team and consider
the implications and management responses from their work
The Committee reports to the Trust Board and receives reports from the:
 Mental Health Act Committee
 Trust’s Scrutiny Panel
 Health, Safety and Wellbeing Committee
 Complaints and Patient Advice and Liaison Service
 Research and Development and Clinical Audit Programmes
The Audit Committee is formed of three Non Executive Directors and has delegated
authority from the Board to:
 Review the establishment and maintenance of an effective system of integrated
governance, risk management and internal control across the whole of the
organisation’s activities (both clinical and non-clinical)
 Ensure there is an effective internal audit function that meets mandatory NHS
Internal Audit Standards and provides appropriate independent assurance
 Review the work of the external auditor and consider the implications and
management responses from their work
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 Review the findings of other significant assurance functions, both internally and
externally, and consider the implications to the governance of the organisation
 Review reports and positive assurances from Directors and managers on the overall
arrangements for governance, risk management and internal control
The Risk and Control Framework
Our Risk Management Strategy and Policy are based on the principle that it is impossible to
eradicate risks, so they must be identified and minimised in a manner that provides staff
with the confidence that the organisation seeks to learn and not to blame when incidents
occur.
The Risk Management Strategy is underpinned by policies and processes that allow all staff
to proactively identify and manage risks, incidents and near misses as they occur and to
ensure learning from these takes place and is embedded.
Our Risk Management Strategy was approved in November 2014 and is currently under
review to ensure we are fully aligned to the International Standard for Risk Management
ISO3100. The strategy will also reflect an updated risk register format that will enable us to
strengthen governance processes for the management, review and monitoring of risks
from ward to Board.
The Incident Management (including serious incident) Policy was updated in July 2015 and
will be further reviewed to ensure continued alignment to the national Serious Incident
Framework. The Incident Management Policy clearly outlines the process of reporting
incidents electronically through the Trust’s electronic risk management system.
We have a fully paperless incident reporting and risk escalation process, which allows for
tracking of outcomes from action taken following the reporting or escalation of a clinical
and corporate incident or risk, including data security risks. Real-time reporting has
enabled prompt resolution of risks escalated in clinical and corporate areas, including data
security.
Cyber security is a growing concern for us with a number of associated risks to the
confidentiality, integrity and availability of both corporate and patient data. A successful
cyber-attack has the potential to affect patient care and general service provision.
Therefore, in 2016/17 we commissioned a thorough review of our cyber security
arrangements, with partners where infrastructure is shared.
In order to mitigate against this threat, we have raised the profile of cyber security with a
number of key actions:
 Raising the risk of cyber-attacks at a senior level
 Conducting internal audit looking at the vulnerability of key systems
 Conducting technical audit of environment to understand potential vulnerabilities
 Recruited a Network & Security Specialist to take responsibility for technical security
controls
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 Providing regular communications to staff on how to protect the Trust and
themselves from cyber-attack
A further review is planned for 2017/18, with the expectation that we will join the national
Care Cert programme for cyber security and further embed best practice within the
organisation.
In 2016 we were prosecuted by the Health and Safety Executive, following the sad death of
a person using our inpatient services on the Epsom Hospital site in May 2014, at which we
pleaded guilty. We await the outcome of the sentencing which is scheduled for summer
2017.
Board Assurance
The Board Assurance Framework is developed by the Trust’s Executive Board and the Trust
Board. Its purpose is to ensure that the Board focuses on the risks to delivery of the
strategic objectives. The Board Assurance Framework format was reviewed by the Audit
Committee to ensure it remains ‘relevant and effective’ for this organisation at its meeting
in September 2015. The Board Assurance Framework is informed by, and linked to, the
Trust’s High Level Risk Register. The Framework is reviewed regularly by the Board to
ensure reporting to the Board continues to provide sufficient assurance on the mitigation
of risks to its strategic objectives.
People who use services, carers and two Governors are on our Quality Committee. There
are no representatives on our Audit Committee and the Remuneration and Terms of
Service Committee. The Audit Committee provides support to the Governor’s Audit Panel
to appoint the Trust’s external auditors. In addition, the Trust has a Forum of Carers and
people who Use Services (FoCUS), which raises any issues of concern and has a work
programme that holds the Trust to account for any improvements and has integrated
arrangements with Surrey CAMHS Youth Advisors (CYA) who provide feedback and get
involved on all aspects of our children’s mental health services.
The Trust Board identifies the risks to the delivery of its strategic objectives within its
Annual Plan. These are reflected in the Board Assurance Framework 2016/17.
The Trust Risk Register
We have a simplified process in place for the escalation of risks through the Trust’s risk
management system. This simplification and access to the risk module electronically has
enhanced the ability for clinical teams to escalate risks to the Board. There is greater
openness and transparency in the escalation and scrutiny of risks logged.
The high level risks are reviewed weekly at the Safety Huddle, formed of members of the
Executive Board, to ensure a focus on rapid mitigation of risks. The Executive Board
receives a risk report reflecting the themes and high-level risks at each meeting. The Trust
Board receives the risk report on a regular basis, thus demonstrating an embedded
continuous risk review process. Mitigating actions to address high-level risks are also
discussed on a weekly basis at the Trust’s Safety Huddle meeting, to provide regular
oversight and ensure actions are delivered.
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Specific actions to mitigate strategic risks were identified within the Annual Plan. Progress
against these in 2016/17 was monitored and reported to the Executive Board on a
quarterly basis as part of the Annual Plan Delivery Report. In addition, the Trust Board
receives a quarterly report. These reports consider the level of risk and award a
Red/Amber/Green rating to each risk. This report provides the basis for the Board of
Directors’ reporting to NHS Improvement and the Council of Governors on our progress
against the Annual Plan. Following the assessment of residual risk - after mitigating
controls, assurance and action plans have been applied - no risks have been identified as
‘High’ or ‘Red’ at year-end.
Thematic review of the Trust risk register highlights the following highest clinical risks
within our major operational risk themes:
 Recruitment and retention of staff - We continue to work to deliver our
commitment to safe staffing levels, by considering how we can continue to attract
individuals to accept offers of employment in our Trust and how we can ensure staff
feel engaged and supported in their roles, so that they are more likely to choose to
stay with us. There is the potential for difficulties in recruitment to impact upon
quality, safety and operational delivery of our services
 System pressure - There is increasing pressure throughout the health economy. This
includes challenges by working differently and in an integrated way through to
difficulties discharging people from inpatient services to appropriate community
services or placements, and this can lead to pressure on beds at the point of
admission. This has required us to introduce new service models, systems and
process to ensure people who use our services are able to access the most
appropropriate care for them, in partnership with others
 Mobilisation of Services - Opportunities and threats arising from the potential for

system change are likely to affect our short-term operational and governance
processes, through the on-boarding and off-boarding of services, and has the
potential for impacts to staff, patients and working relationships with partner
agencies as a result of service transition affecting the business, governance,
operational systems and processes required to deliver effective, high quality and
safe services
Risk Management Training
Throughout 2016/17 there was a comprehensive training programme for all appropriately
qualified staff. There is a comprehensive rolling three-year process to ensure a constant
supply of up-to-date programmes. Clinical risk training is available at corporate induction
for all new recruits and staff who are already in post who require the programme are also
encouraged to attend.
We have developed and implemented two clinical risk assessment e-learning programmes
– one for all clinically qualified staff and one for clinical support workers. These two elearning requirements are mandatory for all clinical staff and our compliance rate at the
end of March 2017 was 92.76% which is above the Board KPI of 90% compliance for
mandatory training.
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The Clinical Risk and Safety Team disseminates lessons learnt from serious incident
investigations to all staff through our weekly e-bulletin and by attending directorate
Quality Action Groups in addition to delivering bi-monthly lessons learnt sessions for staff.
Suicide prevention network events continue to be held quarterly, to share wider learning
from inquests and suicides in Surrey and nationally.
Our Quality House has again provided the
framework for our continuous quality
improvement set out in our Quality
Improvement Plan. It drives the agendas
for our core governance committees and
underpins our assurance processes. The
metrics for each pillar are constructed to
provide incremental continuous quality
improvements that over time actualise
our Trust values and quality ambitions.

Quality improvement and learning is sustained and protected by assurance and good
governance. Our quality assurance processes operate from our Board, supported by our
Quality Committee and Executive Board through our Directorate Management Teams and
Divisional Quality Assurance Groups to our front line and back.

Our ethical issues groups offer time for reflection and problem solving about complex
situations that often involve an apparent mental conflict between moral imperatives.
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To support our quality assurance work we have a number of sub-committees and groups
that are Trust-wide:

Carers Action Group

Forum of Carers and people who Use Services

Ligature Minimisation Group

Infection Prevention and Control Group

Medical Devices Committee

Equality and Human Rights Learning Set

Medicines Management Committee

Safe CARE – improvement programme

Positive CARE (positive and Safe)

Policy Assurance Group

Adult’s Safeguarding Committee

Children’s Safeguarding Committee

Health Safety & Well Being Committee

Information Governance Steering Group

Scrutiny Panel

Mental Health Act and MCA Committee

Mortality Assurance Group

Trust-wide Governance Groups

CARE Excellence Accreditation
We continue to aspire to be best in class as outlined in our Quality Plan. The Quality
Improvement approach we have embraced, of which our accreditation process is a part,
will lead to enhanced reliability of care processes leading to successful teams that will be
celebrated and rewarded with CARE Excellence Accreditation. The need to be more
ambitious, and further challenge our services to become outstanding, has led to the
creation of the CARE Excellence Accreditation process.
Foundation Standards reviews are the first step towards accreditation. All services have
undertaken a Foundation Standards self-assessment and peer review in 2016 and have
subsequently been given a rating which reflects the CQC rating process. The key is as
follows:
Rating
Outstanding

Scoring

Good

Score of 95% and achieved all mandatory standards

Requires Improvement

Score of below 95% and above 84% or score of 95% or above
but not achieving all the mandatory standards

Requires Significant
Improvement

Score of below 85%

The rationale for this is to ensure that key mandatory standards are given a higher
weighting. Although a service might have scored high for the other standards they couldn’t
achieve a ‘Good’ rating without meeting the mandatory areas.
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All services have an action plan from the Foundation Standards reviews to focus their
attention. Twelve services did not meet the minimum scoring of 85% for the peer review.
These were highlighted on the risk register until the re-review was completed and
improvements were made. The two remaining services rated as ‘Requiring Significant
Improvement’ both have their re-reviews booked in.
The following chart shows the ratings of all services for their peer or subsequent rereview:

Foundation Standards Ratings for all Services
45
40
35
30

Outstanding

25

Good

20

Requires Improvement

15

Requires Significant Improvement

No. of services

10
5
0

The CARE Excellence Accreditation pilot to move services from ‘Good’ to ‘Outstanding’ has
been successful, and four services to date have achieved accreditation with five more on
the way. These services are our Exemplar Services that have proved that they function well
above baseline expectations and involve people well and deliver good outcomes. Other
services can arrange visits to these services to see and share good practice.
Information Governance
Our Caldicott Guardian is our Chief Nursing Officer and Deputy Chief Executive. The Chief
Finance Officer is the Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO) on the Trust Board. The
Information Governance Steering Group, which meets monthly, oversees and ensures
performance in all components of Information Governance. We have identified the
Directorate Senior Information Risk Officers (SIROs) and asset owners. Information
governance risks are managed by staff through the use of information governance policies
and procedures, supported by a process of in-depth training, training on induction courses
and support materials available on our intranet.
There were three serious information governance incidents during 2016/17. One related to
the accidental sharing of data into and out of the Trust due to accidental actions from
some of our staff. The second incident was the theft of a desktop PC and the third incident
was about sending a spreadsheet containing a large amount of patient-identifiable data to
our commissioners by mistake.
71

The Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) was satisfied with our actions and required
nothing more in all three cases. We received six ICO complaints relating to subject access
requests or subject rights under the Data Protection Act 1998. We are pleased to report
that the ICO accepted our actions and required nothing further for all the cases.
Our Information Governance Assessment Report overall score for 2016/17 was 88% and
was graded ‘Green’, whilst our auditors considered us to have ‘substantial assurance’ for
Information Governance.
Equality and Human Rights
Monitoring of our performance against our equality and human rights objectives is
included within our reporting to the Executive Board as part of our quality indicators. The
Trust publishes an Annual Information Report which brings together the key headlines
from our previously published information and analysis of the experiences of staff and
people who use our services with protected characteristics.
Equality analysis is embedded within the Trust’s policy, procedure and guidelines and in
development and approvals processes.
During spring 2016, we undertook the Department of Health’s Equality Delivery System 2
assessment, to highlight areas for focus in the development of our equality objectives for
2016-2020. We also engaged staff and stakeholders in helping us to develop our new
objectives and the targets against each of these, which were approved by the Executive
Board in December 2016. Progress against annual targets for each of the six objectives is
monitored by the Chief Nurse’s Directorate Management Team.
Implementation of the Accessible Information Standard was another area of focus for
2016/17, to ensure that people with disabilities and sensory impairments can
communicate with us and receive information in their preferred format. This work
included developing a communications alert within our electronic health records system,
adding key communications needs questions to our online assessment form and
developing good practice examples of care plans and discharge summaries in easy read
formats. Operational divisions and clinical teams were monitored on fulfilling their own
plans to ensure information is in formats that are accessible for people who use services
through a key performance indicator with a year-end rating of ‘Good’.
Care Quality Commission
Healthcare Services
The CQC carried out inspections using the new framework between February 2016 and
March 2017.
We received an overall rating of ‘Requires Improvement’ from the February 2016
Comprehensive Healthcare inspection. We have 14 ‘Requirement Notices’ (breaches of
regulation) themed into 11 key areas:
 Visibility of incidents and complaints at our Board
 Incident management and learning lessons
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 Medicines management, storage and recording
 Recording of risk
 Consistency of training
 Consistency of supervision and appraisal
 Updating policies in line with national changes
 Crisis Line response times
 Nurse call alarms
 Single sex accommodation
 Environment - confidentiality
98% of the action plan is complete and we are working on embedding all the quality
improvements.
We have also experienced the following healthcare inspections in this time period:
 November 2016 – unannounced focused inspection at Farnham Road Hospital (safe
domain). We do not receive a rating for these inspections. The CQC made two
improvement action recommendations that we are implementing
 February 2017 – planned drug and alcohol services inspection for Surrey, Hounslow
and Brighton services. We had not received the draft report for this inspection at
the time of writing
Social Care Services
Since April 2016, a multitude of actions have been progressed in response to the CQC
inspections of our adult residential social care services. These include:
 Two new service managers recruited to lead our social care homes
 Six homes, including Brook House, have new managers in post
 Circles of Support and Observational Workers are in place to support managers
through the changes
 Significant environmental improvements have been made in many of the homes
 Facilitators have been employed to enhance and develop individual opportunities
for people during the day, evening and weekends
 Roll-out of facilitated communication project across four homes
 Recruitment to a Practice Development post
As an outcome of all this work we now have eight homes rated as Good and three homes
rated ‘Requires Improvement’.
Each re-inspection so far has translated into a ‘Good’ rating with no emerging new themes
and we anticipate this outcome to continue to our three remaining homes with ‘Requires
Improvement’ ratings. Brook House in Ottershaw is yet to be inspected so does not
currently have a rating.
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Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the
registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission.
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary,
employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the
Scheme rules and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated, in
accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations.
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under
equality, diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.
We will continue to review risk assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans in
accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements, as based on
UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that our obligations under the Climate Change Act
and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are complied with.
Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Use of Resources
The Board ensures economy, efficiency and effectiveness through a variety of means,
including:
 A robust pay and non-pay budgetary control system, including monthly meetings
with budget managers across the divisions to review spend and monthly reporting
to the Executive Board on finances and value for money
 A range of effective and consistently applied financial controls
 Effective tendering and waiver procedures
 Robust workforce and establishment control processes
 Continuous review of service activity and improvements, service delivery and
modernisation
 A robust cost improvement programme ensuring that corporate and operational
units are effectively delivering the savings required and the best allocation of
resources
The Board ensures services are efficient and effective through its new CARE Excellence
Accreditation process and by ensuring our services maintain our registration. We have also
improved the frequency of direct feedback from people using our services, to further
improve care provision, through our patient experience trackers, Your Views Matter. The
Trust Board uses a walk-around programme for Directors and Governors to regularly visit
and inspect our sites, to ensure care standards are being met.
Our capital disposal programme prioritises sites that can be sold to fund future service
needs. Capital expenditure is prioritised for health and safety, ligature minimisation and
environmental improvement, before strategic developments are undertaken. A proportion
of our income in 2016/17 was conditional upon achieving quality improvement and
innovation goals.
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We agreed nine CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) indicators with the
main NHS Commissioners. Performance against these indicators is monitored at the NHS
contract meetings and internally at the Executive Board.
Regular staff and patient surveys are conducted, ensuring any recommendations are acted
upon and services improved. We have also developed an integrated experience report as a
vehicle for bringing together and sharing direct feedback from people who use our services
and their carers. A Trust Scrutiny Panel analyses any serious incidents to ensure lessons
can be learnt and appropriate remedial action plans are implemented.
Internal Audit ensures constant review of effective control processes are in place to deliver
best value for money. An annual work plan is agreed with the Audit Committee to ensure
areas of concern are addressed. Internal Audit noted that 99% of recommended actions
from their reviews had been completed by the due date.
Annual Quality Report
The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for each
financial year. NHS Improvement has issued guidance to NHS Foundation Trust boards on
the form and content of annual Quality Reports which incorporate the above legal
requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.
In 2016/17 the Board agreed, and the Council of Governors continued to use, a shared
quality key performance indicator dashboard. This provides a quarterly report to the Board
and Council of Governors on the our performance against those indicators the Board and
Council agree are of primary importance.
Learning from incidents is one of the many ways of ensuring continued improvement in
the quality of what the Trust does. Others include:
 Walk-arounds by members of the Trust Board and Governors to services, ensuring
each one is visited to provide opportunities for staff, people who use our services
and carers to tell Directors and Governors how things are from their perspective
 Adaption of ‘Your Views Matters’ surveys, providing people with an opportunity to
feed back about their experiences in alternative accessible versions
 Implementation of our in-house quality assessment tool, CARE Excellence
Accreditation, to increase the standards expected from all clinical teams
Throughout 2016/17, we have continued to develop our processes for scrutiny,
investigation and reporting of people’s deaths, led by our Medical Director.
This includes:
 Establishment of a Mortality Assurance Group
 Quarterly reports to the Board identifying learning and themes to inform our
practice development and, in some cases, those of system partners
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 Review of all unexpected deaths by the Medical Director and Clinical Risk and Safety
team
 Improved detection and reporting of deaths of people in contact with our liaison
and drug and alcohol services
 Review of serious incidents resulting in severe harm or death (January 2017) in the
context of national experience
Our approach, together with our focus on near misses and serious incidents, is helping to
ensure we are taking every opportunity to learn what further steps we can take to prevent
harm or death amongst people who use our services.
In preparing the Quality Report, Directors have taken steps to satisfy themselves that:
 The content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2016/17
 The content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external
sources of information including:
- Board minutes and papers for the period April 2016 to March 2017
- Papers relating to quality reported to the Board over the period April 2016 to
March 2017
- Feedback from the commissioners
- Feedback from the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
- Trust complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority
Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009
- 2016 national community patient survey
- 2016 national staff survey
- Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment
 The Quality Accounts present a balanced picture of the Trust’s performance over
the period covered however we have continued to experienced delays in some
areas to our ability to report our performance, including some of our Key
Performance Indicators as a result of our replacement of our previous clinical
information system, RiO with SystmOne in October 2015
 The performance information reported in the Quality Accounts is reliable and
accurate
 There are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures
of performance included in the Quality Report and these controls are subject to
review to confirm that they are working effectively in practice
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 The data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report
is robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed
definitions and is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and the Quality Report
has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting guidance (which
incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations, published at www.monitornhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual), as well as the standards to support data
quality for the preparation of the Quality Report (available at www.monitornhsft.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual)
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with
the above requirements in preparing the Quality Report.
Review of Effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is
informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the executive managers
and clinical leads within the NHS Foundation Trust who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the
content of the Quality Report attached to this Annual Report and other performance
information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the
external auditors in their management letter and other reports.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control by the Board and the Audit Committee and a plan to address
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.
My review is also informed by detailed reports from both internal and external audit and
feedback from NHS Improvement, the Care Quality Commission and NHSLA.
The Trust has maintained the registration of all its health and social care services. This is
closely monitored by the Executive Board. The essential standards are monitored through
our new Care Excellence Accreditation process.
Maintenance and review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control has been
provided by the comprehensive mechanisms already referred to in this Statement. These
include:
 Regular reports to the Trust Board using our Quality House framework and including
our risk theme report
 Annual Quality Report and Account
 Receipt of reports from key Trust forums and processes, including the Trust’s Audit
Committee and Quality Committee
 Monitoring of compliance against the essential standards of quality and safety
 Our internal, external and clinical audit programmes
 The ongoing development of the Assurance Framework and associated action plans
including the provision of exception reports to the Trust Board
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As a result, the following outcomes have been achieved:
 Regular review of the Board Assurance Framework and the High Level Risk Register
to ensure appropriate action plans are identified and implemented to minimise the
impact of risk across the Trust
 Embedded importance of the roles and relationships of the Quality and Audit
Committees in providing assurance to the Board, to reflect the organisation’s
development and enhance our ability to review trends and target the internal and
clinical audit plans, to review the processes and procedures to manage key risks
within the Trust
As part of the Internal Audit programme, a total of nine final reports have been issued to
date and a further four reports are at draft reporting stage. These reviews cover key
governance processes including: the use of agency staffing; nurse revalidation; quality and
safety assurance (including Circle of Support effectiveness); the handling of monies
belonging to those who use our services; the test bed site project; the Information
Governance toolkit; Electronic Staff Record and payroll; and the hard facilities
management outsourced project. From the final reports issued to date, overall the
committee has received three reviews offering ‘Limited Assurance’ and no audits have
established a ‘No Assurance’ opinion. Two of the final reports were not assigned a level of
assurance as they were operational and not assurance reviews. The areas that received
limited assurances are: monies and property belonging to those who use our services;
short notice site visits; and quality of services – outsourced services contracts. Action plans
have been developed to address the issues raised in these reports and are well progressed.
Two reviews carried out by Internal Audit were not assigned a level of assurance, as they
were not assurance audits. These were the Information Governance toolkit review and the
review of the Test Bed Site project.
Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified in the Annual Governance
Statement with the exception of the issues related to the delay in some of our reporting
ability arising from the implementation of our new clinical information system. This
reduced our ability to report on some of our key performance indicators from our new
information system in the first half of the year and we continued with limited proxy
(sample) alternative methods, whilst new reports from the clinical information system
were phased in over the third quarter of the year.
Signed

Fiona Edwards
Chief Executive
25 May 2017
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Quality
Report

Our Safe Haven in Aldershot won the 2016 HSJ Value in Healthcare award for
value and improvement in mental health
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Part One: Statement on Quality from
the Chief Executive
We were delighted to celebrate our eleventh birthday as an organisation and our eighth
year as a Foundation Trust in 2016/17. This year has been another of both some great
challenges as well as significant successes. Throughout, I have been impressed by how our
staff have worked hard developing new partnerships and new ways of doing things to
continuously improve and do their best for the people we serve, their carers and families.
I am particularly proud of the following key highlights of the year:
 Our new Farnham Road Hospital was opened by HRH Princess Alexandra in April 2016
 Opening of the Deacon Unit, Epsom, our new assessment and treatment facility for
people with a learning disability and the complementary development of our new
Intensive Support Service helping people with learning disabilities, and those who
support them, stay in their own homes
 The success of our Safe Haven cafes, in most Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
areas, providing welcome and support for people in mental health crisis
 The first year of our new Mindsight Surrey Child and Adolescent Mental Health
Service (CAMHS) delivered in partnership with colleagues in the voluntary and
independent sector for children and young people. Impressively, in its first year:


the CAMHS One Stop (single point of access to the service) has taken over 26,000
calls from young people, their families and professionals



92% of people who have been touched by the service are ‘extremely likely’ or
‘likely’ to recommend the services to friends and family (Your Views Matter
Survey February 2017)



91% of state schools for 5-18 year-olds are engaged with our Targeted Mental
Health in Schools Service (TAMHS) – February 2017

 Commencing the recruitment of 1400 people with dementia and their carers to join
our Technology Integrated Healthcare Management (TIHM) national test bed
research project, 700 will be on the control arm and 700 on the technology arm. Our
first families went live with the equipment in their homes in March 2017
 Opening of our new Gatton Place hub in Redhill during June 2016 and our Theta hub
in Camberley for our community teams for adults, older people and children during
2017
Our Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) have continued to help our Board and Council track
our priority areas for improvement in 2016/17. They provide us with ‘stretch’ targets in
those areas where we know improvements are critical to enable us to achieve our potential
and deliver our strategy to help people live better lives. We were delighted to have
improved our performance when compared with that of last year with ‘Good’ ratings for 12
of the KPIs and ‘Outstanding’ for four (March 2017 data).
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Notably we are delighted that:
 87% of carers reported through Your Views Matter they were satisfied (scoring them
8, 9 or 10 out of 10) with the services they received
 99% of people using our Mind Matters, talking therapies services, started treatment
with us within six weeks of their referral
 75% of people experiencing their first episode of psychosis or ‘at risk mental state’
waited two weeks or less to access treatment
 We are delighted that our financial position has achieved an ‘Outstanding’ rating
However our performance ‘Requires Improvement’ (March 2017 data) to meet the
standards we have set ourselves in the following areas as:
 57% of people surveyed said they were ‘completely’ involved in their care planning;
although 90% of people within our older people’s community services and 70% of
people using our Windmill House drug and alcohol inpatient service answered ‘yes
completely’
 57% of people of people who should have received a physical health check after
attending their first appointment had received one
 1,028 incidents of abuse against our staff were reported during the year
We have also been disappointed to not be able to report on our target to reduce the
duration of untreated psychosis at the end of the year. This is due to the delay in restoring
our full range of reports through our new data warehouse system, called DART. This was
delayed at the start of the year by the introduction of our new clinical information system,
called SystmOne. Whilst this greatly improved throughout the year we are still catching up
with some of the reporting capability we see as critical to being able to perform at our best.
We will continue to focus on improving this in the coming year.
During the year we have worked closely with the CQC to respond to their findings from their
core inspections of our health and social care services in 2016/17. Our core healthcare
inspection in February 2016 resulted in an overall Trust rating for us of ‘Requires
Improvement’ which took into account the CQC’s assessment of our core mental health
services and the outcomes of our residential social care homes’ individual inspections up to
July 2016. Whilst disappointed with our overall rating we were really pleased to see the
majority of our mental health services achieving ‘Good’ ratings in many places and
subsequently all the residential social care homes that have been inspected by the CQC have
received ‘Good’ ratings.
During the year we have continued to improve our scrutiny, investigation and reporting of
people’s deaths to help us learn and take further steps to prevent harm or death amongst
people who use our services. We were concerned about the increase in the number of
serious incidents that resulted in severe harm or death which we reported between April
and September 2016. Our Board asked Justin Wilson, our Medical Director, to undertake a
review to understand whether the higher number was as a result of our action or inaction
and what further steps we can take to prevent harm or death amongst people who use our
services.
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To do this we looked at our reporting, our serious incidents and associated processes, and
drew on national and regional intelligence and themes.
Justin’s review, presented to our Board in January 2017, found that the increase was largely
due to improved reporting processes within our services and those of the coroner, and in
line with national trends it related in particular to the deaths of people using drug and
alcohol services. Additionally there were 21 serious incidents reported in this year that
relate to the previous year.
Our review of our practice benchmarked against the CQC’s Learning, Candour and
Accountability guidance found that the new processes we have developed over the last 12
months to review and investigate mortality mean that we have already in place much of the
Trust level work highlighted in the report.
However, we want to really accelerate our learning in harm and suicide prevention work in
the coming year, irrespective of national comparisons, as suicide is such a major cause of
death and there is a significant increase in drug and alcohol deaths. We have linked up in
2016/17 with HundredFamilies.org, which provides practical advice for families affected by
mental health homicides, and Angela Samata from SOBS (Survivors Of Bereavement by
Suicide) to help us further progress our suicide prevention strategy.
The CQC have continued to re-inspect our social care residential homes and as at the end of
March 2017, 73% of our residential care homes are rated as ‘Good’ overall. This is a positive
achievement by our staff teams in these homes for the people who live in our homes and
their families.
In November 2016, the CQC undertook an unannounced inspection of our inpatient services
for adults at our new Farnham Road Hospital. They returned in February 2017 and
confirmed that the improvements they wanted to see were evident and no improvement
requirements were issued in their report.
A planned core inspection by the CQC of our drug and alcohol services was undertaken in
February 2017. We await their report.
In 2016/17 we implemented the recommendations from Price Waterhouse Cooper’s follow
up review to our 2015/16 Independent Well Led Review. This follow up moved us to a rating
of ‘Green’ in nine of the 10 domains.
Our staff are at the heart of our success. I am incredibly proud of them and have been
delighted to see their dedication and creative approaches to enabling people we serve to
live better lives recognised again, both locally and nationally, through awards this year
including:
 Our Aldershot Safe Haven won the HSJ Value in Healthcare Award in May 2016 for its
positive impact on reducing admissions and A&E attendances
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 A partnership between our Mind Matters talking therapies service and our Learning
Disabilities service won the “Diversity and Equality in Service Delivery” category at
the 2016 Positive Practice in Mental Health Awards for helping people with a learning
disability access services
 Our mobile device ChargeBoxes - which enable people to charge their phones
independently on our inpatient wards - were ‘Highly Commended’ in the HSJ Awards
in November 2016
I am also proud to have received an Embrace Award for Chief Executive of the Year, along
with our Chief Nurse who was awarded Quality Champion of the Year from the Health and
Social Care Black and Monitory Ethnic Network for our commitment to equality, diversity
and inclusion.
We were delighted that 65% of our staff, 1505 colleagues including those employed by
Surrey County Council working in our integrated teams, responded to our invitation to take
part in the national NHS Staff Survey this year. Their feedback shows we are one of the best
performing NHS employers in our sector nationally achieving better than average scores in
22 out of 32 key findings. However we want to do better for our staff. Too many of our
colleagues leave us in less than 12 months of joining and this too will be a target area for us
to improve on next year.
Looking ahead to 2017/18, we will continue to focus our work to improve services, through
innovation and co-design with people who use our services, carers and families and partners
across the system. In particular we will target improvements in:
 Staff retention
 Care planning
 Positive behaviour support
 Reducing A&E attendances and people leaving our inpatient settings without agreed
leave
 Achieving a bed occupancy rate of 85%
I am satisfied that the information in the document is accurate, recognising there are some
delays in our ability to report more recently some indicators and noting that remedial action
is underway to address this known issue as identified by the external audit undertaken in
year.

Fiona Edwards
Chief Executive
25 May 2017
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Part Two: Priorities for Improvement
and Statements of Assurance from
the Board
The Trust’s quality improvement priorities for 2016/17 are outlined below. We identified
these quality improvement priorities by consulting our Trust Board, Executive Board and
Council of Governors. Our Governors include members of the public, people who use our
services, carers, and staff. We have also taken into account previous performance
monitoring, our equality objectives, our Your Views Matter experience surveys, and results
from previous national surveys and by mandated indicators.

2.1 Priorities for Improvement
The following is an outline of our progress for each of
our clinical quality priorities under the dimensions of
quality, experience, effectiveness and safety, as
illustrated by our Quality House. We report on our
progress to our Trust Board, Executive Board and
Council of Governors and we publish our performance
on our website.

Experience
Clinical Quality Priority 1

Progress

To retain the percentage of
people, reported through
Your Views Matter, who are
satisfied with the services
they received

We have retained our percentage of people who report, through Your Views
Matter, that they are satisfied with the services they received. We have
increased access to our real time feedback system to more teams and
continue to work with those teams who do not meet our ’10 Survey
Challenge’ each month.

84

Evidence

Percentage of people who are satisfied with the services they received
(people who rated their overall experience of the service with a score of
8, 9, or 10 out of 10)
100%
80%
60%
40%

74%

77%

78%

82%

81%

81%

79%

80%

20%
0%
Q1 2015/16 Q2 2015/16 Q3 2015/16 Q4 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17
Inadequate <55%

Requires improvement >=55%

Good >=70%

Outstanding >=85%

Source: Your Views Matter Surveys / Meridian

Clinical Quality Priority 2

Progress

To retain the percentage of
carers, reported through
Your Views Matter, who are
satisfied with the services
they received

We have continued throughout the year to focus on ensuring we embed our
carers work within the Trust. We now have a full complement of Carer
Practice Advisors working in the clinical teams to support clinicians to ensure
compliance with the Care Act. Our Carers’ Action Plan details this work and
these plans are monitored by our Carers Action Group. We have also been
working on our Electronic Health Record to ensure that the system is
compliant and has the ability to record the necessary information for carers.

Evidence

Percentage of carers who are satisfied with the services they received
(carers who rated their overall experience of the service with a score of
8, 9, or 10 out of 10)
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
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67%

76%

76%

71%

72%

83%

87%

20%
10%
0%
Q1 2015/16 Q2 2015/16 Q3 2015/16 Q4 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17
Inadequate <55%
Requires improvement >=55%
Good >=70%
Outstanding >=85%

Source: Your Views Matter Surveys / Meridian
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Clinical Quality Priority 3

Progress

To ensure that at least 60% of
people identified as carers have
had, or have been offered, a
carers' assessment

This information is provided through the carers surveys rather than
from our electronic health records. From 2017 this information will
be extracted from those electronic health records and we can begin
to audit the quality of the assessments. During 2016/2017 we have
achieved either a good or outstanding rating. During 2017/2018 we
will aim to ensure we consistently offer assessments to carers.

Evidence

Percentage of carers who said they had been offered
a carers needs assessment
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
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40%
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66%

65%

76%

80%
68%

71%

79%
61%

20%
10%
0%
Q1 2015/16 Q2 2015/16 Q3 2015/16 Q4 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17
Inadequate <30%

Requires improvement >=30%

Good >=60%

Outstanding >=70%

Source: Your Views Matter Surveys / Meridian

The Care Act 2014 came into effect from April 2015 and replaced most previous law
regarding carers and people being cared for. It outlines the way in which local authorities
should carry out carers’ assessments and needs assessments; how local authorities should
determine who is eligible for support; how local authorities should charge for both
residential care and community care; and places new obligations on local authorities.
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Effectiveness
Clinical Quality Priority 4

Progress

To improve the percentage
of people, reported through
Your Views Matter, who
said they were involved in
planning their care

We have struggled to improve our percentage of people feeling
‘completely’ involved in planning their care, especially in our inpatient
services, with the majority of people saying they were involved in their
care either ‘completely’ or to ‘some extent’ and only 10% of people said
they were ‘not involved at all’ in planning their care. Our community
services for older adults have performed well in this regard consistently
reaching ‘outstanding’. Our separate surveys for people with learning
disabilities also show ‘outstanding’ involvement. We have three main
strands of work to support improvements: the introduction of care plan
folders into our inpatient services; a focus on our weekly multi-disciplinary
reviews in our inpatient services to support people’s involvement in
planning; and the introduction of a staff People Experience Network.

Evidence

Percentage of people who said they were involved in planning their care
(people who answered 'Yes, completely')
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

54%

65%

65%

61%

61%

62%

55%

57%

Q1 2015/16 Q2 2015/16 Q3 2015/16 Q4 2015/16 Q1 2016/17 Q2 2016/17 Q3 2016/17 Q4 2016/17
Inadequate <50%

Requires improvement >=50%

Source: Your Views Matter Surveys / Meridian
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Good >=66%

Outstanding >=85%

Clinical Quality Priority 5

Progress

To establish a baseline of
the numbers of people who
are supported by more than
one team from different
operational Divisions and
who have one [care] plan

During 2016/17 there were several challenges met in the delivery of the
one person one plan quality objective.
Our ambition to deliver one plan has not been possible within our
electronic care record and we have therefore rated our performance
against the Quarter 3 and Quarter 4 milestones for this indicator as
‘requires improvement’. However there has been a significant amount of
positive engagement in the overall issue of how to promote the shared
planning of care between teams and recognition that culture and
behaviour are more significant in effecting a change in this area than
systems.
A positive supporting achievement has been the ratification of the joint
working or dual diagnosis policies which in combination with I-access
being able to view SystmOne will help to promote inter team
communication and planning of care for a large group of people.
We will endeavour to resolve (or work around) our systems issue and to
launch our new care plan templates and work with staff regarding the
expectations of their practice.

Evidence
Q1 2016/17

Q2 2016/17

Q3 2016/17

Q4 2016/17

Inadequate

Good

Requires
improvement

Requires
improvement

Source: One Person One Plan Project Manager

88

Clinical Quality Priority 6

Progress

People who are
receiving services will
have a physical health
check within three
months of assessment

We have taken the following actions to improve the percentage of people
receiving a physical health check within three months of their initial
assessment:
Adult Mental Health Division
The Physical Health Check assessment for this clinical quality priority
comprises a basic initial assessment of specific key physical health parameters
including confirmation of diagnosed physical health problems, Body Mass
Index, smoking status and alcohol consumption which is completed within
three months of assessment for all people in receipt of care and/or treatment.
It sits alongside related physical health assessments including the Health
Action Plan which is completed for all individuals supported by Care
Programme Approach and the cardio-metabolic health assessment which is
completed as part of the CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation)
programme for all people with psychosis supported by Care Programme
Approach. All three assessments therefore have significantly overlapping
coverage and duplication which has had a negative impact on our
performance.
To improve this performance, we are working to develop a single template
form that can be used for all physical health assessments and that can be used
to report completion of the Physical Health Check in the three months after
assessment. We will monitor this through monthly performance reporting.
We communicate the outcome of assessments to the person’s General
Practitioner.
Older People’s Mental Health Division
 All inpatients within our Older People’s Mental Health Division complete
the Monitoring Early Warning Signs physical assessment tool within 72
hours of admission which is monitored based on clinical need


External referral received recorded onto SystmOne



The referral date starts the requirement to record a physical health check
within three months



For Older People’s Mental Health Division, the Physical Health Check
requirement is that there is confirmation that :
- The initial (GP) referral letter includes a list (dated within three
months) of the patients past medical history and/or current (active)
medical problems (if applicable) and this has been uploaded
- A current (dated within three months) list of medications which has
also been uploaded
- Factors associated with the physical health history/problems and
medications in terms of how they might impact on the current
presentation/mental health concerns have been considered



SystmOne Physical Health Assessment form completed on SystmOne with
date of assessment and a statement that says:
- Physical Health Check Complete
- Evidence in GP letters uploaded
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Clinical Quality Priority 6

Progress
People who use our Learning Disabilities Services Division
This Division meets the Physical Health Check clinical quality priority by
ensuring that this is part of the initial assessment pathway in learning
disabilities, with the details recorded in SystmOne.
Children and Young People’s Services Division
Our Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS) have:


Improved the CYPS record-keeping audit to ensure that all physical health
check requirements are covered



Revisited the point at which a Health Action Plan is instigated



Implemented a screening tool for smoking and alcohol use, for young
people over 12 years. Young people are then referred to the QUIT 51
smoking cessation service and CATCH22 substance misuse service if
appropriate

Evidence

Percentage of people who had a physical health check within three
months of their initial assessment
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
51%
20% 43%
10%
42%
0%

50%

41%
46%

50%

57%
52%
50%

58%
57%

Month of initial assessment
Inadequate <40%

Requires improvement >=40%

Good >=60%

Outstanding >=75%

Source: SABP Information Management Team
Note: The figures shown for each month are the percentage of people, whose initial assessment took
place during that month, who had a physical health check within three months of their assessment. For
example, 57% of people whose initial assessment took place in December 2016 had received a physical
health check by 31st March 2017.
Figures for people who had their initial assessment in January, February and March 2017 are not shown in
the chart because we can only calculate the percentage of people receiving a health check within three
months once three months have passed since the month of the initial assessment.
Figures for people who had their initial assessment in the period July 2015 to March 2016 are not available
during the implementation of our new data warehouse.
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Clinical Quality Priority 7

Progress

Each Division and corporate
service has a targeted plan
to improve information to
ensure that it is in formats
that are accessible for
people who use services

Chief Executive’s Office
In Year 1 our aim was ‘to enhance and build upon the practice of producing’
our easy read Council of Governors papers. By the end of the year we were
successful in making them better by - using the same pictures being used by
our Communications team to explain things when we can; working with our
current Governors for people with learning disabilities to think about how
we could change how we write our easy read papers. Our easy read papers
are also now on our website.
Quality Assurance and Reporting
Our department has undertaken a review of current reporting to ensure
they are fit for purpose. A discussion was held in February at a carers’
support meeting to ascertain if the carers’ performance report was required
in an easy read format. It was agreed that a report written in plain English
was required. Our Records Team has updated the Records Policy and has
produced an easy read Access to Health Records leaflet. Our Information
Governance Team has produced an easy read Freedom of Information
leaflet and has reviewed the Information Commission Officer Publication
Scheme.
Children and Young People’s Services
Within our Children and Young People’s Division there are a variety of
services. The greater proportion that require information in an alternative
format are within the learning disabilities services.
Our children’s learning disabilities service has various software packages
that can be used for alternative formatting of documents. Our
administration staff and resources within children’s learning disabilities
services are available for other services within our Division who will support,
format and provide easy read documents. The links for the Trust photo
library on the Intranet have been circulated to the administration leads in
the Division.
As alternative methods of communication, clinicians often use text
messages this is often expressly requested by the young people accessing
our Mindfulness Service and for families where there is a cultural stigma to
having a mental health issue. There are hearing loops in the clinics and
assistance dogs can be accommodated.
People who use our Learning Disabilities Services
We have reviewed our welcome packs/leaflets in each team and designed
these in easy read format.
We have begun work on refresher training our staff on core Makaton signs.
To support this project, identification of Makaton champions in each service
and on-going support from speech and language therapists is being put in
place.
An update about the Accessible Information Standard and the progress of
our Division was presented at our Quality Action Group on 24 March 2017.
A shared folder for our Division’s Quality Action Group has now been made
for good practice examples of easy read templates, accessible service
leaflets and the Accessible Information Standard presentation slides.
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Clinical Quality Priority 7

Progress
Older People’s Mental Health Services
As a Division, our early action was to engage all staff in the core
requirements of the standards by explaining what needed to be done using
the powerpoint information developed by the Accessible Information
Standard project group to provide the background to the NHS England
initiative. This was discussed in our Divisional management meeting first as
well as our Quality Action Group meetings and then cascaded to the wider
teams in their business and ward team meetings
Our next step was to ensure that we are assessing people’s communication
needs so that the process of implementing the standards is followed. To
progress this, our Division’s Data Quality Leads started showing staff how to
record the identified communication needs on SystmOne. This included
monitoring the teams’ compliance with asking people and carers accessing
services and how these were being flagged up rather than staff clicking ‘do
later’ in response to the SystmOne prompt
In attending the project group meetings, as a Division we contributed to the
review of documentation and policies to ensure that people accessing
services received communication support as needed and information they
can access and understand, and cascading the resource information picked
up in this group to the wider teams. We took the view that our action plans
should also include carers and staff who also use the service and, as a result,
had a number of quarter target plans to achieve.
Patient Advice & Liaison Service (PALS) & Complaints
Our Complaints and PALS team endeavour to have a telephone
conversation with every person who contacts us with a complaint. As part of
the implementation of the Accessible Information Standard, our Complaints
and PALS team now indicate on their electronic files that they have had this
conversation, ensuring their communication preferences are recorded and
that our response to their complaint is communicated to them as per their
wishes.

Evidence
Q1 2016/17

Q2 2016/17

Q3 2016/17

Q4 2016/17

Good

Requires
improvement

Requires
improvement

Good

Source: Internally collected data
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Safety
Clinical Quality Priority 8

Progress

Through the Safe CARE programme
reduce the number of suspected
suicides, Absent Without Leave
incidents, Accident & Emergency
attendances due to severe selfharm, and face down restraints

We have seen a considerable and sustained reduction in the use of
prone restraint, and this is attributed to a change in the MAYBO
techniques and training. We used prone restraint on 18 occasions
in 2016/17 compared with 34 occasions in 2015/16 and we
achieved our zero prone restraint target for three consecutive
months. We also have low numbers for suspected suicides of
people on the acute care pathway.
Through our quality improvement work in safe care, we are
focusing on incidents where people who are detained using the
Mental Health Act abscond from our inpatient services. Since we
moved two of our Adult Acute wards (Elgar and Delius), we have
seen a reduction in these types of absent without leave incidents,
and this is now indicative of special cause variation; this means that
the reduction in these types of incidents is directly related to a
change made. It seems that the key change driving this special
cause variation is the improved environmental safety and security
in the new environment, alongside quality improvement initiatives
of risk management plans, safety crosses, leave cards and signing in
and out books on wards.
Where we have been less impactful is serious self-harm resulting in
transfer to A&E, as this has increased. This will be a focus of quality
improvement work moving forward.

Evidence

Cumulative total numbers of suspected suicides, AWOL incidents, A&E
attendances due to severe self-harm, and face down restraints
100
Cumulative
Totals

50
Suspected suicides

0

Suspected suicides

Apr- May Jun- Jul- Aug- Sep- Oct- Nov Dec- Jan- Feb- Mar
16 -16 16 16 16 16 16 -16 16 17 17 -17
0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 3

AWOL incidents

10 19 34 40 46 55 62 71 73 77 81 84

A&E attendances

12 20 30 33 41 51 55 61 66 73 77 84

Face-down restraints

4

6

9

10 11 14 15 16 16 16 16 17

Source: Positive and Safe Dashboard
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AWOL incidents
A&E attendances
Face-down restraints

Clinical Quality Priority 9

Progress

To increase the numbers of
incidents reported and
reduce the number of patient
safety incidents resulting in
severe harm or death from
the number in 2012/13

The amount of incidents that resulted in severe harm or death has
increased this year with a total of 102. Our assessment of the reasons for
the increase in numbers is:



The data is based on ‘reported date’ and therefore the numbers
include 21 deaths that occurred before April 2016 and were reported
late for various reasons



The Surrey Coroners are reporting more deaths to us especially drug
and alcohol related deaths that we may previously have not been
informed about



I-Hear Partnership Services (in Hounslow) worked in partnership with
other agencies to increase awareness of unexpected deaths and they
improved their overall reporting of incidents



Psychiatric Liaison Services have been running 24 hour services
regularly throughout this fiscal year and this has shown a slight
increase in the number of Serious Incidents reported by this service

Evidence
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KPI 15 Actual 2015/16

3
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KPI 15 Actual 2016/17
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16

22
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6

12

18

23

29

36

41

47

52

58

64

70

Source: STEIS (Strategic Executive Information System) is managed by the Department of Health. Data is
generated by the number of serious incidents registered that month on STEIS that resulted in severe or
extreme harm including serious incidents where a fractured neck of femur resulted
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Clinical Quality Priority 10

Progress

To reduce the number of
incidents of abuse (including
discriminatory abuse)
experienced by staff in the
workplace

We have seen an increase in incidents throughout the year with higher
incidents in Quarters 2 and 3 than predicted and then a slight decrease
again in Quarter 4.
There were nine incidents in Quarter 2 and 25 incidents in Quarter 3 of
abuse towards staff reported involving one individual who was admitted
to our acute wards whilst awaiting a specialist placement. The security
and safety of our staff, people who use our services and visitors
continues to be a key priority for us as an organisation. It is recognised
that our staff working in inpatient settings are at risk of verbal and/or
physical assault due to the acute needs of the people being supported in
those settings.
Our Local Security Management Specialist has supported services and
trained services in the use of the Respect Programme for reporting
discriminatory behaviour and other incidents of abuse towards our staff.
The use of the respect programme has been used across community and
inpatient units as a deterrent to abuse of staff. In 2016 -17 staff reported
42 written warnings or behavioural contracts, an increase from 31
reported in 2015-16.
Our Local Security Management Specialist has emphasised the use of the
Trust respect programme to new staff at induction. Our Local Security
Management Specialist has supported staff following abuse by our
people who use services and supported police with investigations.
Our Local Security Management Specialist has worked with Surrey Police
in establishing a Joint Working Agreement to enable investigations of
abuse of our staff and patients to be investigated and if necessary with
convictions.

Evidence

Cumulative total number of incidents of abuse (including discriminatory
abuse) experienced by staff in the workplace
1,200
Cumulative
Totals

1028

1,000
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800

579

600
400

256

200

0
Q1
KPI 16 Actual 2015/16

Q2
KPI 16 Actual 2016/17

Source: Datix incident system
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Q3

Q4
Trajectory

Clinical Quality Priority 11

Progress

To have a response rate of
80% to the National Staff
Survey

In 2016, we achieved an increased return rate of 65% compared with 59% in
the previous year. This compares favourably to a national average of 44%
return rate. We ran weekly information updates for all senior managers on
their completion rates and numerous briefings for our staff, including a
video about anonymity. Our award of prizes through sponsorship by NHS
Professionals has proved popular with our staff. Many of our teams did
achieve 80% returns with some areas managing 100%.

Evidence

Staff Survey response rate: 2016
100%
80%
60%
40%

66%

59%

54%

59%

65%

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

20%
0%
Inadequate <50%

Requires improvement >=50%

Good >=60%

Outstanding >=80%

Source: NHS National Staff Survey

Clinical Quality Priority 12

Progress

To improve our staff
satisfaction/engagement
rating in the National Staff
Survey

Our overall engagement indicator was 3.84 which was a slight improvement
from 3.81 in 2015 and above the national average for mental health of 3.77.
These figures are calculated using questions that relate to aspects of staff
engagement such as employees’ perception of being able to contribute to
improvements at work; their willingness to recommend our Trust as a place
to work or receive treatment and the extent to which they feel motivated
and engaged with their work.
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Evidence

Staff Survey staff satisfaction/engagement rating
5.00
4.00
3.00
2.00

3.67

3.74

3.81

3.81

3.84

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

1.00
0.00
Inadequate <3

Requires improvement >=3

Good >=3.81

Outstanding >=3.93

Source: NHS National Staff Survey

Duty of Candour
The Duty of Candour is a legal duty on hospital, community and mental health Trusts to
inform and apologise to people if there have been mistakes in their care that have led to
significant harm.
At Surrey and Borders Partnership we take seriously our requirement to comply with the
Duty of Candour and we continue to be open and transparent with all people who use our
services, families and significant others, about their care and treatment, including when it
goes wrong. In accordance with our Trust values we have systems in place to ensure that we
are open and that we provide people with support, truthful information and when things go
wrong we would provide a written apology. We accept that being open and honest and
discussing safety incidents promptly, fully and compassionately can help people who use
our services, their families and our staff to cope better with the after effects of an incident.
We have three key steps in place to ensure we comply with the Duty of Candour:
Step 1
As soon as reasonably possible after becoming aware that a serious incident has occurred
we will:
 Notify the relevant person (ie the person or family affected) that the incident has
occurred
 Provide support to the person in relation to the incident
Step 2
We ensure that the notification of the incident is followed by a written letter given or sent
to the relevant person containing details of enquiries to be undertaken, the results of any
further enquiries into the incident and an apology.
Step 3
We keep a copy of all correspondence with the persons involved.
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Patient Safety Improvement Plan
The
programme is our quality improvement work which helps us coordinate
quality initiatives under three key work-streams: suicide prevention; physical health; and
Safe Wards. As part of this programme we use improvement methodologies such as the
Model for Improvement, Plan-Do-Study-Act cycle and Safety Crosses to help deliver learning
and implement change ideas from the Safe Wards initiative, our falls prevention work,
Absent Without Leave (AWOL) interventions and delivering improvements in physical health
care management and monitoring.
Through our membership of the South of England Mental Health Collaborative, we are
currently working to further enhance our quality improvement strategy, which involves the
transitioning of our Safe CARE programme into a Quality Improvement programme,
Qi@SABP, which will have a greater emphasis on using the model for improvement to
deliver sustainable and reliable change Trustwide.
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NHS Staff Survey Results for the Workforce Race Equality Standard
The scores presented below are the un-weighted question level scores for question Q17b
and un-weighted scores for NHS Staff Survey 2016 key findings, allocated by White and
Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) staff, as required for the Workforce Race Equality Standard.
Our results are slightly more positive than the average for mental health but we note that
experience is less positive for BME staff. To address these differences we have been codesigning and co-producing how we work together through our ‘people before process’
programme to improve the experience of our staff from black and minority ethnic
communities.

KF26
KF21

Percentage of staff experiencing harassment,
bullying or abuse from staff in last 12 months
Percentage of staff believing that the
organisation provides equal opportunities for
career progression or promotion

White
BME
White
BME

Our Trust

Average
(median) for
mental health

27%
38%
90%
81%

31%
38%
89%
79%

Our ‘people before process’ programme has found new ways of working together to address
over representation of BME staff in our disciplinary processes. This has resulted in changes
to our policies and procedures and initiated action learning for our senior leaders and staff
network chairs.
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Care Quality Commission
The table below illustrates Care Quality Commission ratings for our social care inspections.
This table currently details the most recent ratings.
Our Healthcare Services
Core service
area

Overall rating Is the service
safe?

Is the service
effective?

Acute wards for
Requires
Requires
adults of working age
Good
and psychiatric
Improvement Improvement
intensive care units
Long stay
/rehabilitation
mental health wards
Good
Good
Good
for working age
adults
Wards for older
Requires
Good
Good
people with mental
Improvement
health problems
Wards for people
Requires
Good
Good
with learning
Improvement
disabilities
Community based
mental health
Good
Good
Good
services for adults of
working age
Mental health crisis
Requires
Requires
services and health
Good
based places of
Improvement Improvement
safety
Specialist community
Requires
mental health
Good
Good
services for children
Improvement
and young people
Community based
mental health
Good
Good
Good
services for older
people
Community mental
health services for
Good
Good
Good
people with learning
disabilities or autism
Trust wide
Requires
Requires
Good
Improvement Improvement

Is the service
caring?

Is the service
responsive?

Is the service
well-led?

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

We submitted our action plan in response to the areas for improvement on 19 August 2016.
We had 14 ‘Breach of Regulation’ with 59 agreed actions to progress themed as below in
table 1 into 11 key areas.
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Table 1
Visibility of incidents and
complaints at our Board

Incident management and
learning lessons

Medicines management, storage
and recording

Consistency of training

Consistency of supervision and
appraisal

Recording of risk
Updating policies in line with
national changes

Crisis Line response times

Nurse call alarms

Single sex accommodation

Environment - confidentiality

As of 31 March 2017, we had completed 58 out of the 59 actions. The outstanding action
relates to the recording of people’s allergies in our Home Treatment Teams which is ongoing as we are working to assure ourselves that improvements are made in this regard
across all of our healthcare services.
Our Social Care Homes and Short-Break Services – ratings on 31 March 2017
Overall rating

Is the service
safe?

Is the service
effective?

Is the service
caring?

Is the service
responsive?

Is the service
well-led?

Redstone
House Care
Home

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Ashmount
Care Home

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Good

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Oakwood
Care Home

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Shielings
Care Home

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Jasmine
Short Break
Service

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Service

Rosewood
Care Home
Derby
House
Care Home
Court Hill
House
Care Home
Hillcroft
Care Home
Larkfield
Care Home
Kingscroft
Short Break
Service
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Over the year, we have focused on improving the quality of our social care homes and
people’s experience. There has been an increase in the opportunities for people to be
supported in a variety of individualised activities, environmental improvements, training and
team support/development underpinned by a consistent value base.
We have had four homes re-inspected; Derby House, Oakwood and Redstone are all now
rated as ‘Good’ in all five CQC domains.
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Clinical Quality Priorities for 2017/18
Our clinical quality priorities for 2017/18 are outlined below. We identified these quality
improvement priorities by consulting our Trust Board, Executive Board and Council of
Governors and by building on our learning from talking with people who use our services,
carers, commissioners, our clinical leaders, staff and other stakeholders and regulators. We
have also taken into account our equality objectives, mandated indicators, our monitoring
of previous performance, our Your Views Matter experience surveys, and results from
national surveys.
We will monitor our progress throughout the year against the definitions for each indicator.
We will measure our performance against quality thresholds set by our Board.
Our Chief Finance Officer will report our progress against these indicators to our Trust Board
and Council of Governors throughout the year and we will publish our progress in our
Quality Accounts for 2017/18 at year end.
Experience
1. For people who use services – satisfaction
To improve the percentage of carers, reported through Your Views Matter, who are satisfied with the
services they received by 10% over next two years
2. For Families/Carers – satisfaction
To improve the number of carers being offered a carers assessment by 15% over next two years
3. For our Staff – satisfaction
To have a response rate of 80% to the national staff survey by 2020
Effectiveness
4. People led outcomes
To implement a selection of Improving Access to Psychological Therapy (IAPT) measures in our Mindsight
Surrey Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) to demonstrate outcomes for children using
this service
5. One person one plan
To have comprehensive nursing care plans for all people who use our inpatient services
6. Physical health
To be a smoke free Trust by October 2017
7. Equality
50% of people who use our people with learning disabilities community services will have a Health Equality
Framework documented
Safety
8. Safe CARE
Through the safety hub programme demonstrate we are the safest, in relation to suicide prevention,
Absconding Without Leave (AWOL), face down restraint and self-harm benchmarked against other mental
health organisations
9. Reduction of severe harm incidents
To increase the numbers of incidents reported and reduce the number of patient safety incidents resulting
in severe harm or death from the number in 2016/17
10. Reduction of abuse of staff
To reduce the number of incidents of abuse (including discriminatory abuse) experienced by staff in the
work place
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2.2 Statements of Assurance from the Board
Review of Services
During 2016/17 the Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust provided and/or
sub-contracted 131 relevant Health and Social Care Services:
Division
Adult Mental Health Services
Children and Young People’s Services
Learning Disabilities Services
Older People Mental Health Services
Specialist Services
Total

Services
provided
45
28
25
14
19
131

The Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data
available to them on the quality of care in all 131 of these relevant health and social care
services.
The income generated by the relevant health and social care services reviewed in 2016/17
represents 100% of the total income generated from the provision of relevant health
services by the Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust for 2016/17.
Participation in Clinical Audits and National Confidential Enquiries
During 2016/17, 11 national clinical audits and three national confidential enquiries covered
the relevant health services that Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
provides.
During 2016/17, Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust participated in 91.66%
of national clinical audits and 100% of national confidential enquiries which it was eligible to
participate in.
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Surrey and Borders
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust was eligible to participate in during 2016/2017 are as
follows:
 National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide And Homicide By People With Mental
Illness Inpatient Suicide While Under Non-Routine Observation.
 National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide And Homicide By People With Mental
Illness – Suicide In Children And Young People
 National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide And Homicide By People With Mental
Illness – Suicide and Homicide and Sudden Death
 Delivering single sex accommodation (Unify return)
 National Mental Health Community Survey
 POMH-UK: Prescribing antipsychotic medication for people with dementia
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 POMH-UK: Monitoring of patients prescribed lithium
 POMH-UK: Rapid tranquillisation
 POMH-UK: Prescribing high dose and combined antipsychotics
 Mental Health CQUIN indicator 3a = Improving Physical health are care to reduce
premature mortality in people with SMI
 Social Care Survey – carers
 Social Care Survey – for people who use services
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Surrey and Borders
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust participated in during 2016/17 are as follows:
 National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide And Homicide By People With Mental
Illness Inpatient Suicide While Under Non-Routine Observation.
 National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide And Homicide By People With Mental
Illness – Suicide In Children And Young People
 National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide And Homicide By People With Mental
Illness – Suicide and Homicide and Sudden Death
 Delivering single sex accommodation (Unify return)
 National Mental Health Community Survey
 POMH-UK: Topic 11: Prescribing antipsychotic medication for people with dementia
 POMH-UK: Monitoring of patients prescribed lithium
 POMH-UK: Rapid tranquillisation
 Mental Health CQUIN indicator 3a = Improving physical health are care to reduce
premature mortality in people with serious mental illness
 Social Care Survey – carers
 Social Care Survey – for people who use services
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Surrey and Borders
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust participated in, and for which data collection was
completed during 2016/17, are listed below alongside the number of cases submitted to
each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by the
terms of that audit or enquiry.
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National clinical audits and national confidential enquiries SABP
participated for which data collection was completed during 2016/17

National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide And Homicide By People With
Mental Illness Inpatient Suicide While Under Non-Routine Observation
National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide And Homicide By People With
Mental Illness – Suicide in Children and Young People
National Confidential Enquiry into Suicide And Homicide By People With
Mental Illness – Suicide and Homicide and Sudden Death
Delivering single sex accommodation (Unify return)
National Mental Health Community Survey
POMH-UK: Prescribing antipsychotic medication for people with
dementia
POMH-UK: Monitoring of patients prescribed lithium
POMH-UK: Rapid tranquillisation
Mental Health CQUIN indicator 3a = Improving Physical health are care to
reduce premature mortality in people with serious mental illness
Social Care Survey – carers
Social Care Survey – for people who use services

No of cases submitted
as % of registered cases
required by the terms of
the enquiry/audit
%
100%
100%
100%
100%
29.4%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

The reports of 11 priority clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2016/17 and
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions
to improve the quality of healthcare provided:
 Improving cognition measurement pre and post Electro-Convulsive Therapy (ECT)
 Developing awareness and training around suicide prevention
 Improving compliance with and raising awareness of National Institute for Health
and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines
 Ensuring compliance with single sex accommodation requirements
The reports of 15 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2016/17 and Surrey
and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to
improve the quality of healthcare provided:
 Improving our walk around quality systems
 Improving our care planning and risk assessment documentation
 Improving the quality of co-production with experts by experience and their
families, friends and carers
 Working to increase the amounts of services going through the accreditation
process
 Improving the quality of physical healthcare of people using our services
Participation in Clinical Research
The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided or sub-contracted by
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust in 2016/17 that were recruited
during that period to participate in research approved by a research ethics committee is
30.
106

Use of the Commissioning for Quality & Innovation (CQUIN) Payment Framework
2016/17
A proportion of Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust’s income in 2016/17
was conditional on achieving quality improvement and innovation goals agreed between
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and any person or body they
entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of relevant
health services, through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment
framework. Further details of the agreed goals for 2016/17 and for the following 12-month
period are available on request from email: performance@sabp.nhs.uk or tel: 01372
216056.
The table below identifies the Trust’s CQUINs for 2016/17:
Surrey Collaborative
Goal No
National 1a Option B
National 1b
National 1c
National 3a
National 3b
Local
Local

Local

Goal Name
Introduction of health and wellbeing Initiatives
Healthy food for NHS staff, visitors and patients
Improving uptake of influenza vaccinations
Cardio Metabolic assessment and treatment for patients with psychosis
Communicating with GPs
Increased number of health action plans developed for people with a
learning disability
Increase awareness of trauma and dissociative symptoms and will provide
expertise to review and consider care plans and ensure that necessary,
evidenced based treatment options are available
One Person One Plan

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS)
Goal No.
National 1a Option B
National 1b
National 1c
National 3a
National 3b
Local
Local

Goal Name
Introduction of health and wellbeing Initiatives
Healthy food for NHS staff, visitors and patients
Improving uptake of influenza vaccinations
Improving healthcare for children and young people in the Child and
Adolescent Mental Health Service
Communicating with GPs
Transition to Adult Services
Poly-Pharmacy Medication Review

The monetary total for the amount of income in 2016/17 conditional upon achieving quality
improvement and innovation goals is not yet agreed but is against a target of £2,451,587.
The monetary total for the associate payment in 2015/16 was £1,580,417.
Registration with Care Quality Commission
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care
Quality Commission and its current registration status is registered without conditions.
The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against Surrey and Borders
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust during 2016/17.
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Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has not participated in any special
reviews or investigations by the CQC during the reporting period.
All our health services are appropriately registered however we have submitted an
application to register Beeches, our Children’s short break stay facility, to Ofsted so will
discontinue registration with CQC once this is finalised.
In February 2016 a comprehensive review was completed of our services. Our action plan, in
response to the February 2016 Comprehensive inspection was due to be complete by 31
December 2016. 98%, 58 of our 59 actions are complete with one overdue against the
deadline of 31 December 2016.
Hospital Episode Statistics
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust submitted records during 2016/17 to
the Secondary Uses Service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are
included in the latest published data. The percentage of records in the latest published
data:
 Which included the patient’s valid NHS Number was: 99.8% for admitted patient care
and 100.0% for outpatient care
 Which included the patient’s valid General Practitioner Registration Code was:
100.0% for admitted patient care and 100.0% for outpatient care
Information Governance
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust’s Assessment Report overall score for
2016/17 was 88% and was graded ‘Satisfactory’ (‘Green’).
Payment by Results Clinical Coding Audit
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust was not subject to the Payment by
Results clinical coding audit during 2016/17 by the Audit Commission. This has been
replaced by the local audit framework. During 2016/17, Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust sub-contracted Maxwell Stanley Consultancy to carry out a clinical coding
audit based on the methodology detailed in the NHS Digital Clinical Classifications Service
publication, Clinical Coding Audit Methodology Version 10.0. Primary diagnosis coding
accuracy is outstanding at 98.00% and secondary diagnoses coding accuracy is excellent at
92.52%.
Data Quality
Surrey and Borders Partnership Foundation NHS Trust has further improved the systems and
processes to ensure a sustainable, continuous improvement for data quality remains a top
priority. The following actions are in progress to improve data quality:
 All new staff are inducted and provided systems training based on roles and services
 Operational Managers and Professional Leads continue to have discussions within
respective Divisional, Team and Quality Action Group Meetings
 Data Leads and Data Co-ordinators offers training and briefing sessions as required to
teams
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 Monthly Performance Reports are reviewed by service and by teams to check data
completeness
 A Record Keeping Audit has been introduced through Meridian since November
2017, the results are holding teams to account in improving data quality
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2.3 Reporting Against Core Indicators
1. The percentage of patients supported by Care Programme Approach who were
followed up within seven days after discharge from psychiatric inpatient care during
the reporting period
2014-2015
Q1
Q2
SABP
98.6%
99.6%
National
97.0%
97.3%
Lowest National
93.0%
91.5%
Highest National
100.0%
100.0%
2015-2016
Q1
Q2
SABP
97.0%
96.3%
National
97.0%
96.8%
Lowest National
88.9%
83.4%
Highest National
100.0%
100.0%
2016-2017
Q1
Q2
SABP
79.0%
95.0%
National
96.2%
96.8%
Lowest National
71.4%
73.9%
Highest National
100.0%
100.0%
* DNA – Data not available. We were unable to submit data for Quarter
new clinical record system and data warehouse.

Q3
97.5%
97.3%
90.0%
100.0%

Q4
97.2%
97.5%
93.1%
100.0%

Q3
96.3%
96.9%
50.0%
100.0%

Q4
DNA*
97.2%
80.0%
100.0%

Q3
Q4
94.3%
96.4%
96.6%
96.7%
73.3%
84.6%
100.0%
99.4%
4 2015/16 due to the move to our

The Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as
described for the following reasons:
 Our procedural guidance instructs staff how to record information accurately. The
data is based on reports that have been tested to ensure they accurately reflect
information recorded by service teams
 Our Data Quality Leads and their manager investigate and sign off any breaches. The
results are sense checked by the Quality Assurance and Reporting team before they
are submitted to NHS Improvement and NHS England
 The figure of 79.0% for Quarter 1 2016/17 has not been validated by our Data Quality
Leads because the move to a new data warehouse meant this was not possible.
Based on previous and subsequent validation work, it is likely that some of the
apparent breaches for Quarter 1 are due to data input errors and some will be
discharges that should have been excluded from the analysis (such as people
transferred into the care of another provider). The un-validated figure for Quarter 1
is therefore likely to understate the percentage of people followed up within seven
days of discharge
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The Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to
maintain and improve this high percentage, and so the quality of its services: daily
conference calls across teams to help prepare for discharge and to ensure community
services are available to follow up with individuals; and weekly team meetings within
community services to discuss all cases and ensure follow up. The results are shared with
Operational Managers and Professional Leads and equally presented to the respective
teams on their performance and they are advised on areas which require improvement.
2. The percentage of admissions to acute wards for which the Crisis Resolution Home
Treatment Team acted as a gatekeeper during the reporting period
2014-2015
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
SABP
97.2%
96.7%
97.4%
97.7%
National
98.0%
98.5%
97.9%
98.1%
Lowest National
81.8%
93.6%
73.0%
59.5%
Highest National
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
2015-2016
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
SABP
97.0%
96.9%
96.9%
DNA*
98.2%
National
96.3%
97.0%
97.4%
84.3%
Lowest National
18.3%
48.5%
61.9%
100.0%
Highest National
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
2016-2017
Q4
Q1
Q2
Q3
97.8%
SABP
91.7%
96.6%
95.6%
National
98.1%
98.4%
98.7%
98.8%
Lowest National
93.9%
87.5%
88.3%
90.0%
Highest National
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
* DNA – Data not available. We were unable to submit data for Quarter 4 2015/16 due to the move to our
new clinical record system and data warehouse.

The Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as
described for the following reasons:
 Our procedural guidance instructs staff how to record information accurately. The
data is based on reports that have been tested to ensure they accurately reflect
information recorded by service teams
 Our Data Quality Leads validate each record on the report. The results are sense
checked by the Quality Assurance and Reporting team before they are submitted to
NHS Improvement and NHS England
 The figure of 91.7% for Quarter 1 2016/17 has not been validated by our Data Quality
Leads because the move to a new data warehouse meant this was not possible.
Based on previous and subsequent validation work, it is likely that some of the
apparent breaches for Quarter 1 are due to data input errors and some will be
admissions that should have been excluded from the analysis (such as people
transferred into our care from another provider). The un-validated figure for Quarter
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1 is therefore likely to understate the percentage of admissions that were gate-kept
by our Home Treatment Team
The Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to
maintain and improve this high percentage, and so the quality of its services: staff are fully
aware of the protocols in place to ensure all admissions go through the Home Treatment
Team who act as gatekeepers to our acute wards. The results are shared with Operational
Managers and Professional Leads and equally presented to the respective teams on their
performance and they are advised on areas which require improvement.
3. Readmissions within 28 days of discharge
SABP – Readmissions within 28 days of discharge
2015/2016

2016/2017

Q1
12.1%

Q2
11.8%

Q3
7.3%

Q4
10.3%

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

6.6%

8.8%

9.1%

7.6%

Source: Information Management Team
The table shows readmissions with 28 days for people discharged from our adult acute and
intensive care services, adult rehabilitation services, older people’s acute services, and
inpatient services for people with learning disabilities. A number of people were readmitted
within 28 days more than once during 2016/17. These are primarily people with a
personality disorder or who need treatment for substance misuse.
National data and figures for other providers is not available. This is because NHS Digital has
suspended publication of the ‘Hospital Episode Statistics: Emergency readmissions to
hospital within 28 days of discharge’ data, pending a methodology review and results of the
HSCIC statistics consultation.
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is accurate
and up to date as entered onto SystmOne.
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to
improve this percentage, and so the quality of its services:
 Discharge planning starts early during people’s hospital stay to help them prepare
better for discharge
 Crisis and contingency plans are put in place for all people prior to discharge
 Our Community teams follow people up within seven days of discharge
 People can access their nominated Care Co-ordinator and the Home Treatment Team
direct
 Our Crisis Line service is available 5.00pm - 9.00am Monday to Friday, with 24 hours
cover at weekends including Bank Holidays
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 Our Safe Haven project provides access to mental health support when people need
it
 In partnership with the Police we have implemented the Surrey High Intensity
Partnership Programme (SHIPP) to support people with complex needs and whose
behaviours can be challenging and risky differently
4. Admissions of Under 18s
There were two people under 18 who were admitted into our adult inpatient services during
2016/17. One of these admissions was a person aged 15 years and the other has been
admitted twice in this 12 month period.
5. Patient experience of community mental health services indicator score with regard to
patients’ experience of contact with a health or social care worker during the reporting
period
Health and social care
workers 2014
Section score
Did this person listen carefully
to you?
Were you given enough time to
discuss your needs and
treatment?
Did the person or people you
saw understand how your
mental health needs affect
other areas of your life?
Health and social care
workers 2015
Section score
Did this person listen carefully
to you?
Were you given enough time to
discuss your needs and
treatment?
Did the person or people you
saw understand how your
mental health needs affect
other areas of your life?

SABP score

Highest
national score
8.4
8.9

Surveys
completed

7.5
8.0

Lowest
national score
7.3
7.7

7.4

7.2

8.4

270

7.1

6.5

8.1

259

Highest
national score
8.2
8.7

Surveys
completed

7.6
8.2

Lowest
national score
6.8
7.6

7.4

6.8

8.0

259

7.0

6.0

7.8

254

SABP score
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269

267

Health and social care
workers 2016
Section score
Did this person listen carefully
to you?
Were you given enough time to
discuss your needs and
treatment?
Did the person or people you
saw understand how your
mental health needs affect
other areas of your life?

SABP score

Lowest
national score

Highest
national score

Surveys
completed

79.5%

72.9%

85.6%

229

75.3%

67.5%

81.1%

229

65.8%

61.7%

78.3%

221

Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as
described for the following reasons:
NHS Surveys designed the CQC Community Mental Health Survey and collated the results.
Service teams encourage people using services to complete experience and satisfaction
surveys.
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to
improve this percentage, and so the quality of its services:
We have built on our previous action plan which focuses on the key areas for development.
This includes the implementation of the Your Views Matter surveys. This system provides
people using services with a continuous opportunity to feedback their experiences and
allows us to respond in a timely and efficient way. This improves the experience for people
using services and in turn the results of the national survey.
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6. The number and rate of patient safety incidents reported within the Trust during the
reporting period, and the number and percentage of such patient safety incidents that
resulted in severe harm or death

April 2011 Sep 2011
Oct 2011 March 2012
April 2012 Sep 2012
Oct 2012 March 2013
April 2013 Sep 2013
Oct 2013 March 2014
April 2014 Sep 2014
Oct 2014 March 2015
April 2015 Sep 2015
Oct 2015 March 2016
Apr 2016 –
Sept 2016

Number of
incidents reported
by SABP
per 1,000 bed days

Average number of
incidents reported
per 1,000 bed days:
Mental Health
Trusts

Lowest number of
incidents reported
per 1,000 bed days:
Mental Health
Trusts

Highest number of
incidents reported
per 1,000 bed days:
Mental Health
Trusts

3.06

24.31

0.00

86.22

5.32

23.47

0.00

86.89

8.06

25.56

0.00

70.29

10.64

26.79

0.00

99.75

15.81

28.03

0.00

67.06

13.54

28.50

9.00

58.69

29.53

36.97

7.25

90.40

22.58

38.92

4.83

92.53

34.48

42.00

6.46

83.72

32.92

42.03

14.01

85.06

40.03

46.23

10.28

88.97

Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust submits data to the National
Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) on a monthly basis for all incidents that occur, and
are recorded on Datix, relating to people who use our services. This data is collected by the
NRLS who release data overviews twice a year for each NHS Trust in relation to occurrence
of incidents per 1,000 bed days and also compares submitted data to other Trusts
throughout the country.
Over previous years we have featured in the lower end of the NRLS national comparison of
incidents reported per 1,000 bed days. The incident data exported to the NRLS from 2011 Sept 2016 (the latest NRLS data can be seen in the table above). We are now in line with
median national reporting by Mental Health Trusts.
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as
described for the following reason: Incident reporting has improved year on year in recent
years and we have taken a proactive approach to increase the number of incidents being
reported to encourage an open and transparent culture where we can learn from one
another and to improve the services we offer to people. Historically staff have actively
reported those incidents that result in extreme harm or death but did not always recognise
occurrences resulting in a lesser degree of harm or near miss as an incident to be reported.
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Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to
improve these results, and so the quality of its services:
 Launch of Datix huddles to review and sign off reported incidents increasing
awareness of the process and importance of reporting incidents and the learning and
how this is embedded
 Dedicated Datix incident reporting training directed to specific teams
 Monthly Learning Report explaining what happens with the data reported and how
this creates themes and trends to learn from and encourages reporting
The latest NRLS release of data (September 2016) also includes the ratio of those incidents
reported as deaths of people who use our services in relation to 1,000 bed days and
comparison with other Mental Health Trusts.

April 2011 Sep 2011
Oct 2011 March 2012
April 2012 Sep 2012
Oct 2012 March 2013
April 2013 Sep 2013
Oct 2013 March 2014
April 2014 Sep 2014
Oct 2014 March 2015
April 2015 Sep 2015
Oct 2015 March 2016
Apr 2016 Sept 2016

Number of deaths
reported by SABP to
NRLS

Deaths as a percentage of total
number of incidents reported
by SABP to NRLS

Mental Health Trusts average:
deaths as a percentage of total
number of incidents reported
to NRLS

28

5.9%

0.6%

40

4.9%

1.0%

26

4.0%

1.0%

30

3.5%

0.9%

26

2.2%

1.1%

32

3.2%

0.9%

22

1.8%

0.8%

32

3.7%

0.9%

41

3.2%

0.8%

38

3.2%

1.0%

26

1.8%

1.1%

On first view it appears that we have a much higher than average reporting rate of incidents
reporting deaths of people who use our services.
The NRLS website gives the following guidance:
Nationally, 72 percent of incidents are reported as no harm, and just under one per cent as
severe harm or death. However, not all organisations apply the national coding of degree of
harm in a consistent way, which can make comparison of harm profiles of organisations
difficult.
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Organisations should record actual harm to patients rather than potential degree of harm.
Recognising and reporting incidents resulting in severe harm, or death is an important sign
of an organisation's reporting culture. If the numbers of incidents reported as severe harm
or death are low compared with peers you should check that your reports reflect all
incidents you are aware of through sources such as mortality review, inquests, litigation or
complaints.
The 26 deaths of people recorded between April 2016 – September 2016 can be broken
down as follows:
 Unexpected deaths/suspected suicide of people who use, or have in the past used,
our services
 Deaths of people that have been classified as natural causes – these deaths are not
reportable to NRLS. A delay in establishing a cause of death can lead to these deaths
to be reported to NRLS as we view all deaths of people without an established
natural cause of death as an unexpected death up until the point this is confirmed by
HM Coroner
 Incidents established as not related to the death of a person in use, or past use, of
our services
We are currently in the process of refreshing this data with NRLS to provide accurate
figures. When refreshing this data for October 2015 - March 2016 the revised figures are:

April 2015 Sep 2015
Oct 2015 March 2016

Number of deaths reported
by SABP to NRLS

Deaths as a % of total
number of incidents
reported by SABP to NRLS

Mental Health Trusts
average:
deaths as % of total number
of incidents reported to
NRLS

35

2.69%

0.83%

36

3.06%

0.79%

The
programme was designed and launched in 2014 further to our desire to
identify, test, make reliable, spread and embed all the safety and experience improvement
works that were occurring in isolation in the Trust. Suicide prevention is a critical
component of ensuring that we learn lessons from adverse events and take actions to
ensure that risks to safety are effectively managed.
Caveats to this declaration
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust considers that the data above is as
described for the following reasons:
We are actively driving up the numbers of incidents being reported and logged as incidents.
There is an element of local clinical judgement in the reported figures which we have tried
to manage by providing training and there are various policies and processes in place
relating to incident reporting to support this process.
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However this does not provide sufficient assurance that could be subject to audit to ensure
that all incidents are being reported. This is in line with all other Trusts.
There is also clinical judgement needed in the classification of an incident as ‘severe harm’
as it requires moderation and judgement against subject criteria and processes. This can be
evidenced as classifications can change once they are reviewed.
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Part Three: Other Information
The following is an overview of the care offered by Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust based on performance in 2016/17 against indicators selected by the Board
in consultation with stakeholders, with an explanation of the underlying reason for
selection. These indicators are different from those used in the 2015/16 Quality Account as
we felt that those indicators previously used were already being reported elsewhere in the
report. We also feel that this part of the Quality Account gives us the opportunity to
demonstrate our performance in other areas that are not mentioned in the Quality Account
thus far. The indicators for 2016/17 were approved by the Trust Board on 30 March 2016.

Performance Against Indicators
Patient Safety
1. Absent Without Leave Incidents (AWOLs)
We have seen a reduction throughout the year of the numbers of AWOL incidents from
inpatient services, and we attribute this to the relocation of the inpatient services. During
the initial opening of Farnham Road Hospital, there were some environmental issues related
to door security that needed to be addressed, which did not fully mitigate against
absconding behaviours. These issues have now been resolved. We also had two inpatient
units running in Epsom which had some significant environment issues that could not be
resolved and so this service has since been relocated to St Peters Hospital, allowing a more
physically secure environment.
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2. Physical restraints by position
Our year to date has shown a considerable reduction in the use of prone restraint, especially
since October 2016. Driven by our Positive and Safe restrictive practice reduction plan, we
have achieved this by the introduction of new MAYBO training and techniques. As the use of
prone restraint has decreased, there has been a slight increase in the use of supine
restraint, as this has become the dominant position held when a restraint goes to the floor.
Physical restraints by position
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3
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9
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0

8
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20
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30

41

Dec-16

18

40

Supine (On their back)

3. Falls
In the 12 months between April 2016 and March 2017, 427 falls were reported, over half of
which were classified as being a fall on level ground. The following graph shows the
cumulative falls reporting, by type, for this period. The Falls Working Group is now
established within the Trust, and is focusing on falls prevention, monitoring falls, and best
practice falls safety initiatives.
Slip, trip and falls incidents affecting people who uses our services by
reported date
1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017
Fall after an act of aggression

3

Accident of some other type or cause

30

Collision with an object

23

Fall from a height, bed or chair

73

Fall on level ground

214

Suspected fall
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Tripped over an object

22
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4. Statutory training

At the end of Quarter 4, our compliance with this indicator remains good at 94.8%. The
Education Department are providing both in-house and e-learning additional support to
address key training issues where employees have slipped behind in their compliance.
During the year we overcame difficulties with the different releases of Internet Explorer
which were causing difficulties for e-learning.
Percentage of staff who are up to date with their statutory training
100%
95%
90%
85%

92%

80%
75%

83%

84%

88%

94%

94.8%

94%

94.8%

70%
Q1 2015/16Q2 2015/16Q3 2015/16Q4 2015/16Q1 2016/17Q2 2016/17Q3 2016/17Q4 2016/17
Inadequate <80%

Requires improvement >=80%

Good >=90%

Outstanding >=95%

5. Mandatory training

At the end of Quarter 4, our compliance with this indicator remains good at 90.85% and we
continue to see small improvements each month. The Education Department are providing
both in-house and e-learning additional support to address key training issues where
employees have slipped behind in their compliance.
Percentage of staff who are up to date with their mandatory training
100%
80%
60%
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Clinical Effectiveness
1. Staff appraisals
The aim of our appraisals is to ensure that our staff are supported to be able to undertake
what is required of them in their role and to agree with our employees what they would like
to do to develop and progress, either within our organisation or the wider NHS. Our overall
reported appraisal position improved from 84% in April 2016 to 92% in March 2017; an
increase of seven percentage points. Managers are able to sustain improvements by
planning appraisals diligently and by ensuring that data entry is undertaken at the time of
the appraisal.
Percentage of staff with an up to date appraisal
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Source: Electronic Staff Record system (ESR)
2. Protected characteristics
We aim to support our adherence to the Equality Act 2010 by improving the data collection
of the protected characteristics of people who use our services. The protected
characteristics are age band, disability status, gender, marriage and civil partnership,
ethnicity, religion and belief and sexual orientation). We have embedded a culture in the
Trust which ensures that clinicians are consistently reporting the protected characteristics of
people. Any data quality work is addressed through the work the Data Quality Leads
complete within the clinical teams.
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Average percent completeness of protected characteristics information
for people using our services
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40%
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88% 88% 88% 89% 89%

20%
0%

89%

Inadequate <40%

Requires improvement >=40%

Good >=80%

Outstanding >=90%

Source: SABP Information Management Team
Note: To calculate the figures shown in the chart we first calculate, for each of the protected
characteristics, the percentages of people where information about the protected
characteristic has been recorded on SystmOne. We then calculate the average of the
percentage figures for the seven protected characteristics.
Figures for the period October 2015 to March 2016 are not available following our move to
a new data warehouse.
3. Children and Young Persons Services (CYPS) Eating Disorders waiting times

CYPS Eating Disorders waiting times - for urgent referrals
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> 4 weeks, to 8 weeks

CYPS Eating Disorders waiting times - for routine referrals
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Source: The waiting times figures are calculated from manually-collated information
provided by the Children and Young Persons Services Eating Disorders service. The figures
are for people under the age of 18 as this is the age range covered by our Children and
Young Persons Services Eating Disorders service.
The NHS England access and waiting time standard states that children and young people
(under the age of 19) referred for assessment or treatment for an eating disorder should
receive National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) approved treatment with a
designated healthcare professional within one week for urgent referrals and within four
weeks for routine referrals. Our Children and Young Persons Services Eating Disorders
service has taken the following steps to achieve the waiting times standards during 2016/17:
 We have increased the number of assessment slots in the team timetable from three
to five, embedding two urgent assessment slots into the timetable
 All senior staff have been fully briefed on the actual waiting times standards for selfreferrals, as these are slightly different, and have appraised junior staff. We have
received a few self-referrals
 Our Service Manager meets regularly with OneStop (our single point of access for our
children’s services) to ensure that they allocate within the 24 hour timeframe also.
 The schedule for staff to attend the Access and Waiting Times national training
programme has been for the whole of 2017
 We have a Duty System in place to respond to all referrals in a timely way.
 We have briefed our CAMHS colleagues about ensuring that they notify the Children
and Young Persons Services Eating Disorders service as soon as they detect an eating
disorder and that they consult the team before making a referral
 We have increased our therapy staff by 40% to meet the NICE requirements
 The whole team has undergone the family based therapy training so that we can
offer this (NICE Concordant) family based therapy
 We have developed an enhanced pathway to be able to rapidly respond to urgent
referrals
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People’s Experience
1. Your Views Matter – Friends and Family Test
Percentage of people using our services who said they were extremely likely
or likely to recommend our service to their friends and family
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3,201 people answered the Your Views Matter survey question ‘Based on your experience how likely are you to recommend our service to friends and family if they needed similar
care or treatment?’ during 2016/17. Of these people, 89% answered ‘Extremely likely’ or
‘Likely’.
2. Your Views Matters – Carers Friends and Family Test
Percentage of carers who said they were extremely likely or likely to
recommend our service to their friends and family
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We achieved our second gold star as part of the Triangle of Care which has also helped our
clinical Divisions focus on the needs of carers. We continue to see an improvement in carers’
satisfaction with our services.
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3. Your Views Matter – People with a learning disability
Percentage of people using our Learning Disabilities services who said they
would tell their family and friends to come to us for support
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Source: Your Views Matter Survey for people with a learning disability (community services)
Our Learning Disabilities services strive to ensure that everyone with a learning disability
would want their families and friends to come to us for support. We are aware that many
people we support may not be able to answer the Your Views Matter questions, so we have
introduced other methods of finding out whether people are having a good experience. For
example in our MyTime Reigate day opportunities, people are supported to indicate
whether they have enjoyed a particular activity through the use of coloured balls
representing liked or disliked.
325 people using our Learning Disabilities community services answered the Your Views
Matter survey question ‘Would you tell your family and friends to come to us for support?’
during 2016/17. Of these people, 94% answered ‘Yes a lot’ or ‘Yes, a little’.
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Performance Against Key National Priorities
The following gives an overview of performance in 2016/17 against the key national
priorities from the Department of Health’s Operating Framework. This includes performance
against the relevant indicators and performance thresholds which appear in both the NHS
Improvement Risk Assessment Framework and the Single Oversight Framework.
Minimising delayed transfers of care
Definition/notes
Numerator: the number of non-acute
patients (aged 18 and over on admission)
per day under consultant and nonconsultant-led care whose transfer of
care was delayed during the quarter. For
example, one patient delayed for five
days counts as five

Data
period

Target
Q1

Q–
Actual

< = 7.5%

3.88%

2016/17
Q2
Q3

3.85%

2.99%

Q4

1.26%

Denominator: the total number of
occupied bed days (consultant-led and
non-consultant-led) during the quarter

The external auditors tested a number of people who use services captured as delayed transfers of
care during quarters 2 to 4, which identified inconsistent application and interpretation of NHSI’s
mandated guidance, and specifically when a person who uses our services should be captured as a
delayed transfer. As a result, a number of individual cases have been incorrectly recorded and the
Trust does not have assurance that the figures disclosed in the above table are accurate.

EIIP waiting times
Definition/notes

Data
period

Target

2016/2017
Q1

Q2

Q3*

Q4*

64.3%

85.5%

85.9%

75.4%

Early Intervention in Psychosis: first
experience treated with a NICEapproved package within two weeks
Numerator: The number of referrals to
and within the Trust with suspected first
episode of psychosis or at ‘risk mental
state’ that start a NICE-recommended
package care package in the reporting
period within two weeks of referral

Q–
Actual

50%

Denominator: The number of referrals
to and within the Trust with suspected
first episode psychosis or at ‘risk mental
state’ that start a NICE-recommended
care package in the reporting period
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IAPT waiting times
Definition/notes
Improving access to psychological
therapies (IAPT):
 people with common mental health
conditions referred to the IAPT
programme will be treated within
six weeks of referral
Improving Access to Psychological
Therapies (IAPT):
 people with common mental
health conditions referred to the
IAPT programme will be treated
within 18 weeks of referral

Data
period

Target
Q1

2016/2017
Q2
Q3*

Q4*

Q–
Actual

75%

98.2%

97.6%

98.6%

98.5%

Q–
Actual

95%

99.7%

99.6%

99.9%

99.6%

Meeting commitment to new EIIP cases
New cases of psychosis served by EIIP teams
Meeting
commitment to
serve new
Apr
May Jun
Jul
psychosis cases
16
16
16
16
by early
intervention
teams
Cumulative Total 11
23
43
63

Aug
16

Sep
16

Oct
16

Nov
16

Dec
16

Jan
17

Feb
17

Mar
17

93

112

126

153

169

191

204

218

Our Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIIP) teams served 218 new psychosis cases during
2016/17, exceeding the target of 126 new cases by year-end.
Data completeness: identifiers
Definition/notes

Data
period

Target

2016/2017
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

99.86%

99.86%

99.85%

99.84%

Data completeness: identifiers
Numerator: count of valid entries for each
data item below
Denominator: total number of entries
Date of birth
Patient's current gender
Patient's NHS number
Organisation code of patient’s registered GP

Postcode of patient's normal residence
Organisation code of Commissioner

Q–
Actual

Q–
Actual
Q–
Actual
Q–
Actual
Q–
Actual
Q–
Actual
Q–
Actual
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97%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
99.99%

99.99%

99.98%

99.77%

99.85%

99.83%

99.99%
99.85%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
99.42%

99.35%

99.27%

99.23%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Data completeness: outcomes for patients on CPA
Definition/notes

Data
period

Target

2016/2017
Q1

Q2

Q3*

Q4*

71.28%

75.19%

77.36%

77.36%

Data completeness: outcomes for
patients on CPA
Definition is for those adult patients on
a CPA with a HONOS, employment
status, and settled accommodation data
Completed %

Q–
Actual

50.00%

Numerator: count of valid entries (valid,
other, default)
Denominator: total number of entries

The figures shown are the average of the percent completeness figures for Employment
Status and Settled Accommodation. Completeness figures for the HoNOS 12 month’s
element of the indicator are not available following the move from RiO to SystmOne.
Care Programme Approach (CPA) patients having formal review within 12 months
Definition/notes

Data
period

Target

2016/2017
Q1

Q2

Q3*

Q4*

Care Programme Approach (CPA) patients having
formal review within 12 months
Numerator: the number of adults in the
denominator who have had at least one formal
review in the last 12 months

Q–
Actual

95.00% 36.93% 71.68% 78.92% 85.20%

Denominator: the total number of adults who
have received secondary mental health services
and who had been on CPA for at least 12 months
at the end of the reporting period

The figure of 36.93% for Quarter 1 2016/17 has not been validated by our Data Quality
Leads because the move to a new data warehouse meant this was not possible. Based on
previous and subsequent validation work, it is likely that some of the apparent breaches for
Quarter 1 are due to data input errors, such as reviews being recorded incorrectly on
SystmOne. The Quarter 1 datasets included people and services that should not have been
included. The un-validated figure for Quarter 1 is therefore likely to understate the
percentage of people with a review in the past 12 months.
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Annex 1: Statements from
Commissioners, local Healthwatch
organisations and Overview and
Scrutiny Committees
Response by Council of Governors
Overall the report read well and demonstrated good process that the governors were
pleased to see. Our nurse governor stated that the staff feel positive about their
performance and in particular, through the Care Quality Commission inspections, they have
improved outcomes for people who use our services. Coupled with the positive staff survey
results we have seen positive clinical practice changes in our services. We are pleased to see
how the staff awards are a reflection of the good work within the Trust, and also have a
positive impact on staff morale.
We reviewed the increase in deaths, but following a further discussion with the Chief Nurse
we were assured that this relates to reporting rather than an actual increase. We would
however like to see death levels decreased, and are pleased that the Trust now conducts
mortality reviews to ensure we continue to learn from these to improve practice. There are
concerns about the number of Prevention of Future Deaths (PFD) notices from coroners. We
heard that there has been an increased scrutiny on our mortality information and how the
Trust is focusing on ensuring that people receive the necessary physical health care checks
in order to support the reduction in mortality rates. We noted the difference in how physical
health care is provided within the divisions and were assured that older adults and learning
disabilities have processes in place to ensure that these needs are met. We would like to see
more evidence in the adult services and across all services that the Trust ensures that
people do not fall through the gap with primary and secondary care. We are pleased to hear
that the Trust is better connecting with GPs and have appointed a physical health nurse and
an oral hygiene nurse.
We noted CQCs’ comment concerning the low number of complaints in our Trust. We need
to encourage more people to make complaints, to enable us to understand better where
practice needs to be improved. We hope that the new role of Speak Up Guardian will
support and help our staff, and in doing so improve services for people.
We are delighted to see the appointment of the new Chief Operating Officer who will be
working with staff in the clinical services to improve the quality of care.
We continue to have concerns about people signing their care plans and the issues with
SystmOne. We would ask the Trust to ensure they continue to keep on top of these issues
and ensure performance continues to improve. We do acknowledge that getting people to
sign their plans when unwell can be a challenge.
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There is evidence of good work with the Accessible Information Standard Requirements but
this now needs to be embedded in the clinical and corporate services to ensure it makes a
difference for people who use services and their carers.
We heard from a staff governor that the positive and safe work is improving practice within
the teams, and there has been a focus on reducing face down restraints. We also saw in the
report how there has been a reduction in AWOLs (Absent Without Leave), and the move to
our new inpatient services may have had a positive impact on this. However, the people
who use services governors and the carer governors are particularly concerned about the
issues visitors and carers face travelling further to see people with a travel plan which is not
supporting the new moves. We are also concerned that people are not easily able to access
escorted home leave and sometimes unable to see their care co-ordinator as often as they
need to.
We are disheartened that the new inpatient hospital consultation has become delayed
between the six CCGs and the three STPs that cover our Foundation Trust area. This limits
the options for our Trust to progress.
With regards to the CQC ratings, we are disappointed by the length of time it has often
taken to implement necessary improvements, but we acknowledge that improvements have
been achieved at this year end and we await the outcome of the subsequent CQC visits and
reports.
Some governors are unhappy about the implementation of the smoking ban that is due this
October.
Finally with concerns for improvement, we would like to see more STEIS (Strategic Executive
Information System) reporting, and more NRLS (National Reporting and Learning System)
reporting. We are particularly aware of the focus on staff retention, with a staff turnover
rate of 22%. We are pleased to see the services are now undertaking exit interviews to
understand the reasons behind staff leaving. We also note that the Care Programme
Approach 12 month reviews need improving, as we see this as an important part of a
person’s care.
To conclude we were very pleased to see four teams were awarded the Care Accreditation
and this was acknowledged by the Trust at the Care Awards ceremony 2016. We would also
like to congratulate Fiona and Jo on their EMBRACE Awards. Fiona was named CEO of the
Year and Jo was named Quality Champion of the Year at the event, which took place on
4 November at University College London in Euston.
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Response by Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
I am writing to confirm that the Commissioners have reviewed the draft Quality Account
2016/17 (version 7) for your organisation. They have examined a range of areas and the
general feedback is as follows:
 It is a very comprehensive report, easy to read and complies largely with all the
nationally mandated requirements as indicated in the February 2017 guidance from
NHS Improvement entitled ‘Detailed requirements for quality reports for foundation
trusts 2016/2017’
 It reflects the data and information shared with commissioners through the Clinical
Quality Review Meeting during 2016/17
 The data and actions are valid and there is good use of data and data displays (eg
graphs)
It is also noted that there are small, but important refinements needed in the Account. The
organisation has received these suggestions in a separate communication and the
Commissioners have asked for assurance that these will be incorporated into the final
account.
Finally, we would like to acknowledge formally that the organisation is one which regularly
displays a committed to a culture of quality improvement and safety. Their leadership
teams, who attend many quality focused reviews that we hold with them, are open to
suggestions and ideas from Commissioners, and this was demonstrated only most recently
where they ‘opened the doors’ to their organisation for a ‘mock’ inspection.
Vicky Stobbart
Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety
Guildford and Waverley Clinical Commissioning Group
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Response by Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
The Wellbeing and Health Scrutiny Board welcomes the opportunity to comment on Surrey
and Borders Partnership Trust’s Quality Account. It has worked closely with the Trust in the
past six months. This has included reviewing the relocation of Elgar and Delius wards to the
Abraham Cowley Unit. The Board thanks staff, governors and service users for their input in
this process. A working group report was considered by the Board on 17 February 2017.
The Trust Medical Director informed the Board in July 2016 that consultation on the location
for the second modern hospital facility was due to commence. The Board recognises that
whilst the relocation of Elgar and Delius wards to the Abraham Cowley Unit was necessary in
the interests of patient safety, it has emphasised the need for a facility in east Surrey. The
Board would welcome an update as consultation progresses.
The Board Chairman met with the Medical Director in March 2017 to discuss patient safety,
and an increase in the number of reported serious incidents. The Chairman was assured that
the Trust has changed its reporting in response to feedback from CQC, and that processes
were in place to review and learn from trends in serious incidents. The Board also
recognises the Safe Care programme is a key priority to assist the Trust in the reduction of
serious incidents.
The Board notes implementation of the new model of care within CAMHS in April 2016
provided improvements for service users and an opportunity for change as CAMHS assisted
the delivery of a multi-agency service.
The Board notes the positive patient and carer feedback, and congratulates the Trust in
achieving this. The priorities around retaining this high performance demonstrates that the
Trust considers patient and carer experience at the heart of the services they provide. The
Board welcomes the priority to improve people’s involvement in planning their care. It notes
the success of the Safe Havens, and endorses this community based approach to supporting
people. The uptake of people with dementia and their carers joining the Technology
Integrated Healthcare Management national test bed research project also demonstrates
that the Trust is exploring innovation in how it delivers its services.
In respect to the core indicators, the Board wishes to highlight the notable increase in
readmissions within 28 days after discharge over 2016/17. It also has some concerns with
respect to the increasing absent without leave incidents. The Board commends the Trust for
having reduced the use of physical restraints, particularly given the concerning sharp
increase in September 2016. It would also highlight the significant improvement in the
number of Care Programme Approach patients having formal review within 12 months.
The Board thanks the Trust for its continued efforts to provide services for Surrey residents.
It recognises there have been some significant steps taken to learn and improve over
2016/17 and looks forward to hearing how these will continue to support people who use
the Trust’s services in 17/18.
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Response by Healthwatch Surrey
As the independent consumer champion for health and social care, Healthwatch Surrey is
committed to ensuring the people of Surrey have a voice to improve, shape and get the best
from their health and social care services by empowering local people and communities.
For several years now, local Healthwatch across the country have been asked to read and
comment on Quality Accounts produced by NHS providers, as required by the legislation. In
Surrey this involves at least nine Quality Accounts working to similar deadlines, often to
tight timescales. Each document is lengthy and involves many hours work by our staff and
volunteers to digest and comment in a meaningful way. Last year we attempted, with the
help of volunteers, to comment on the Quality Accounts and to provide a perspective based
on the evidence we collect from the public, however we are not convinced that it was a
good use of our resources. We do not believe that this process is an effective way of getting
our information out to the public; nor an effective way of using our evidence to improve
services.
This year our Board has decided that we will not to get involved in commenting on the
Quality Accounts. With limited resources we do not believe this is the best way to use our
time to make a difference for the people of Surrey. We know that this issue is under
discussion at a national level and that other local Healthwatch are adopting a similar
approach. We have chosen to concentrate this year on ensuring we feedback what we’ve
heard on NHS and social care services to commissioners on a regular basis; and that we have
the processes and relationships in place to escalate any cases of particular concern to the
providers involved and seek outcomes.
Kate Scribbins
Chief Executive
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Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities in Respect of the
Quality Account
The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009, National Health Service (Quality
Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.
NHS Improvement has issued guidance to NHS Foundation Trust boards on the form and
content of annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on
the arrangements that Foundation Trust boards should put in place to support the data
quality for the preparation of the Quality Account.
In preparing the Quality Account, Directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves
that:
 The content of the Quality Account meets the requirements set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2016/17 and supporting guidance
 The content of the Quality Account is not inconsistent with internal and external
sources of information including:
- Board minutes and papers from the period April 2016 to March 2017
- Papers relating to quality reported to the Board over the period April 2016 to
March 2017
- Feedback from the commissioners dated 4 May 2017
- Feedback from Local Health Watch dated 24 April 2017
- Feedback from our Council of Governors dated 5 May 2017
- Feedback from the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated 9 May 2017
- The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the local authority
social services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated 2 August 2016
- The 2016 national patient survey dated 25 October 2016
- The 2016 national staff survey dated 7 March 2017
- The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment
dated 12 May 2017
- CQC inspection report dated 28 July 2016
 The Quality Accounts presents a balanced picture of the Trust’s performance over the
period covered
 The performance information reported in the Quality Account is materially reliable
and accurate
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 There are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures
of performance included in the Quality Account, and these controls are subject to
review to confirm that they are working effectively in practice
 The data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Account
is robust and reliable, conforms to specific data quality standards and prescribed
definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review
 The Quality Account had been prepared in accordance with NHS Improvement’s
annual reporting guidance (which incorporates Quality Accounts regulations) as well
as the standards to support data quality for the preparation of the Quality Account
 As the trust is currently not reporting complete validated performance against the
indicators ‘Minimising delayed transfers of care’ and’ ‘The percentage of admissions
to wards for which the Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team acted as a
gatekeeper during the reporting period’, due to concerns over Q1 data quality from
the migration to a new patient records system (SystmOne), the Directors have a plan
in place to remedy this and will return to full reporting during 2017
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the
above requirements in preparing the Quality Account.
By order of the Board

Signed

Ian McPherson
Chairman

Signed

Fiona Edwards
Chief Executive

25 May 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Council of Governors of Surrey and Borders
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust on the Quality Report
We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of Surrey
and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality Report for the year ended 31
March 2017 (the ‘Quality Report’) and certain performance indicators contained therein.
Scope and subject matter
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2017 subject to limited assurance consist of the
following two national priority indicators (the indicators):
 minimising delayed transfers of care; and,
 admissions to inpatient services had access to crisis resolution home treatment teams.
We refer to these national priority indicators collectively as the ‘indicators’.
Respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors
The directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality Report in
accordance with the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual
issued by NHS Improvement.
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on
whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:
 the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set
out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and supporting guidance;
 the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified
in the Detailed requirements for quality reports for foundation trusts 2016/17 (‘the
Guidance’); and
 the indicators in the Quality Report identified as having been the subject of limited
assurance in the Quality Report are not reasonably stated in all material respects in
accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and the six
dimensions of data quality set out in the Detailed Requirements for external assurance
for quality reports for foundation trusts 2016/17.
We read the Quality Report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements of
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and consider the implications for our
report if we become aware of any material omissions.
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We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider whether it is
materially inconsistent with:
 Board minutes and papers for the period April 2016 to May 2017;
 Papers relating to quality reported to the board over the period April 2016 to May
2017;
 Feedback from commissioners, dated 4 May 2017;
 Feedback from Council of Governors, dated 5 May 2017;
 Feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee, dated 9 May 2017;
 the trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority
Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009;
 the 2016 national patient survey, dated 25 October 2016;
 the 2016 national staff survey, dated 7 March 2017;
 Care Quality Commission Inspection, dated 28 July 2016.
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the
‘documents’). Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.
We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics. Our
team comprised assurance practitioners and relevant subject matter experts.
This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of Governors
of Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the Council of
Governors in reporting the NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and
activities. We permit the disclosure of this report within the Annual Report for the year
ended 31 March 2017, to enable the Council of Governors to demonstrate they have
discharged their governance responsibilities by commissioning an independent assurance
report in connection with the indicator. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors as a body
and Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this report,
except where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior consent in writing.
Assurance work performed
We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance Engagements other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information’, issued by the International Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited assurance procedures included:
 evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for
managing and reporting the indicator;
 making enquiries of management;
 testing key management controls;
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 limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator back to
supporting documentation;
 comparing the content requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting
Manual to the categories reported in the Quality Report; and
 reading the documents.
A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance
engagement. The nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient
appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance
engagement.
Limitations
Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial
information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for
determining such information.
The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the
selection of different, but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in
materially different measurements and can affect comparability. The precision of different
measurement techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the nature and methods used to
determine such information, as well as the measurement criteria and the precision of these
criteria, may change over time. It is important to read the quality report in the context of
the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and supporting
guidance.
The scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or the nonmandated indicator, which was determined locally by Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust.
Basis for adverse conclusion
As set out in the Statement on Quality from the Chief Executive of the Foundation Trust on
pages 2 to 5 of the Trust’s Quality Report, the Trust currently has concerns relating to both,
the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data. The Trust migrated to a new
Electronic Patient Records System at the start of the year and during quarter one of 2016/17
was in the process of improving data quality associated with minimising delayed transfer of
care and admission to inpatient services had access to crisis resolution home treatment
teams. Consequently we were unable to give limited assurance on these indicators.
Management has reflected the wider context of the internal improvement programme and
other reviews and assurance they have received over the indicators within their
commentary in the Quality Report, but we are not able to conclude that the Trust has
effectively used performance information to support informed decision making and
performance management during 2016/17.
As a result of these issues, we have concluded that we are unable to test sufficiently the
minimising delayed transfers of care and admissions to inpatient services had access to crisis
resolution home treatment team indicators for the year ended 31 March 2017.
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Adverse conclusion
Based on the results of our procedures, except for the effects of the matters described in
the ‘Basis for qualified conclusion’ section above, nothing have come to our attention that
causes us to believe that, for the year ended 31 March 2017:
 the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set
out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual; and
 the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified
in the Guidance.

KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square, London, E14 5GL
26 May 2017

140

Annual Accounts
2016/17

The recruitment phase for our TIHM for dementia test bed project commenced in
June 2016. Here Dr Shirin Enshaeifar from Surrey University demonstrates
some of the technology
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Foreword to the Accounts
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
These accounts, for the year ended 31 March 2017, have been prepared by Surrey and
Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 & 25 of
Schedule 7 within the National Health Service Act 2006.

Signed

Fiona Edwards
Chief Executive
25 May 2017
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for year ended 31 March 2017
Operating income from patient care activities
Other operating income
Total operating income from continuing operations
Operating expenses
Operating surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations
Finance income
Finance expenses
PDC dividends payable
Net finance costs
Gains/(losses) of disposal of non-current assets
Surplus/(deficit) for the year from continuing operations
Surplus/(deficit) on discontinued operations and the
gain/(loss) on disposal of discontinued operations
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:
Impairments
Revaluations
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the period

2016/17

2015/16

£000
140,421
24,044
164,465
(148,681)
15,784

£000
129,130
20,689
149,819
(158,704)
(8,885)

18
(152)
(3,359)
(3,493)
3,323
15,614

53
(134)
(3,565)
(3,646)
1,008
(11,523)

14

15,614

(11,523)

6
18

391
15,106
31,111

(2,333)
(13,856)

Note
3
4
5, 7

10
11

12

The comprehensive income/(expense) includes significant non-recurring expenditure items.
When these are excluded from the operating position - in line with NHS accounting practice - the
Trust achieved an operating surplus as shown below:
Surplus / (deficit) for the year
Net impairments (shown in operating expenses)
(Profit) / loss on disposals
Sustainability and Transformation Funding

12
4

Surplus / (deficit) for the year excluding non-recurrent
items

15,614
(6,888)
(3,323)
(5,217)

(11,523)
12,694
(1,008)
-
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Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has re-assessed its charitable fund, in line
with the definition in IAS 1, and no longer considers the charitable fund material to its financial
statements. As such, the accounts are not consolidated and reflect only the Trust position.
All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations. The Notes on pages 152 to
190 form part of these accounts.
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2017
31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

15
16

5,425
123,505
128,930

4,580
99,490
104,070

23
24

99
16,810

87
13,772

27
28

504
13,056
30,469

360
13,194
27,413

29
31
34

(18,012)
(306)
(3,319)
(21,637)
137,762

(21,731)
(188)
(2,364)
(24,283)
107,200

34

(9,689)
(9,689)
128,073

(10,195)
(10,195)
97,005

191,124
31,294
(13,391)
(80,954)
128,073

191,167
16,240
(13,391)
(97,011)
97,005

Note
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal
groups
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other liabilities
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Total assets employed
Financed by
Public dividend capital
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Income and expenditure reserve
Total taxpayers' equity

The financial statements on pages 147 to 151 were approved by the Board and
signed on its behalf by:

Fiona Edwards
Chief Executive
25 May 2017
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2017
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2016 - brought forward
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Other transfers between reserves
Impairments
Revaluations
Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets
Public dividend capital received
Other movements in public dividend capital in year
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2017

Public dividend
capital

Revaluation
reserve

Other reserves

£000
191,167
(43)
191,124

£000
16,240
(321)
391
15,106
(122)
31,294

£000
(13,391)
(13,391)

Income and
expenditure
reserve
£000
(97,011)
15,614
321
122
(80,954)

Total

£000
97,005
15,614
391
15,106
(43)
128,073

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2016

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2015 - brought forward
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Other transfers between reserves
Impairments
Revaluations
Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets
Public dividend capital received
Other movements in public dividend capital in year
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2016

Public dividend
capital

Revaluation
reserve

Other reserves

Income and
expenditure
reserve

Total

£000
191,081
86
191,167

£000
19,352
(454)
(2,333)
(325)
16,240

£000
(13,391)
(13,391)

£000
(86,267)
(11,523)
454
325
(97,011)

£000
110,775
(11,523)
(2,333)
86
97,005
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Information on Reserves
Public Dividend Capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of
assets over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS trust. Additional
PDC may also be issued to NHS foundation trusts by the Department of Health. A charge,
reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS foundation trust, is payable to the
Department of Health as the public dividend capital dividend.

Revaluation Reserve
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve,
except where, and to the extent that, they reverse impairments previously recognised in
operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income. Subsequent
downward movements in asset valuations are charged to the revaluation reserve to the
extent that a previous gain was recognised unless the downward movement represents a
clear consumption of economic benefit or a reduction in service potential.

Other Reserves
A negative other reserve was created in 2007/08, which related to the 2004/05 revaluation
of property, plant and equipment.

Income and Expenditure Reserve
The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the NHS foundation
trust.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year
ended 31 March 2017
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus/(deficit)
Non-cash income and expense:
Depreciation and amortisation
Net impairments
(Increase)/decrease in receivables and other assets
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
Increase/(decrease) in payables and other liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and investment
property
Sales of property, plant, equipment and investment
property
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received
Public dividend capital repaid
PDC dividend paid
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

5
6

28
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2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

15,784

(8,885)

5,582
(6,888)
(2,956)
(12)
(2,694)
573
9,389

4,143
12,694
(4,577)
(5)
3,753
(1,081)
6,042

18
(1,567)

53
(3,866)

(10,330)

(17,138)

6,112
(5,767)

2,505
(18,446)

(3,760)
(3,760)
(138)
13,194

86
(2,956)
(2,870)
(15,274)
28,468

13,056

13,194

Notes to the Accounts
1 Accounting Policies and other Information
Basis of Preparation
NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, is
responsible for issuing an accounts direction to NHS Foundation Trusts under the NHS Act
2006. NHS Improvement has directed that the financial statements of NHS Foundation
Trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the Department of Health Group
Accounting Manual (DH GAM), which shall be agreed with the Secretary of State.
Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the DH GAM 2016/17 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies
contained in that manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM
Treasury’ s Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) to the extent that they are meaningful and
appropriate to the NHS. The accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing
with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
Accounting Convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention
modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,
inventories and certain financial assets and liabilities.
Going Concern
After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the NHS
Foundation Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the accounts.
1.1 Interests in other Entities
NHS Charitable Funds
The charitable fund’s statutory accounts are prepared to 31 March in accordance with
the UK Charities Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP), which is based on UK
Financial Reporting Standard (FRS)102.
The NHS Foundation Trust is the corporate trustee to Surrey and Borders Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust General Purposes Charity and Related Charities (Charity number
1126477). The Trust has previously assessed its relationship to the charitable fund and
determined it to be a subsidiary because of the Trust’s exposure or rights to variable
returns and other benefits for itself, its staff or the people who use its services, from its
involvement with the charitable fund, and its ability to affect those returns and other
benefits through its power over the fund. It has, therefore, previously consolidated the
charitable fund’s statutory accounts into a Group position with the Trust. However, the
Trust has considered the definition in IAS 1, which requires materiality to be judged ‘in
the surrounding circumstances’, and has determined that, in 2016/17, the charitable
fund's income was at an immaterial level of only £0.809m (2015/16: £0.855m), less than
0.5% in proportion to the Trust's income, and it made a deficit of (£0.046m) (2015/16:
(£0.095m)).
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Therefore, from the viewpoint of both the Trust and the charitable fund, consolidation
no longer aids the users of the accounts, such that these financial statements reflect the
Trust position only.
DH Group bodies are required to disclose as a related party all linked charities (unless
formally consolidated), including the nature of the relationship and details of material
transactions between the Trust and the linked charity. Refer to Note 46.
Joint Ventures
Joint ventures are arrangements in which the trust has joint control with one or more other
parties and where it has the rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method. The Trust had no financial interests in any joint
venture in 2016/17. However, it entered into a Limited Liability partnership (LLP), which was
incorporated on 19 December 2016 (partnership number OC415159), on a 50/50 basis with
its partner Central Surrey Health CIC. The LLP was set up in order to bid for and deliver the
now titled Children and Family Health Surrey contract. This contract was won and took
effect from 01 April 2017. Set up costs of the LLP have been immaterial and accounted for as
expenses of the Trust.
The Trust has no other active subsidiaries, associates or joint operations.
1.2 Income
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that,
performance occurs and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The
main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of health
and social care services. Income is accounted for applying the accruals convention.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following
financial year, that income is deferred.
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions
of sale have been met and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.
1.3 Expenditure on Employee Benefits
Short-Term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which
the service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not
taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the
extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period.
Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The
scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general
practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of Secretary of State, in England and
Wales. It is not possible for the NHS Foundation Trust to identify its share of the underlying
scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution scheme.
Employer’s pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they
become due.
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Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme
except where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the
additional costs is charged to operating expenses at the time the trust commits itself to the
retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
1.4 Expenditure on Other Goods and Services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that, they have
been received and is measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is
recognised in operating expenses, except where it results in the creation of a non-current
asset, such as property, plant and equipment.
1.5 Property, Plant and Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:
 It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes
 It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be
provided to, the Trust
 It is expected to be used for more than one financial year
 The cost of the item can be measured reliably
 Individually, the items have a cost of at least £5,000* or
 Collectively, a number of assets have a cost of at least £5,000* and individually have
a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, had
broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control
 Form part of the initial setting-up cost of a new building or refurbishment of a ward
or unit, irrespective of the individual or collective cost
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with
significantly different asset lives, eg plant and equipment, then these components are
treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
* This changed from £1,000 in the prior year, as a result of changes in the Department of
Health Group Accounting Manual. The result of the change is immaterial to the financial
statements and so has been processed in the current period.
The value of assets less than £1000 is immaterial at below £81,000.
Measurement
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the
costs directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.
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All property assets are measured subsequently at valuation. Operational equipment is
valued at net current replacement cost. An item of property, plant or equipment that is
surplus to requirements with no plan to bring it back into use is valued at fair value under
IFRS 13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 or IFRS 5.
IAS 16 requires that revaluations should be carried out regularly, so that the carrying
amount of an asset does not differ materially from its fair value at the balance sheet date. If
an item is revalued, the entire class of assets to which that asset belongs is revalued. The
Trust will decide annually whether a full revaluation is needed each year but a full,
professional revaluation will be carried out at least every five years and it is usually carried
out at least every three years, given the volatility of the market in current economic
circumstances and different situations in different locations that the Trust operates from.
The valuations are carried out primarily on the basis of depreciated replacement cost for
specialised operational property and existing use value for non-specialised operational
property. The value of land for existing use purposes is assessed at existing use value. For
non-operational properties, including surplus land, the valuations are carried out at open
market value.
Additional alternative open market value figures have only been supplied for operational
assets scheduled for imminent closure and subsequent disposal.
Assets in the course of construction are valued at cost until they are brought into use when
they enter the standard, annual revaluation exercise. The costs arising from financing the
construction of the asset are not capitalised but are charged to the income and expenditure
account in the year to which they relate.
There was one asset held for sale at 31st March 2017, the property known as the Meadows
at Knaphill. A full revaluation was carried out in March 2017. Valuations are currently
carried out by GVA Grimley, professionally qualified valuers, in accordance with the Royal
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual.
Subsequent Expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised
as an increase in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future
economic benefits or service potential deriving from the cost incurred to replace a
component of such item will flow to the Trust and the cost of the item can be determined
reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is
capitalised, if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part
replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate additional future
economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.
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Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful
economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery
benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated.
Leaseholds are depreciated over the primary lease term.
Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as ‘held for sale’ ceases to be
depreciated upon the reclassification. Assets in the course of construction are not
depreciated until the asset is brought into use or reverts to the Trust.
Revaluation Gains and Losses
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent
that, they reverse a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating
expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income.
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an
available balance for the asset concerned and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.
Impairments
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment in
periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be
recoverable.
In accordance with the DH GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of
economic benefit or service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A
compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure
reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating
expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before
the impairment.
An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service
potential is reversed when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the
loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating expenditure to the extent that the
asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never
been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at
the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to
the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation
reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are
treated as revaluation gains.
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De-Recognition
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once all of the following
criteria are met:
 The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to
terms which are usual and customary for such sales
 The sale must be highly probable, ie:
- management are committed to a plan to sell the asset
- an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale
- the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price
- the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of
classification as ‘held for sale’ and
- the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will
be dropped or significant changes made to it
Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying
amount and their ‘fair value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged. Assets
are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have been met.
The profit or loss arising on disposal of an asset is the difference between the sale proceeds
and the carrying amount and is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. On
disposal, the balance for the assets on the revaluation reserve is transferred to Income and
Expenditure reserve. For donated assets, a transfer is made to or from the relevant reserve
to the profit/loss on disposal amount so that no profit or loss is recognised in income and
expenses. The remaining surplus or deficit in the donated asset reserve is then transferred
to Income and Expenditure.
Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for
recognition as ‘Held for Sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s
economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.
Donated, Government Grant and other Grant Funded Assets
The Trust has no donated or grant funded assets.
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Transactions
The Trust has no PFI transactions.
Useful Economic lives of Property, Plant and Equipment
Useful economic lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset.
The range of useful economic lives are shown in the table below:
Min Life Years
15
3
5
2
2
2

Land
Buildings, excluding dwellings
Dwellings
Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Information technology
Furniture & fittings
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Max Life Years
999
80
38
15
7
8
25

Finance-leased assets (including land) are depreciated over the shorter of the useful
economic life or the lease term, unless the FT expects to acquire the asset at the end of the
lease term, in which case the assets are depreciated in the same manner as owned assets
above.
1.6 Intangible Assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of
being sold separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual
or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust and where the cost of the
asset can be measured reliably.
Internally Generated Intangible Assets
Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and
similar items are not capitalised as intangible assets.
Expenditure on research is not capitalised.
Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the following can be
demonstrated:
 The project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an
intangible asset for sale or use
 The Trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it
 The Trust has the ability to sell or use the asset
 How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery
benefits, eg the presence of a market for it or its output or, where it is to be used
for internal use, the usefulness of the asset
 Adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the Trust to
complete the development and sell or use the asset and
 The Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during
development
Software
Software that is integral to the operation of hardware, eg an operating system, is capitalised
as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral
to the operation of hardware, eg application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.
Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs
needed to create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating
in the manner intended by management.
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no
active market exists, intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement
cost and the value in use where the asset is income generating. Revaluation gains and losses
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and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment. An
intangible asset that is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use is valued at fair value
under IFRS 13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 or IFRS 5.
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair
value less costs to sell’.
Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner
consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.
Useful Economic Life of Intangible Assets
Useful economic lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset.
The range of useful economic lives are shown in the table below:

Intangible assets - internally generated
Information technology
Development expenditure
Other
Intangible assets - purchased
Software
Licences & trademarks
Patents
Other
Goodwill

Min life Years

Max life Years

2
2
2

5
5
5

2
2
2
2
2

8
5
5
5
10

1.7 Revenue Government and Other Grants
Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from
commissioners or NHS trusts for the provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund
revenue expenditure, it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match that
expenditure.
1.8 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories
is measured using the First In, First Out (FIFO) method.
1.9 Financial Instruments and Financial Liabilities
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of
non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with
the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the
extent that, performance occurs, ie when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is
made.
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De-Recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets
have expired or the trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or
expires.
Classification and Measurement
Financial assets are categorised as “fair value through income and expenditure”, loans and
receivables or “available-for-sale financial assets”.
Financial liabilities are classified as “fair value through income and expenditure” or as “other
financial liabilities”.
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at “Fair Value through Income and Expenditure”
Financial assets and financial liabilities at “fair value through income and expenditure” are
financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading. A financial asset or financial liability is
classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term.
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges.
The Trust has no financial assets and financial liabilities at “fair value through income and
expenditure”.
Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments which are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets.
The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables,
accrued income and “other receivables”.
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are
measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective
interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and
credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Available-for-Sale Financial Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets which are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included
in long-term assets unless the trust intends to dispose of them within 12 months of the
Statement of Financial Position date.
Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, including transaction
costs, and measured subsequently at fair value, with gains or losses recognised in reserves
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and reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of “other
comprehensive income”. When items classified as “available-for-sale” are sold or impaired,
the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised are transferred from reserves and
recognised in “finance costs” in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Other Financial Liabilities
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred, and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to
the net carrying amount of the financial liability.
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months
after the Statement of Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective
interest method and charged to finance costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to
finance property, plant and equipment or intangible assets is not capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets.
Determination of Fair Value
For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value, the carrying amounts are
determined from quoted market prices, independent appraisals and discounted cash flow
analysis.
Impairment of Financial Assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets,
other than those held at “fair value through income and expenditure”, are impaired.
Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The
loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of
the asset is reduced directly.
1.10 Leases
Finance Leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the
Trust, the asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is
recorded. The value at which both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset
or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. The implicit interest rate is that which produces a constant periodic
rate of interest on the outstanding liability.
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The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter, the
asset is accounted for as an item of property, plant and equipment.
The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to
achieve a constant rate of finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance cost is
calculated by applying the implicit interest rate to the outstanding liability and is charged to
Finance Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The lease liability is derecognised when the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.
Operating Leases
Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating
expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives
received are added to the lease rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of
the lease.
Leases of Land and Buildings
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building
component and the classification for each is assessed separately. Leased land is treated as
an operating lease.
1.11 Provisions
The Trust recognises a provision where it has a legal or constructive obligation of uncertain
timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or
other resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best estimate of the resources
required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant,
the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount rates published
and mandated by HM Treasury.
Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) - to be renamed NHS Resolution from April 2017 operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the
NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with
the Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of
the Trust is disclosed at Note 34.3 but is not recognised in the Trust’s accounts.
Non-Clinical Risk Pooling
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties
Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution
to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims
arising. The annual membership contributions and any ‘excesses’ payable in respect of
particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises. The Trust also
takes additional commercial insurance over and above the limits set by these pooled
schemes.
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1.12 Contingencies
Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be
confirmed by one or more future events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not
recognised as assets but are disclosed in Note 35 where an inflow of economic benefits is
probable.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed in Note 35, unless the probability
of a transfer of economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:
 Possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only
by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
entity’s control or
 Present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a
transfer of economic benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability
1.13 Public Dividend Capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of
assets over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS trust. HM
Treasury has determined PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable as public dividend
capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on
the average relevant net assets of the Trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets
are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated
assets (including lottery funded assets), (ii) average daily cash balances held with the
Government Banking Services (GBS) and National Loans Fund (NLF) deposits, excluding cash
balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working capital facility; and (iii)
any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable.
In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer
of PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average net relevant assets as
set out in the ‘pre-audit’ version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not
revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result of the audit of the annual
accounts. Average net assets are calculated as a simple mean of opening and closing
relevant net assets.
1.14 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax
does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged
to the relevant expenditure category (except external audit) or included in the capitalised
purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the
amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.15 Corporation Tax
Section 148 of the Finance Act 2004 amended S519A of the Income and Corporation Taxes
Act 1988, to provide power to the Treasury to make certain non-core activities of
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Foundation Trusts potentially subject to corporation tax. This legislation became effective in
the 2005/06 financial year. In determining whether or not an activity is likely to be taxable, a
three-stage test may be employed:
 The provision of goods and services for purposes related to the provision of
healthcare authorised under Section 14(1) of the Health and Social Care Act 2003
(HSCA) is not treated as a commercial activity and is, therefore, tax exempt
 Trading activities undertaken in house which are ancillary to core healthcare
activities are not entrepreneurial in nature and not subject to tax. A trading activity
that is capable of being in competition with the wider private sector will be subject to
tax
 Only significant trading activity is subject to tax. Significant is defined as annual
taxable profits of £50,000 per trading activity
The majority of the Trust's activities are related to core healthcare and are not subject to
tax.
1.16 Foreign Exchange
The functional and presentational currencies of the Trust are sterling.
A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional
currency at the spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction.
The Trust has had no transactions in foreign currency.
1.17 Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not
recognised in the accounts since the NHS foundation trust has no beneficial interest in
them. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the accounts in accordance with
the requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM. Refer to Note 28.1.
1.18 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when
it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items
that ideally should not arise. They are, therefore, subject to special control procedures
compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which
govern the way each individual case is handled. Losses and special payments are charged to
the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which
would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS Foundation Trusts not been
bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue
expenditure).
However, the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and
compensations register, which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions
for future losses.
Losses and Special Payments are disclosed in Note 41 in the accounts.
164

1.19 Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the
expectation of return, Gifts include all transactions economically equivalent to free and
unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life or lease of
assets below market value.
1.20 Transfers of Functions to/from other NHS bodies/Local Government Bodies
For functions that have been transferred to the Trust from another NHS or local government
body, the assets and liabilities transferred are recognised in the accounts as at the date of
transfer. The assets and liabilities are not adjusted to fair value prior to recognition. The net
gain/loss corresponding to the net assets/liabilities transferred is recognised within income
/expenses but not within operating activities.
For property plant and equipment assets and intangible assets, the cost and accumulated
depreciation/amortisation balances from the transferring entity’s accounts are preserved on
recognition in the Trust’s accounts. Where the transferring body recognised revaluation
reserve balances attributable to the assets, the Trust makes a transfer from its income and
expenditure reserve to its revaluation reserve to maintain transparency within public sector
accounts.
For functions that the Trust has transferred to another NHS or local government body, the
assets and liabilities transferred are de-recognised from the accounts as at the date of
transfer. The net loss/gain corresponding to the net assets/ liabilities transferred is
recognised within expenses/income but not within operating activities. Any revaluation
reserve balances attributable to assets de-recognised are transferred to the income and
expenditure reserve.
The Trust has made no transfers to or from other NHS or local government bodies.
1.21 Early Adoption of Standards, Amendments and Interpretations
No new accounting standards or revisions have been early adopted in 2016/17.
1.22 Standards, Amendments and Interpretations in Issue but not yet Effective or Adopted
The DH GAM does not require the following accounting standards and interpretations to be
applied in 2016/17. These standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with
IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 being for implementation in 2018/19, and the government
implementation date for IFRS 16 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Application for accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018 but not yet adopted by the FReM: there will, therefore, be no
impact on the 2017/18 accounting year
 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers – Application required for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 but not yet adopted by the
FReM: there will, therefore, be no impact on the 2017/18 accounting year
 IFRS 16 Leases - Application for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019 but not yet adopted by the FReM: there will, therefore, be no impact on the
2017/18 accounting year
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 IFRIC 22 Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration - Application for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018: there will, therefore, be no
impact on the 2017/18 accounting year
1.23 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make
judgements (as required by IAS 1 para 122) and estimates (as required by IAS 1 para 125)
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those
estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods.
The judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant effect on
the material amounts recognised in the financial statements in the current or next financial
year are detailed below:
 The Trust has provisions for irrecoverable debts which are assessed on an annual
basis using an estimate of probability of collection. Refer to Note 24.1
 The Trust considers the value of its non-current assets each year. Asset valuations are
provided by independent, qualified valuers. Valuations are subject to general price
changes in property values across the UK. Asset values might vary from their real
market value when assets are disposed of. Refer to Note 1.5
 Determination of useful lives for property, plant and equipment - estimated useful
lives for the Trust’s assets - are based on common, widely used assumptions for each
asset type except where specialist information is available from professional bodies.
The Trust reviews these lives on a regular basis as part of the process to assess
whether assets have been impaired. Refer to Note 1.5
 The Trust does not allow staff to carry over any unused leave, so no accrual for the
estimated cost of the annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at
the end of the financial year has been included
 Provisions for pension and legal liabilities are based on the information provided from
NHS Pension Agency, NHS Litigation Agency and the Trust's own sources. Pension
provision is based on the life expectancy of the individual pensioner, as stated in the
UK Actuarial Department most recent life tables, which change annually. All
provisions are estimates of the actual costs of future cash flows and are dependent
on future events. Any differences between expectations and the actual future liability
will be accounted for in the period when such determination is made. Refer to Note
34
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2 Operating Segments
The Trust has three segments as shown below. This is consistent with internal reporting
within the Trust to the chief operating decision maker, which is the Board of Directors.
2016/17

Income
Surplus/(deficit)
Net assets

2015/16

Income
Surplus/(deficit)
Net assets

Healthcare

Delegated
Commissioning

Total

£000

NHS
Commercial
Solutions
£000

£000
156,572
15,532
128,073

5,494
62
0

2,399
20
0

164,465
15,614
128,073

Healthcare

Delegated
Commissioning

Total

£000

£000

NHS
Commercial
Solutions
£000

142,317
(12,389)
97,005

5,996
825
0

2,514
40
0

150,827
(11,524)
97,005

£000

£000

3 Operating Income from Patient Care Activities
3.1 Income from Patient Care Activities (by Nature)
Mental health services
Cost and volume contract income
Block contract income
Clinical partnerships providing mandatory services (including
S75 agreements)
Other clinical income from mandatory services
All services
Other clinical income
Total income from activities

2016/17
£000
1,889
114,876

2015/16
£000
112,371

14,693
6,141

8,761
4,689

2,822
140,421

3,309
129,130

2016/17
£000
118,932
18,005
974
128
73
2,309
140,421

2015/16
£000
113,307
15,213
204
406
129,130

3.2 Income from Patient Care Activities (by Source)
Income from patient care activities received from:
CCGs and NHS England
Local authorities
Other NHS foundation trusts
NHS trusts
NHS other
Non NHS: other
Total income from activities
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3.3 Overseas Visitors (Relating to Patients Charged Directly by the NHS Foundation
Trust)
The Trust has not received income from overseas visitors (where the patient is
charged directly by the Trust) in excess of £100,000 during 2016/17.
4 Other Operating Income
Research and development
Education and training
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Sustainability and Transformation Fund income
Income in respect of staff costs where accounted on gross basis
Other income
Total other operating income

2016/17
£000
1,422
4,447
595
5,217
6,947
5,416
24,044

2015/16
£000
577
10,421
9,691
20,689

Income of £6,824,918 was received for trainee psychologists, accounted for on a gross
basis. In 2015/16 income of £6730,196 for trainee psychologists was included in
education and training.
Sustainability and Transformation Fund income was not available prior to 2016/17.
4.1 Income from Activities Arising from Commissioner Requested Services
Under the terms of its provider license, the Trust is required to analyse the level of income
from activities that has arisen from commissioner requested and non-commissioner
requested services. Commissioner requested services are defined in the provider license and
are services that commissioners believe would need to be protected in the event of provider
failure. This information is provided in the table below:

Income from services designated (or grandfathered) as
commissioner requested services
Income from services not designated as commissioner
requested services
Total

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

149,151

141,543

15,314
164,465

9,284
150,827

4.2 Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment Relating to Commissioner
Requested Services
In 2016/17 we completed the second and final phase of the sale of the Ridgewood
Centre in Chertsey, which was commissioner requested/location specific. This
required the move of the following teams to the new Theta Building, in Frimley: the
Community Mental Health team North West; the Child and Adolescents Mental Health
team; and a Community Mental Health team in the Older People's service.
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5 Operating Expenses
Services from NHS foundation trusts
Services from NHS trusts
Services from CCGs and NHS England
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies
Employee expenses - executive directors
Remuneration of non-executive directors
Employee expenses - staff
Supplies and services - clinical
Supplies and services - general
Establishment
Research and development
Transport
Premises
Increase/(decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions
Change in provisions discount rate(s)
Drug costs
Rentals under operating leases
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation on intangible assets
Net impairments
Audit fees payable to the external auditor
audit services- statutory audit
other auditor remuneration (external auditor only)
Clinical negligence
Legal fees
Consultancy costs
Internal audit costs
Training, courses and conferences
Patient travel
Redundancy
Hospitality
Insurance
Losses, ex gratia & special payments
Other
Total

2016/17
£000
739
651
6,901
2,005
71
106,611
2,245
2,569
2,126
346
2,152
10,303
263
1,443
276
2,656
3,651
4,895
687
(6,888)

2015/16
£000
4,039
190
421
79
687
1,535
72
108,499
533
6,032
1,817
2,060
6,329
(66)
52
3,084
3,123
3,964
179
12,694

86
14
1,029
419
1,212
152
1,132
64
367
17
96
66
325
148,681

63
14
856
301
690
179
958
55
148
27
79
11
158,704

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

53

53

19
72

53

5.1 External Auditor Remuneration
Audit Services - Statutory Audit:
Audit of the financial statements
Fees incurred in relation to audit of the prior year financial
statements
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Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor:
Audit-related assurance services
Total

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

11
11

11
11

1. Amounts shown in Note 5.1 are exclusive of VAT
2. Audit-related assurance services consist of assurance on the Quality Report (£11k)

5.2 Limitation on Auditor's Liability
The limitation on auditors' liability for external audit work is £1m (2015/16: £1m).
6 Impairment of Assets
Net impairments charged to operating surplus/deficit resulting
from:
Unforeseen obsolescence
Loss as a result of catastrophe
Changes in market price
Other
Total net impairments charged to operating surplus/deficit
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve
Total net impairments

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

(7,314)
426
(6,888)
(391)
(7,279)

201
8,148
4,345
12,694
2,333
15,027

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment in
periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be
recoverable. In accordance with the DH GAM, impairments that arise from a clear
consumption of economic benefits or of service potential in the asset are charged to
operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the
income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment
charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve
attributable to that asset before the impairment.
An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service
potential is reversed when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the
loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating expenditure to the extent that the
asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never
been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve.
Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation
reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the
revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised. Other impairments are
treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation
gains.
Reversals are recognised in operating expenditure to the extent that the asset is restored
to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never been recognised.
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The Trust has written down and charged £0.426m to operating expenses, being the net
book value of its assets at the Langley Wing at Epsom. Two wards that had been based at
the Langley Wing were moved in year to the Abraham Cowley Unit in Chertsey.
There was an upward market valuation of the Farnham Road Hospital property, that
partially reversed the impairment accounted for in 2015/16.
7 Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer's contributions to NHS pensions
Pension cost - other
Temporary staff (including agency)
Total gross staff costs
Recoveries in respect of seconded staff
Total staff costs
Of which
Costs capitalised as part of assets

2016/17
Total
£000
82,284
7,978
10,193
10,737
111,192
111,192

2015/16
Total
£000
82,755
6,233
10,562
181
13,672
113,403
113,403

2,576

3,369

7.1 Retirements Due to Ill-Health
During 2016/17 there were 3 early retirements from the trust agreed on the grounds
of ill-health (none in the year ended 31 March 2016). The estimated additional
pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements is £397k (£0k in 2015/16).
The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services
Authority - Pensions Division.
8 Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension
Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the
NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined
benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed
under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not
designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme:
the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the
contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do
not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a
formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal
valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An
outline of these follows:
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a) Accounting Valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently
the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This
utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period, in conjunction with
updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is
accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes.
The valuation of scheme liability as at 31 March 2017, is based on valuation data as 31
March 2016, updated to 31 March 2017 with summary global member and accounting
data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19,
relevant FReM interpretations and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have
also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary
report, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales)
Pension Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are
published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full Actuarial (Funding) Valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits
due under the schemes (taking into account their recent demographic experience) and
to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was
completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. The Scheme Regulations allow for the
level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the
consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and
appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the
employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the
Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service
Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the
Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’
assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be
determined by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant
stakeholders.
9 Operating Leases
9.1 Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust as a Lessor
This Note discloses income generated in operating lease agreements where Surrey and
Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is the lessor.
The Trust has no future lease receipts due under operating lease agreements where
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is the lessor.
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9.2 Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust as a Lessee
This Note discloses costs and commitments incurred in operating lease arrangements
where Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust FT is the lessee.

Operating lease expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

Future minimum lease payments due
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
Total
Future minimum sublease payments to be received

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

3,651
3,651

3,123
3,123

31 March
2017
£000

31 March
2016
£000

1,921
7,020
12,625
21,566
-

2,548
3,852
10,470
16,870
-

Of the total operating lease payments, £3,038,177 (2015/16: £2,502,000) relates to leases
on property.
Equipment leases are for 3 years from date of agreement. Vehicle leases are for between 3
and 5 years from date of agreement.
Property leases are for between 1 and 26 years and all expire by 2039.
10 Finance Income
Finance income represents interest received on assets and investments in the period.
2016/17
£000
18
18

Interest on bank accounts
Total

2015/16
£000
53
53

11 Finance Expenditure
Finance expenditure represents interest and other charges involved in the borrowing
of money.

Interest expense:
Other
Total interest expense
Other finance costs
Total

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

152
152
152

134
134
134

This item of expense is the unwinding of discount on the Trust's provisions.
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11.1 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
The Trust had no interest or costs payable under this legislation.
12 Gains/Losses on Disposal/De-Recognition of Non-Current Assets
2016/17
£000
1,986
1,337
3,323

Profit on disposal of non-current assets
Profit on disposal of assets held for sale
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Net profit/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

2015/16
£000
1,008
1,008

Non-current asset disposals relate to the sale of the ‘corner plot’ at Farnham Road Hospital
in November 2016 (a vacant plot of land held for sale with a net book value of £0.360m and
sales proceeds after costs of £1.700m) and, in February 2017, completion of the second and
final phase of the sale of the Ridgewood Centre in Chertsey (which had a net book value of
£2.710m and sales proceeds after costs of £4.403m). The Trust also benefited in year from
an overage payment in respect of Ethel Bailey Close, a site we sold in March 2015.
13 Corporation Tax
The Trust pays no corporation tax.
14 Discontinued Operations
The Trust had no discontinued operations in 2016/17.
15.1 Intangible Assets - 2016/17
Software
licences

Internally
Intangible
generated
assets
information
under
technology construction
£000
£000
£000

Total

£000

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2016 - brought
forward
Additions
Reclassifications
Revaluations
Gross cost at 31 March 2017

65
65

5,394
1,532
6,926

-

5,459
1,532
6,991

Amortisation at 1 April 2016 - brought
forward
Provided during the year
Impairments
Revaluations
Amortisation at 31 March 2017

59
6
65

820
681
1,501

-

879
687
1,566

6

5,425
4,574

-

5,425
4,580

Net book value at 31 March 2017
Net book value at 1 April 2016
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15.2 Intangible Assets - 2015/16
Software
licences

Internally
Intangible
generated
assets
information
under
technology construction
£000
£000
£000

Total

£000

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2015 - brought
forward
Additions
Reclassifications
Revaluations
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2016

65
65

1,707
3,931
25
(269)
5,394

25
(25)
-

1,797
3,931
(269)
5,459

Amortisation at 1 April 2015 - brought
forward
Provided during the year
Impairments
Revaluations
Amortisation at 31 March 2016

51
8
59

717
171
201
(269)
820

-

768
179
201
(269)
879

Net book value at 31 March 2016
Net book value at 1 April 2015

6
14

4,574
990

25

4,580
1,029

175

16.1 Property, Plant and Equipment - 2016/17
Land

£000

Buildings Dwellings
Assets
excluding
under
dwellings
construction
£000
£000
£000

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture
& fittings

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2016 - brought
forward
Valuation/gross cost at start of period as FT
Transfers by absorption
Additions
Impairments
Reversals of impairments
Reclassifications
Revaluations
Transfers to/from assets held for sale
Disposals/de-recognition
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2017

29,975
(1,559)
159
12,522
(457)
40,640

76,556
8,531
(208)
1,985
(475)
(76)
(2,989)
83,324

223
14
(14)
223

15
281
296

204
143
347

27
27

3,883
617
4,500

1,963
167
2,130

112,846
9,739
(1,767)
2,158
12,033
(533)
(2,989)
131,487

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2016 brought forward
Depreciation at start of period as FT
Transfers by absorption
Provided during the year
Impairments
Reversals of impairments
Reclassifications
Revaluations
Transfers to/from assets held for sale
Disposals/de-recognition
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2017

246
(1,566)
1,320
-

11,494
3,842
2,685
(8,241)
(4,379)
(29)
(279)
5,093

15
11
(12)
(14)
-

-

8
25
33

22
2
24

1,583
804
2,387

234
211
445

13,356
4,895
2,931
(9,819)
(3,073)
(29)
(279)
7,982

Net book value at 31 March 2017
Net book value at 1 April 2016

40,640
29,975

78,231
65,062

223
208

296
15

314
196

3
5

2,113
2,300

1,685
1,729

123,505
99,490
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16.2 Property, Plant and Equipment - 2015/16
Land

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2015 - brought
forward
Additions
Impairments
Reversals of impairments
Reclassifications
Revaluations
Transfers to/from assets held for sale
Disposals/de-recognition
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2016
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2015 brought forward
Provided during the year
Impairments
Reversals of impairments
Reclassifications
Revaluations
Transfers to/from assets held for sale
Disposals/de-recognition
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2016
Net book value at 31 March 2016
Net book value at 1 April 2015

Dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Transport
equipment

Information
technology

Furniture
& fittings

Total

£000

Buildings
excluding
dwellings
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

31,141
488
(145)
(785)
(360)
(364)
29,975

59,850
7,623
(2,069)
26,789
(15,551)
(86)
76,556

510
13
(119)
(13)
(168)
223

21,513
6,320
(27,818)
15

204
204

27
27

3,187
696
3,883

921
1,042
1,963

117,149
15,344
(2,333)
(16,504)
(360)
(450)
112,846

785
(785)
-

12,280
3,113
11,659
(15,551)
(7)
11,494

94
40
49
(168)
15

-

8
8

20
2
22

885
698
1,583

131
103
234

13,410
3,964
12,493
(16,504)
(7)
13,356

29,975
31,141

65,062
47,570

208
416

15
21,513

196
-

5
7

2,300
2,302

1,729
790

99,490
103,739
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16.3 Property, Plant and Equipment Financing - 2016/17
Land

Net book value at 31 March 2017
Owned
NBV total at 31 March 2017

£000

Buildings
excluding
dwellings
£000

40,640
40,640

78,231
78,231

Dwellings Assets under
Plant & Transport Information
construction machinery equipment technology

Furniture
& fittings

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

223
223

296
296

314
314

3
3

2,113
2,113

1,685
1,685

123,505
123,505

Dwellings Assets under
Plant & Transport Information
construction machinery equipment technology

Furniture
& fittings

Total

16.4 Property, Plant and Equipment Financing - 2015/16

Net book value at 31 March 2016
Owned
NBV total at 31 March 2016

Land

Buildings
excluding
dwellings

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

29,975
29,975

65,062
65,062

208
208

15
15

196
196

5
5

2,300
2,300

1,729
1,729

99,490
99,490
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17 Donations of Property, Plant and Equipment
The Trust had no donated assets at 31 March 2017.
18 Revaluations of Property, Plant and Equipment
A property revaluation was carried out in March 2017 by GVA Grimley, professionally
qualified valuers, in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS)
Appraisal and Valuation Manual, to advise the Trust of the fair values, based on market
comparables and depreciated replacement costs (as appropriate) for accounts purposes.
This revaluation was prepared in accordance with the RICS Valuation – Professional
Standards UK January 2014 (revised April 2015), IFRS and FReM guidelines.
The Fair Values (FV) outlined have been carried out in accordance with the definition set
out in RICS Global Valuation Practice Statement (VPS) 4 as adopted by IFRS 13. Depreciated
Replacement Cost is recognised under IAS 16 as a method of valuation for reporting
purposes. DRC assessments were undertaken for those properties considered to be
Specialised Properties. A Specialised Property is a property that is rarely, if ever, sold in the
market, except by way of a sale of the business or entity of which it is part, due to
uniqueness arising from its specialised nature and design, its configuration, size, location,
or otherwise.
The Market Value (MV) for each property has been considered on the basis of the
definition set out in Paragraph 12 of VPS4 of the RICS Valuation Standards.
Fair Values are subject to adequate service potential, which is defined as: “The capacity of
an asset to continue goods and services in accordance with the entity’s objectives”. It has
been assumed that the current use/services would still be provided by the NHS in the
locality of the individual properties.
19.1 Investment Property
The Trust held no investment property in 2016/17.
19.2 Investment Property Income and Expenses
The Trust held no investment property during 2016/17.
20 Investments in Associates (and Joint Ventures)
The Trust had no financial interests in any joint venture in 2016/17. However, it
entered into a Limited Liability partnership (LLP), which was incorporated on 19
December 2016 (partnership number OC415159), on a 50/50 basis with its partner
Central Surrey Health CIC. The LLP was set up in order to bid for and deliver the now
titled Children and Family Health Surrey contract. This contract was won and took
effect from 01 April 2017, such that there is no impact on the 2016/17 accounts.
The Trust has no other active subsidiaries, associates or joint operations.
21 Other Investments
The Trust has no other investments.
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22 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
The Trust has an interest in its unconsolidated Charitable Fund for which the Trust is
the corporate trustee. The Trust has previously assessed its relationship to the
charitable fund and determined it to be a subsidiary because of the Trust’s exposure or
rights to variable returns and other benefits for itself, its staff or the people who use its
services, from its involvement with the charitable fund, and its ability to affect those
returns and other benefits through its power over the fund. It has, therefore, previously
consolidated the charitable fund’s statutory accounts into a Group position with the
Trust. However, the Trust has considered the definition in IAS 1, which requires
materiality to be judged ‘in the surrounding circumstances’, and has determined that,
from the viewpoint of both the Trust and the charitable fund, consolidation no longer
aids the users of the accounts. Refer to Note 47 Related Parties.
23 Inventories
31 March 2017
£000
98
1
99

Drugs
Other
Total inventories

31 March 2016
£000
79
8
87

Inventories recognised in expenses for the year were £7k (2015/16: £0k). Write-down
of inventories recognised as expenses for the year were £0k (2015/16: £0k).
24 Trade Receivables and Other Receivables

Current
Trade receivables due from NHS bodies
Receivables due from NHS charities
Other receivables due from related parties
Provision for impaired receivables
Prepayments (non-PFI)
Accrued income
PDC dividend receivable
VAT receivable
Other receivables
Total current trade and other receivables

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

6,011
12
1,973
(1,787)
939
8,522
82
751
307
16,810

3,226
37
6,266
(1,593)
2,670
2,416
561
189
13,772

The Trust has no non current trade and other receivables.
24.1 Provision for Impairment of Receivables
2016/17
£000
1,593
1,660
(69)
(1,397)
1,787

At 1 April
Increase in provision
Amounts utilised
Unused amounts reversed
At 31 March
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2015/16
£000
1,659
(66)
1,593

These are provisions for bad debts assessed on an annual basis using an estimate of the
probability of collection.
24.2 Analysis of Financial Assets
31 March 2017
Trade and other
receivables
£000
142
44
100
269
1,232
1,787

Ageing of impaired financial assets
0 - 30 days
30 - 60 Days
60 - 90 days
90 - 180 days
Over 180 days
Total

Ageing of non-impaired financial assets past their due date
0 - 30 days
30 - 60 Days
60 - 90 days
90 - 180 days
Over 180 days
Total

31 March 2016
Trade and other
receivables
£000
286
1,307
1,593

2,244
293
301
715
702
4,255

4,975
589
446
2,570
795
9,375

25 Other Assets
The Trust has no other assets.
26 Other Financial Assets
The Trust has no other financial assets.
27 Non-Current Assets for Sale and Assets in Disposal Groups
2016/17
Total

2015/16
Total

£000

£000

£000

360

360

1,054

504
(360)

504
(360)

360
(1,054)

504

504

360

Property,
plant &
equipment

NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in
disposal groups at 1 April
Plus assets classified as available for sale in the
year
Less assets sold in year
NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in
disposal groups at 31 March

The properties held for sale at the end of 2016/17 are the Old Moat Gardens property
and the Meadows at Knaphill. These properties are both expected to be disposed of
early in 2017/18. Both are surplus to requirements.
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27.1 Liabilities in Disposal Groups
The Trust has no liabilities in disposal groups.
28 Cash and Cash Equivalents Movements
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, in hand and cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents are readily convertible investments of known value that are subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value.

At 1 April
Net change in year
At 31 March
Broken down into:
Cash at commercial banks and in hand
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP
Bank overdrafts (GBS and commercial banks)
Drawdown in committed facility
Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF

2016/17
£000
13,194
(138)
13,056

2015/16
£000
28,425
(15,231)
13,194

515
12,541
13,056
13,056

1,270
11,924
13,194
13,194

28.1 Third Party Assets Held by the NHS Foundation Trust
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust held cash and cash equivalents
that relate to monies held by the Trust on behalf of patients or other parties. This has
been excluded from the cash and cash equivalents figure reported in the accounts.

Bank balances
Monies on deposit
Total third party assets

31 March 2017
£000
335
751
1,086

31 March 2016
£000
343
997
1,340

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

2,396
3,107
591
1,141
907
1,581
8,289
18,012

3,877
163
3,144
1,217
967
865
7,051
4,128
319
21,731

29 Trade and Other Payables

Current
NHS trade payables
Amounts due to other related parties
Other trade payables
Capital payables
Social security costs
VAT payable
Other taxes payable
Other payables
Accruals
PDC dividend payable
Total current trade and other payables
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Standard trading terms are 30 days from date of invoice, with the exception of tax and social security, which
are paid within 18 days of the month end. The Trust did not have any non-current trade and other payables.

30 Other Financial Liabilities
The Trust has no other financial liabilities.

31 Other Liabilities
31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

306
306

188
188

Current
Deferred goods and services income
Total other current liabilities

The Trust has no non-current liabilities.
32 Borrowings
The Trust has no current or non-current borrowings.
33 Finance Leases
33.1 Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust as a Lessor
The Trust has no future lease receipts due under finance lease agreements where Surrey
and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is the lessor.
33.2 Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust as a Lessee
The Trust has no obligations under finance lease agreements where Surrey and Borders
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is the lessee.
34 Provisions for Liabilities and Charges Analysis

At 1 April 2016
Change in the discount rate
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
At 31 March 2017
Expected timing of cash flows:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than
five years
Later than five years
Total

Pensions early
departure
costs
£000
10,625
276
180
(772)
152
10,461

Other Redundancy Other
legal
claims

Total

£000
161
596
(40)
(108)
609

£000
353
261
(57)
(296)
261

772

609

261

1,677

3,319

3,088
6,601
10,461

609

261

1,677

3,088
6,601
13,008
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£000
£000
1,420 12,559
276
970
2,007
(869)
(713) (1,117)
152
1,677 13,008

Early departure costs include the Trust's historic pension liability to former staff in
respect of early retirement and also provision for injury benefits. These liabilities
cease on the demise of the beneficiary.
Other Legal Claims are in respect of the Trust's share of outstanding legal claims
being brought against the Trust and likely to be settled within a year. Of this, a total
of £550k relates to a potential HSE fine.
Other provisions consists of provisions for dilapidations.
The following material provisions were released during 2016/17:
£000
136
78
133
347

NHSLA Non clinical negligence
Dilapidations
Loddon redundancy

The following provisions arose during 2016/17:
£000
550
46
261
969
1,826

HSE estimated fine
NHSLA non clinical negligence
Redundancy costs
Dilapidations

In 2016/17 the discount rate recommended by HM Treasury was changed from 1.37%
to 0.24%.
34.1 Provisions - Current
31 March 2017
£000
772
609
261
1,677
3,319

Pensions - other staff
Other legal claims
Redundancy
Other
Total

31 March 2016
£000
582
9
353
1,420
2,364

34.2 Provisions - Non Current
31 March 2017
£000
9,689
9,689

Pensions - other staff
Other legal claims
Total

31 March 2016
£000
10,043
152
10,195

Pensions - other staff relates to the Trust's historic early retirement provision.
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34.3 Clinical Negligence Liabilities
At 31 March 2017, £1,028k was included in provisions of the NHSLA in respect of
clinical negligence liabilities of Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
(31 March 2016: £853k).
35 Contingent Assets and Liabilities
The Trust had no contingent assets or liabilities for the year.
36 Contractual Capital Commitments
31 March 2017
£000
77
21
98

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total

31 March 2016
£000
936
824
1,760

The Trust's contractual capital commitments were significantly lower at the end of
2016/17 than 2015/16, due to the phasing of its community hub developments.
37 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme.
The Trust does not operate a defined benefit pension scheme.
38 On-SoFP PFI, LIFT or other Service Concession Arrangements
38.1 Imputed Finance Lease Obligations
The Trust has no imputed finance lease obligations in respect of PFI and LIFT or other
service concessions.
38.2 Total on-SoFP PFI, LIFT and other Service Concession Arrangement Commitments
The Trust had no obligations in respect of the finance lease element of on-Statement
of Financial Position PFI and LIFT schemes.
38.3 Analysis of Amounts Payable to Service Concession Operator
The Trust has made no payments to service concession operators.
39 Off-SoFP PFI, LIFT and other Service Concession Arrangements
Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust incurred no charges in respect of
off-Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT obligations.
40 Financial Instruments
40.1 Financial Risk Management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial
instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in
undertaking its activities. Because of the continuing service provider relationship that the
Trust has with commissioners and the way those commissioners are financed, the Trust is
not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial
instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be
typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply.
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The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and
liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to
change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.
The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance
department, within parameters defined formally within the Trust’s standing
financial instructions and policies agreed by the Board of Directors. Trust treasury
activity is subject to review by the Trust’s internal auditors.
Currency Risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of
transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The Trust has
no overseas operations. The Trust, therefore, has low exposure to currency rate
fluctuations.
Interest Rate Risk
The Trust has no external borrowing and so is not exposed to any significant interest rate
risk. However, the Trust could borrow from government for capital expenditure, subject
to affordability, as confirmed by NHS Improvement.
Credit Risk
Because the majority of the Trust’s income comes from contracts with other public sector
bodies, the trust has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 March
2016 are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables
Note 24.
Liquidity Risk
The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with commissioners, which are
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its capital
expenditure from funds obtained from government. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed
to significant liquidity risks, and tracks its cashflow daily.
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40.2 Financial Assets

Assets as per SoFP as at 31 March 2017
Trade and other receivables excluding
non financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents at bank and
in hand
Total at 31 March 2017

Assets as per SoFP as at 31 March 2016
Trade and other receivables excluding
non financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents at bank and
in hand
Total at 31 March 2016

Loans and
receivables

Assets at
fair value
through
the I&E

Held to
maturity

Availablefor-sale

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

16,267

-

-

-

16,267

13,056
29,323

-

-

-

13,056
29,323

Loans and
receivables

Held to
maturity

Availablefor-sale

Total

£000

Assets at
fair value
through
the I&E
£000

£000

£000

£000

9,375

-

-

-

9,375

13,194
22,569

-

-

-

13,194
22,569

40.3 Financial Liabilities
Other
financial
liabilities

Liabilities as per SoFP as at 31 March 2017
Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities
Provisions under contract
Total at 31 March 2017

Liabilities as per SoFP as at 31 March 2016
Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities
Provisions under contract
Total at 31 March 2016
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Total

£000

Liabilities
at fair
value
through
the I&E
£000

17,415
2,547
19,962

-

17,415
2,547
19,962

Other
financial
liabilities

Total

£000

Liabilities
at fair
value
through
the I&E
£000

21,791
12,559
34,350

-

21,791
12,559
34,350

£000

£000

40.4 Maturity of Financial Liabilities
31 March
2017
£000
19,962
19,962

In one year or less
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years
Total

31 March
2016
£000
24,155
10,195
34,350

41 Losses and Special Payments
2016/17
Total
Total
number value of
of cases
cases
Number
£000
Losses
Cash losses
Fruitless payments
Bad debts and claims abandoned
Stores losses and damage to property
Total losses
Special payments
Extra-contractual payments
Extra-statutory and extra-regulatory
payments
Compensation payments
Special severance payments
Ex-gratia payments
Total special payments
Total losses and special payments

2015/16
Total
Total
number value of
of cases
cases
Number
£000

2
2

0
0

2
2

1
1

-

-

-

-

14
14
16

75
75
75

2
9
11
13

36
2
38
39

42 Gifts
There were no gifts recorded.
43 Transfers by Absorption
There have been no transfers by absorption in the year where the trust has been
either the receiving or divesting party.
44 Prior Period Adjustments
There have been no prior period adjustments.
45 Events after the Reporting Date
There have been no non-adjusting events after the reporting period.
46 Related Parties
This related parties note has been prepared in accordance with IAS 24 and paragraphs
7.28 - 7.32 of the GAM.
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During the year 2016/17, with the exception of the four instances listed below, there
have been no material transactions or outstanding balances, including commitments,
with any other parties related to Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
1. A payment of £2,592 (2015/16: £0) made to the Centre for Mental Health, for which
the new Trust Chairman, Ian McPherson, is a Trustee.
2. A payment of £191 (2015/16: £1,543) was made to the Cruse Bereavement Care. The
Trust's Chief Executive, Fiona Edwards, is also chairperson of Cruse.
3. Payments of £564,000 (2015/16 £687,000) and income of £15,760,000 (2015/16:
£10,080,000) have been made to Surrey County Council, a party related to the former CoMedical Director, Rachel Hennessy, who was a voting member of the Trust Board until
03/12/2016. In addition, the accounts include a debtor of £1,525,000 and a creditor of
£53,000 relating to Surrey County Council.
4. Payments of £1,562,000 (2015/16: £1,968,000) have been made and income of
£123,000 (2015/16: £158,000) have been received from Sussex Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust (SPFT), a party related to the Chief Pharmacist, who is a key
management staff member but not a voting member of the Trust Board. In addition, the
accounts include a debtor of £573,000 and a creditor of £538,000 relating to SPFT.

Chairman, Ian McPherson, Centre
for Mental Health
Chief Executive, Fiona Edwards,
Cruse Bereavement Care
Former Co-Medical Director, Rachel
Hennessy, Surrey CC
Chief Pharmacist, Sussex Partnership
NHS FT

Payments to
related party

Receipts from
related party
£

Amounts
owed to
related party
£

Amounts
due from
related party
£

£
2,592

-

-

-

191

-

-

-

564,000

15,760,000

53,000

1,525,000

1,562,000

122,000

16,000

51,000

The Department of Health is regarded as the Trust's parent department but the Trust is
an independent body not controlled by the Secretary of State. It is, therefore, considered
that Government departments and agencies are not related parties. However, the main
entities within the public sector that the Trust has had dealings with are listed below:








NHS England
NHS Barnet CCG
NHS Croydon CCG
NHS East Surrey CCG
NHS Guildford and Waverley CCG
NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG
NHS North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG
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NHS North West Surrey CCG
NHS Pension Scheme
NHS Professionals
NHS Property Services
NHS Surrey Downs CCG
NHS Surrey Heath CCG
Ashford and St Peter's Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Surrey County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Frimley Park Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Surrey County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Epsom and St Helier University Hospitals NHS Trust
Health Education England
NHS Business Services Authority
NHS Litigation Authority
Croydon London Borough Council
Surrey County Council

None of the Trust Board members or members of the key management staff received any
form of short-term employee benefits; post-employment benefits; other long term
benefits; termination benefits or share-based payments.
The compensation paid to senior management, including their expense allowances and
similar items paid in the ordinary course of operations, is disclosed within the
Remuneration Report.
The Trust is the corporate trustee to Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust General Purposes Charity and Related Charities (Charity number 1126477). The
Charitable Fund, considered to be a subsidiary, has not been consolidated, on the basis of
materiality, as described in Accounting Policies Note 1.1. During the period, the funds
produced a deficit of £46,000 (2015/16: deficit of £95,000) and the value of the funds as
at 31 March 2017 was £809,000 (2015/16: £855,000).
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